
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Pension Fund Committee 
Date: Wednesday, 8 September 2021 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: MS Teams with Outside Broadcasting 

Membership: (Quorum 3)  

Andy Canning (Chairman), Peter Wharf (Vice-Chairman), John Beesley, David Brown, 

Bobbie Dove, Ray Bryan, Howard Legg, Mark Roberts and Adrian Felgate 
 

 

 
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road,  

Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE) 
 

For more information about this agenda please telephone Democratic Services on 
01305 221000 or David Northover  d.r.northover@dorsetcc.gov.uk 

 

 
For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free public app 
Modern.Gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once downloaded 
select Dorset Council. 

 
 

Members of the public are welcome to view the proceedings of this meeting, with the 
exception of any items listed in the exempt part of this agenda. MS Teams with Outside 

Broadcasting (please see link below) 
 

Link for the meeting:- 

https://youtu.be/DqOdMCa2O3s 
 

Members of the public are invited to make written representations provided that they are 
submitted to the Democratic Services Officer no later than 8.30am on Monday 6 

September 2021. This must include your name, together with a summary of your 

comments and contain no more than 450 words.  

 
If a Councillor who is not on the Pension Fund Committee wishes to address the 
Committee, they will be allowed 3 minutes to do so and will be invited to speak  
provided that they have notified the Democratic Services Officer by 8.30am on Monday 6 
September 2021. 

 
Please note that if you submit a representation to be read out on your behalf at the 

committee meeting, your name, together with a summary of your comments will be 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/DqOdMCa2O3s


recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 
 
Using social media at virtual meetings 

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible. Anyone can use social media such as tweeting and blogging 

to report the meeting when it is open to the public. 
 
------ 

 
Please Note: In the light of the increasing Covid-19 case rates and the projected 

increases through August and into September, in consultation with group leaders, the 
Chief Executive has exercised his emergency powers to revert to informal virtual 
meetings.  
 
Where a decision is required, committee members will express a ‘minded to’ 

decision in respect of recommendations set out in officer reports, with decisions 
being made under officer delegated authority in the light of ‘minded to’ decisions  
expressed by members in the virtual meetings. 

 
Accordingly, this meeting has those arrangements in place. 

 
------- 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
  



 

A G E N D A 
 

  Page No. 

 

1   APOLOGIES 

 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 
 

 

2   MINUTES 
 

7 - 24 

 To receive and note the minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2021. 

 
 

 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

 

 To disclose any pecuniary, other registrable or non-registrable 
interests as set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their 

decision councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of 
the interest and any action they propose to take as part of their 
declaration.  

If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 
in advance of the meeting.  

 
 

 

4   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

 

 To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 

from town and parish councils and members of the public.  
 
 

 

5   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS 
 

 

 To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 

from Dorset Council elected members.   
 
 

 

6   URGENT ITEMS 

 

 

 To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 

of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes. 

 
 

 



7   PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION 

 
25 - 100 

 To consider the quarterly report on pension fund administration. 

 
 

 

8   INDEPENDENT ADVISER'S REPORT 
 

101 - 106 

 To consider the quarterly report of the pension fund’s independent 

investment adviser on the outlook for the pension fund’s investments. 
 
 

 

9   FUND ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 
 

107 - 202 

 To consider the quarterly report of the Fund Administrator including an 
update on the funding position, the value and performance of 

investments and other topical issues. 
 
 

 

10   EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S REPORT 2019/20 
 

203 - 252 

 To consider the report of the external auditor for 2019/20 
 

 

11   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
 

 

 To confirm the dates for the meetings of the Committee in 2021: 

  

 10am Tuesday 30 November 2021 – County Hall (tbc) 
 

 
 

 

12   EXEMPT BUSINESS 

 

 

 To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following 
item in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph 3 of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 

1972 (as amended).  

The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the 
item of business is considered. 

 

 

13   PROPERTY INVESTMENT REPORT 

 
253 - 256 

 To consider a report from CBRE, the pension fund’s property 
investment manager. 

 



 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY 15 JUNE 2021 

 
Present: Cllrs Andy Canning (Chairman), Peter Wharf (Vice-Chairman), 

John Beesley, David Brown, Bobbie Dove, Howard Legg, Mark Roberts, 
Adrian Felgate and Simon Christopher 

 
Apologies: -   

 
Also present (for all or part of the meeting): Catherine Dix and David Vickers, 

Brunel Pension Partnership, and Alan Saunders, Independent Investment Adviser.  

 
Officers present (for all or part of the meeting): Aidan Dunn (Executive Director 

– Corporate Development), Jim McManus (Corporate Director - Finance and 

Commercial), David Wilkes (Service Manager - Treasury and Investments) and 
Stephanie Ball (Pensions Systems Manager).  

 
https://www.youtube.com/embed/_HGNGldqdZA   

 
96.   Apologies 

 

No apologies for absence were received at the meeting. 
 

97.   Minutes 

 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 March 2021 were confirmed by 
the Chairman. 

 

98.   Declarations of Interest 

 

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting. 
 

99.   Public Participation 

 
The public questions together with the responses from the Chairman of the 

Committee are set out in the Appendix to the minutes. 
 

The following statement was read by the Chairman:  

 
“We have received a large number of questions from members of the public 

regarding the pension fund’s approach to investments in fossil fuels and we 
welcome the interest in this important topic.  Written responses to each of the 
questions will be published alongside the minutes of this meeting but I would 

like to make this statement today. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



2 

This topic was discussed at length at our meeting in September 2020.  The 
reports, minutes and a recording of those discussions are all available on the 
Council’s website.   

 
I would like to remind everyone that the purpose of the pension fund is to pay 

benefits to scheme members and that the Committee has a duty to scheme 
members and their employers to ensure that their contributions to the fund are 
invested appropriately to make returns sufficient to meet those obligations. 

This duty overrides any other considerations. 
 

The approach agreed by the Committee in September 2020 was not to divest 
completely from companies involved in the sourcing and refining of fossil 
fuels, instead we will seek to reduce investment in all high carbon emitting 

companies and to influence the demand for fossil fuels and their financing, not 
just their supply.  

 
The decision was based upon evidence presented to the Committee by 
independent investment consultants, Mercer, that a strategy of 

decarbonisation can deliver significantly greater reductions in the ‘carbon 
footprint’ of investments than can be achieved by divestment. Divestment is 

effectively a transfer of ownership that does not directly lead to a reduction in 
either the supply or demand for fossil fuels but it does remove the opportunity 
to influence companies by working with them to transition to a lower carbon 

future.  I would like to add, however, that targeted divestment remains an 
option from individual companies who will not positively engage. 

 
Significant decarbonisation has been and will continue to be achieved through 
the transition of assets to the management of Brunel Pension Partnership, the 

pension fund’s LGPS investment pooling manager.  10% of the pension fund’s 
assets are now invested in Brunel’s global sustainable equities fund, which is 

20% of our total equities and is the fund’s largest single investment.  All other 
actively managed Brunel funds are committed to a policy of a 7% year on year 
reduction in their carbon footprint.  

 
Brunel’s quarterly reports considered by the Committee and publicly available 

include summaries of the carbon intensity and extractive exposure of all the 
funds we are invested in compared to industry benchmarks.  Brunel are 
widely recognised as a ‘market leader’ within this field and their website 

includes details of the underlying investments of all its funds plus a wealth of 
information relating to its engagement activities with companies, including 

voting records. 
 

In 2022 Brunel will complete a ‘stock take’ of their approach to engagement 

and divestment. If this review concludes that companies are not taking 
appropriate action and sufficient steps to manage climate risks and to enable 

alignment with the Paris Climate Agreement then the Committee will need to 
reconsider its approach too.” 

 

 
100.   Questions from Members 

 

Page 8



3 

There were no questions from members. 
 

101.   Urgent items 

 
There were no urgent items. 
 

 
102.   Investment Pooling Update 

 
The Committee considered a report from David Vickers, Chief Investment 

Officer (CIO) of the Brunel Pension Partnership (Brunel).  He gave his 
thoughts on the investment context for the quarter and summarised the 
performance of the Brunel funds that the pension fund held investments in. 

 
Concerns about inflation were discussed and it was agreed that the 

Committee would consider the opportunity to increase the pension fund’s 
inflation hedging at its next meeting in September 2021. 

 

Brunel felt that it was not mutually exclusive to have a sustainable approach 
to investments and for the Committee to meet its fiduciary duty to scheme 

members and employers.  The transition away from fossil fuels was underway 
but there would be periods of volatility. 

 

The Chairman noted that actual and benchmark carbon intensity and 
extractive exposure metrics were reported by Brunel for each individual 

portfolio and asked if this could be provided at aggregate level for all Dorset’s 
assets under Brunel’s management. 

 

Brunel had been working with index providers to create useful ‘Paris aligned’ 
benchmarks and were close to agreement with FTSE Russell.  This would 

allow new Paris aligned passive equity funds to be offered to clients as 
alternatives to existing options.  The new benchmarks could also be used as 
secondary benchmarks for other Brunel funds.  

 
Brunel and the other LGPS investment pooling managers were asking 

government to work with them to develop and offer infrastructure investment 
opportunities suitable for LGPS funds.  The Scheme Advisory Board could 
also play a part in bringing pressure to bear on this topic. 

 
The Independent Adviser raised concerns that the benchmark for the 

Diversifying Returns Fund (DRF) was ‘cash’ and not ‘cash plus x%’ as had 
been the case with pension fund’s legacy mandate with Barings.  Brunel 
agreed to review this. 

 
Cllr John Beesley, the pension fund’s representative on the Brunel Oversight 

Board, updated the Committee on governance matters relating to the 
investment pooling arrangements.  At the Annual General Meeting on 25 
March 2021 the chair and other non-executive directors were reappointed.  In 

line with best practice, the company board now consisted of four executive 
directors and five non-executive directors.  The non-executive directors now 

spanned a very wide range of knowledge and experience. 

Page 9



4 

 
Resolved 

i. That Brunel provide actual and benchmark carbon intensity and 

extractive exposure metrics at aggregate level for all the pension 
fund’s assets under Brunel’s management. 

ii.That the benchmark for Brunel’s Diversifying Returns Fund be 
reviewed by Brunel and clients. 

 

 
103.   Pensions Administration 

 
The Committee considered a report from officers on operational and 
administration matters relating to the pension fund. 

 
Performance as measured by the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) had 

been pleasing, particularly given the challenges of working from home. 
 

The Committee were asked to approve new policies needed to reflect 

changes in regulations that extended flexibilities when dealing with exiting 
employers and the ability to review employer contribution rates in between 

valuations.  The Funding Strategy Statement would also need to be updated 
to reflect these new policies.  Officers would confirm whether time periods in 
the policies referred to working days or calendar days. 

 
The most common reasons for employers to exit the pension fund were that 

there were no employees left in the scheme, the employer had gone into 
administration or ceased trading, or that the employer had been taken over by 
another organisation. 

 
The administration system changes were nearing completion and were on 

track to ‘go live’ 28 July 2021, with the scheme employers’ portal live 30 July 
2021 and the scheme members’ portal live 2 August 2021.  Relocation of the 
team within County Hall would be planned so that it does not impact on 

implementation of the new systems. 
 

A workaround had been developed to get year-end returns from the pension 
fund’s Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC) provider, Prudential, and a 
checking exercise will be undertake once all the information had been 

received.  Officers will confirm whether a review of AVC provision has been 
undertaken or is planned.  

 
Resolved 

i. That the new policies relating to increased flexibility when dealing with 

exiting members and the ability to review employer contribution rates 
in between valuations be approved, subject to confirmation that time 

periods are measured in working days or calendar days. 
ii.That the Funding Strategy Statement be updated to reflect the adoption 

of these new policies. 

iii. That officers confirm whether a review of AVC provision has been 
undertaken or is planned. 

 

Page 10



5 

 
104.   Independent Investment Adviser's Report 

 

The Committee considered a report from Alan Saunders, the pension fund’s 
Independent Investment Adviser, that gave his views on the economic 

background to the pension fund’s investments, the outlook for different asset 
classes and key market risks. 

 

Inflation concerns due to increases in material costs and labour shortages had 
unsettled markets.  There were concerns about how central banks would 

respond and a more cautious approach to investment decisions was 
recommended. 

 

Labour shortages in the UK may be temporarily exaggerated due to the Job 
Retention Scheme but this was a global issue, particularly in the US.  The 

chief economist at the Bank of England had warned that there was not 
enough slack in labour markets and so wages could start to respond. 

 

The Chairman believed it was right to focus on inflation and proposed that the 
Committee met with Insight, the pension fund’s Liability Driven Investment 

(LDI), to revisit the mandate and consider options in September 2021.  The 
Independent Investment Adviser noted that there was scope to increase the 
inflation hedge or reduce collateral to invest elsewhere. 

 
The estimated funding ratio had fallen to 85% from 92% at the last full 

valuation as at March 2019.  Possible reasons were the smoothing of asset 
valuations by the actuary, rises in inflation expectations and/or falls in 
expected investment returns – as equities had shown such strong returns the 

actuary was now factoring in reduced returns leading to reduced discount rate 
and therefore higher liabilities. 

 
Cllr John Beesley highlighted that the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) 
were very aware of the risk of reduced funding levels at the next triennial 

valuation across the LGPS.  The Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) 
were looking at deficit recovery periods and other mitigation options.  He 

hoped to report back at the September 2021 meeting as this would be hugely 
influential on what Dorset’s actuary perceived to be permissible for the 
pension fund. 

 
Noted 

That the Committee review the Liability Driven Investment (LDI) mandate and 
consider increasing the pension fund’s inflation hedging position at its meeting 
in September 2021. 

 

 

105.   Fund Administrator's Report 

 
The Committee considered a report from officers on the pension fund’s 

funding position, asset valuation, investment performance and asset 
allocation as at 31 March 2021. 

 

Page 11



6 

The value of the pension fund’s assets ended the financial year at £3.3 billion 
compared to £2.7 billion at the start of the financial year, approximately 10% 
higher than the position as at March 2019 the date of the last full valuation by 

the actuary and broadly in line with the estimated average annual return of 
5%. 

 
However, the funding position estimated by our actuary is that the value of the 
pension fund’s assets only covers 85% of the present value of our liabilities, 

significantly lower than the 92% it was estimated to be at the March 2019 
valuation. 

 
The actuary had made some small increases to their assumptions for pension 
increases (CPI) and salary increases which will increase expected liabilities 

but the main reason for the fall in funding level is that the actuary had revised 
down their expectations for asset returns from 5% at the March 2019 

valuation to 4.5% now. 
 

The investment return for the financial year was 24% above the combined 

benchmark by about 3%.  The last quarter of the year was below benchmark, 
driven by the pension fund’s reduced UK and fossil fuels exposure which did 

well in the quarter.  The pension fund is believed to be positioned well for 
longer term trends, but there will be times of underperformance over shorter 
periods. 

 
Just under 30% of the pension fund’s liabilities were hedged against inflation 

sensitivity but using roughly 11.5% of assets to do so.  Nearly 60% of the 
pension fund’s assets are now under the management of Brunel. 

 

Allocations for equities and other publicly traded assets were now broadly 
near the targets agreed by the Committee in September 2020.  Some further 

investment in the Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund (DRF) was needed to 
reach target, funded by cash and/or partial redemption from corporate bonds 
which was above target. 

 
Achieving target allocations for private market assets, particularly private 

equity, remained a challenge.  There will be an opportunity to commit to the 
next cycle of Brunel’s private offerings in March 2022, therefore it would be 
useful to consider this in more depth at the September 2021 meeting. 

 
Noted 

 
 

 

106.   Dates of Future Meetings 

 
Resolved 

That meetings be held on the following dates: 
 

10am Wednesday 8 September 2021 – London (tbc) 
10am Tuesday 30 November 2021 – County Hall, Dorchester (tbc) 

 

Page 12



7 

107.   Exempt Business 

 
Resolved 

That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the business specified in minute 14 because it 

was likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 

information outweighs the public interest in disclosing that information. 
 

  
 

108.   Independent Investment Advice 

 
The pension fund’s independent adviser, Alan Saunders, will be retiring from 

this role after the meeting of the Committee in September 2021.  A working 
group of officers, the Chairman and Vice Chairman reviewed the requirements 
for independent advice and concluded that there is still a need for a retained 

independent investment adviser supplemented by the use of investment 
consultants as and when appropriate. 

 
Resolved 

That officers begin the process to procure the services of a retained 

independent investment adviser and that these services are supplemented by 
the use of investment consultants as and when appropriate. 
 
 

 

109.   Questions/Answers for the Pension Fund Committee - 15 June 2021 

 
Question 1:  Julie-Ann Booker, on behalf of Dorset Action on Pensions 

In considering the possibility of stranded assets, The Brunel Pension Fund 
Carbon Metrics report analyses its potential relationship with fossil fuel 

reserves both probable and proven, and then examines the potential 
emissions from these reserves:  

 
“Taking the reserves exposures discussed above, we can look at an 
assessment of potential future emissions that may incur from these reserves 

being realised. This metric is not included in the WACI figure (which focuses 
on current intensity) and so it is an important assessment of company's 

potential contribution to emissions via its stockpile of fossil fuels. We have 
been able to assess the potential emissions associated with the proven and 
probable reserves for companies within our Portfolios, as well as an overall 

Portfolio assessment.” (Brunel Pension Partnership Carbon Metrics report). 

This abstraction in the face of a climate emergency seems like madness to 
me.  I am no finance expert but have done some research and the Custom 

Benchmark appears to only relate to comparative investment funds and pays 
no attention to the health of the planet or to the science of climate change.  

Page 13



8 

“It is crazy that our banks and our pensions are investing in fossil fuels, when 
these are the very things that are jeopardising the future we are saving for”.  
(Sir David Attenborough, Nov 2020).   

Sir David is also not a financial expert, but is one of the most respected 
naturalists on the planet and his message on fossil fuels is quite clear.  Dorset 
Action on Pensions (https://dtaction.co.uk/pension-divestment/) feel that 

Dorset Council should stop investing in fossil fuels and start investing in a 
greener future. 

Is Dorset Council seeking investments that are both good for the planet and 

good for returns as demonstrated by six other local government pension 
funds, half of all UK Universities, and over 1,250 institutions representing over 
$14.5 trillion in assets who have already committed to going fossil free 

(Nauman, 2020).  Or is it in fact risking the threat of stranded assets, and 
ignoring the health of the planet and the science of climate change?  

Answer 1 

 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension 
scheme administered locally.  Dorset Council (DC) is the administering 

authority for the LGPS in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits 
for employees of DC, other councils and a range of other organisations within 

the county. 
 

DC has delegated its responsibilities as an administering authority to the 

Pension Fund Committee, which consists of five DC elected members, three 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) elected members, and 

one scheme member representative nominated by the trade unions. 
 

The purpose of the pension fund is to pay benefits to scheme members.  The 

Pension Fund Committee has a duty to scheme members and their employers 
to ensure that their contributions to the pension fund are invested 

appropriately to make returns sufficient to meet those obligations. This duty 
overrides any other considerations. 
 

The decarbonisation approach agreed by the Committee at its meeting 
September 2020 was based on evidence that such an approach will deliver 

significantly greater reductions in the ‘carbon footprint’ of the pension fund’s 
investments that blanket divestment, without negatively impacting returns. 
 

The pension fund’s investment pooling manager and underlying investment 
managers are required to take into consideration all matters that present a 

financially material risk to returns, including the risks that you highlight. 
 
 

Question 2:  Colin Tracey 
 

I understand that Dorset Council have agreed to divest from fossil fuel 
companies at only 7% per year. That means it will not be completely divested 
until 2036. Scientists are saying that we have only ten years to try and keep 

global warming below 1.5 degrees. While Dorset council pension funds are 

Page 14

https://dtaction.co.uk/pension-divestment/


9 

still being invested in fossil fuel companies Dorset Council continues to 
contribute to global warming. As an elected body that has declared a climate 
and ecological emergency, Dorset council has a moral and ethical duty to 

respond to the crisis  with more urgency. How does the council propose to do 
this? 
 
Answer 2 
 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension 
scheme administered locally.  Dorset Council (DC) is the administering 

authority for the LGPS in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits 
for employees of DC, other councils and a range of other organisations within 
the county. 
 

DC has delegated its responsibilities as an administering authority to the 

Pension Fund Committee, which consists of five DC elected members, three 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) elected members, and 
one scheme member representative nominated by the trade unions. 

 
The decarbonisation approach agreed by the Committee at its meeting 

September 2020 was based on evidence that such an approach will deliver 
significantly greater reductions in the ‘carbon footprint’ of the pension fund’s 
investments that blanket divestment, without negatively impacting returns. 

 
Divestment is effectively a transfer of ownership that does not directly lead to 

a reduction in either the supply or demand for fossil fuels but it does remove 
the opportunity to influence companies by working with them to transition to a 
lower carbon future.  Targeted divestment remains an option from individual 

companies who will not positively engage. 
 

Significant decarbonisation has been and will continue to be achieved through 
the transition of assets to the management of Brunel Pension Partnership, the 
pension fund’s LGPS investment pooling manager.  10% of the pension fund’s 

assets are now invested in Brunel’s global sustainable equities fund, which is 
20% of total equities and the fund’s largest single investment.  All other 

actively managed Brunel funds are committed to a policy of a 7% year on year 
reduction in their carbon footprint.  
 

Brunel are widely recognised as a ‘market leader’ within this field and their 
website includes a wealth of information relating to its engagement activities 

with companies, including voting records.  In 2022 Brunel will complete a 
‘stock take’ of their approach to engagement and divestment. If this review 
concludes that companies are not taking appropriate action and sufficient 

steps to manage climate risks and to enable alignment with the Paris Climate 
Agreement then the Committee will need to reconsider its approach too. 
 
 
Question 3:  Andrew Carey 

 

In Dorset Council’s ‘Making it happen action plan’, the Council’s Objective 1 

includes the following action: 

Page 15



10 

“Investigate decarbonising Dorset Council pension scheme” with the stated 
target: “Investigations carried out and reported to EAP  by March 2021”.  

Have those investigations been carried out and have they been reported to 
the EAP? If so, what did the report say? 

In an answer given by the Chairman of Dorset Council’s Pension Fund 

Committee on 10th September 2020, Brunel Pension Partnership were 
quoted as follows: 
 

“On the issue of divestment, Brunel supports divestment from specific fossil 
fuel and other carbon-intense companies if they present a material investment 

risk – such as due to ‘stranded assets’ – but this is based on analysis by our 
asset managers. Brunel expects managers to take these decisions 
independently. 

…We chose not to use exclusion lists with our active managers….  We will 
not issue exclusion lists…” 
 

This means that Brunel is divesting from fossil fuel companies only when they 
present an investment risk - not when they present a risk to the planet. 

 
Given that six other local government pension funds, half of all UK 

Universities, and over 1,250 institutions representing over $14.5 trillion in 
assets have already committed to going fossil free, does the Committee 
recognise that its failure to instruct Brunel on this policy is at odds with its 

Climate & Ecological Emergency Strategy, which states, amongst other 
things, its intention to "Take DIRECT action to reduce our own carbon 

footprint...  showing leadership as a large public sector organisation". 
 
Answer 3 

 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension 

scheme administered locally.  Dorset Council (DC) is the administering 
authority for the LGPS in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits 
for employees of DC, other councils and a range of other organisations within 

the county. 
 

DC has delegated its responsibilities as an administering authority to the 
Pension Fund Committee, which consists of five DC elected members, three 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) elected members, and 

one scheme member representative nominated by the trade unions. 
 

The purpose of the pension fund is to pay benefits to scheme members.  The 
Pension Fund Committee has a duty to scheme members and their employers 
to ensure that their contributions to the pension fund are invested 

appropriately to make returns sufficient to meet those obligations. This duty 
overrides any other considerations. 

 
At its meeting September 2020, the Committee agreed to seek to reduce 
investment in all high carbon emitting companies and to influence the demand 

for fossil fuels and their financing, not just their supply.  This approach to 
decarbonisation was based on evidence that such an approach will deliver 

Page 16



11 

significantly greater reductions in the ‘carbon footprint’ of the pension fund’s 
investments that blanket divestment, without negatively impacting returns.  
The reports, minutes and a recording of those discussions are all available on 

the Council’s website.  
 

Significant decarbonisation has been and will continue to be achieved through 
the transition of assets to the management of Brunel Pension Partnership, the 
pension fund’s LGPS investment pooling manager.  10% of the pension fund’s 

assets are now invested in Brunel’s global sustainable equities fund, which is 
20% of our total equities and is the fund’s largest single investment.  All other 

actively managed Brunel funds are committed to a policy of a 7% year on year 
reduction in their carbon footprint.  
 

Brunel are widely recognised as a ‘market leader’ within this field and their 
website includes a wealth of information relating to its engagement activities 

with companies, including voting records.  In 2022 Brunel will complete a 
‘stock take’ of their approach to engagement and divestment. If this review 
concludes that companies are not taking appropriate action and sufficient 

steps to manage climate risks and to enable alignment with the Paris Climate 
Agreement then the Committee will need to reconsider its approach too. 
 
 
 

 
Question 4:  Pam Rosling 

 

I am a Dorset Council Pensioner, and I recently read an article in the New 
Scientist (Environment June 1st 2021) which had a strong impact on me. As a 

result I am asking Dorset Council : Will you please poll Pension Fund 
members to establish what demand there is among us for an ethical 

investment option, rather than us having to continue to invest in fossil fuels 
when we don't want to?  
 
Answer 4 
 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension 
scheme administered locally.  Dorset Council (DC) is the administering 
authority for the LGPS in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits 

for employees of DC, other councils and a range of other organisations within 
the county. 
 

DC has delegated its responsibilities as an administering authority to the 
Pension Fund Committee, which consists of five DC elected members, three 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) elected members, and 
one scheme member representative nominated by the trade unions. 

 
The LGPS is a ‘defined benefit’ scheme which means that benefits for 
scheme members are calculated based on factors such as age, length of 

membership and salary, not investment performance as they would be in a 
‘defined contribution’ scheme. 

 

Page 17



12 

Administering authorities are required to maintain a pension fund for the 
payment of benefits to scheme members funded by contributions from 
scheme members and their employers, and from returns on contributions 

invested prior to benefits becoming payable. 
 

Contribution levels for scheme members are set nationally, and contribution 
levels for scheme employers are set locally by actuaries engaged by 
administering authorities.  As scheme member rates cannot be changed 

locally and benefits are defined, the risk of investment underperformance is 
effectively borne by scheme employers. 

 
For the reasons set out above scheme members cannot have different 
investment options available to them as could be the case with a defined 

contribution scheme where the risk of investment underperformance is borne 
by the individual scheme member. 

 
 
Question 5:  Belinda Bawden 

 

As a Dorset Pension Scheme member, I'd like to ask the following question of 

the Dorset Pension Fund Committee on 15th June.  
 
On page 24 in the section entitled 'The fossil fuel age is ending—get out while 

you can', the UK Divest report details the market uncertainty, oil price collapse 
and rapid switch of investments into the renewables sector:  

"Local Government Pension Funds must treat these changes seriously, or risk 

substantial exposure to the coming collapse of fossil fuel companies in this 

world wide technology shift.  

Unless action is taken soon, the £10 billion invested in fossil fuels by UK local 

government pension schemes could drastically reduce in value once the 
‘carbon bubble’ bursts (see text box, p. 47).  

The Bank of England (BoE) has said that in the UK up to £16 trillion of assets 

could be wiped out if the climate emergency is not addressed effectively 
(Partington, 2019).  

Mark Carney, the former governor of the BoE has said, the longer the 

adjustment is delayed in the real economy, ‘the greater the risk that there is a 

sharp adjustment’ (Partington, 2019).  

Local Government Pensions can and should act now to reduce their exposure 

to this risk, so they don’t lose their members even more money in the 
transition than they already have." 

https://www.divest.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/UKDivest_Report.pdf 

Given that Dorset Council is highlighted in this report as having the third 

highest proportion of fossil fuel investment of all the UK local government 
pension schemes in its pension fund, please could you let me know as a very 
worried member of your pension scheme when you will divest from fossil fuels 

and how your pension scheme members can ensure this happens quickly?  

Page 18

https://www.divest.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/UKDivest_Report.pdf


13 

 
Answer 5 
 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a ‘defined benefit’ scheme 
which means that benefits for scheme members are calculated based on 

factors such as age, length of membership and salary, not investment 
performance as they would be in a ‘defined contribution’ scheme. 
 

The LGPS is a national pension scheme administered locally.  Dorset Council 
(DC) is the administering authority for the LGPS in Dorset which provides 

pensions and other benefits for employees of DC, other councils and a range 
of other organisations within the county. 
 

DC has delegated its responsibilities as an administering authority to the 
Pension Fund Committee, which consists of five DC elected members, three 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) elected members, and 
one scheme member representative nominated by the trade unions. 
 

At its meeting September 2020, the Committee agreed to seek to reduce 
investment in all high carbon emitting companies and to influence the demand 

for fossil fuels and their financing, not just their supply.  This approach to 
decarbonisation was based on evidence that such an approach will deliver 
significantly greater reductions in the ‘carbon footprint’ of the pension fund’s 

investments that blanket divestment, without negatively impacting returns.   
The reports, minutes and a recording of those discussions are all available on 

the Council’s website.  
 

Significant decarbonisation has been and will continue to be achieved through 

the transition of assets to the management of Brunel Pension Partnership, the 
pension fund’s LGPS investment pooling manager.  10% of the pension fund’s 

assets are now invested in Brunel’s global sustainable equities fund, which is 
20% of our total equities and is the fund’s largest single investment.  All other 
actively managed Brunel funds are committed to a policy of a 7% year on year 

reduction in their carbon footprint.  
 

The pension fund’s investment pooling manager and underlying investment 
managers are required to take into consideration all matters that present a 
financially material risk to returns, including the risks that you highlight. 

 
 
Question 6:  Dr Sandra Reeve 
 

I would like Council to explain to me in greater depth the case for staying 

invested in fossil fuels and ‘engaging’? which has been an argument used in 
the past by Brunel Pension Partnership/Dorset Council. 

 
According to the report by UK Divest: "The argument for ‘engagement’ tends 
to be one made by asset owners who employ investment managers who 

won’t or can’t accept that there is a technology-driven transition occurring. 
This approach is like arguing: ‘We’re long-term shareholders in Blockbuster, 

the video rental store. We don’t divest. We’ll engage with them to adapt to the 

Page 19



14 

threat of low-cost live-streaming posed by this new disruptor called Netflix.’  
 
And as the ‘engagement’ proceeds over the years, this one company goes 

bust as the world no longer uses videos, while others’ share prices run away 
with themselves as the technology shift happens. So this approach of ‘we’ll 

decarbonise when markets decide to decarbonise’ is clearly not a risk 
management strategy. It is a ‘do nothing, and hope a few meetings will help’ 
strategy.  

 
It is vital to realise that this is, at heart, a technology shift."(UK Divest- report) 

https://www.divest.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/UKDivest_Report.pdf 
 
As representatives of Dorset Council, do you agree with this analysis? If not, 

what kind of effective, transformative engagement with the fossil fuel industry 
does Dorset Council perceive to be possible that persuades it to continue to 

invest 5% of the total value of its pension fund into fossil fuels through Brunel- 
please could you give me some actual examples?' 
 

On May 26,  a Dutch court ruled that Shell needed to cut its greenhouse gas 
emissions by 45% by 2030. This is a clear indication of what will happen 

across the board in the very near future. 
 
 BH, BP and Shell account for 40% of total direct investments across all local 

authority pension funds in the UK.  
 

It is becoming clear that Investing in fossil fuels is increasingly costly. It’s a 
financial risk—with UK Public Pensions losing £2 billion on oil investments in 
the last 4 years. It’s also a political risk—with the UK public more concerned 

about climate change than ever before. 
(https://www.moneysavingexpert.com/poll/2021/how-important-is-protecting-

the-environment-to-you-/). On June 1 Cop 26 President Alok Sharma at the 
first NetZero Pensions Summit said: 'Putting your money in fossil fuels creates 
the very real risk of stranded assets.' 

 
In the light of these facts on what basis is Dorset Council still prepared to risk 

its members funds and to continue to divest from fossil fuels at such a slow 
pace - 7% a year, which means that it will take 15 years to divest completely, 
so until at least 2036? 
 
Answer 6 

 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a ‘defined benefit’ scheme 
which means that benefits for scheme members are calculated based on 

factors such as age, length of membership and salary, not investment 
performance as they would be in a ‘defined contribution’ scheme. 
 

The LGPS is a national pension scheme administered locally.  Dorset Council 
(DC) is the administering authority for the LGPS in Dorset which provides 

pensions and other benefits for employees of DC, other councils and a range 
of other organisations within the county. 
 

Page 20

https://www.divest.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/UKDivest_Report.pdf
https://www.moneysavingexpert.com/poll/2021/how-important-is-protecting-the-environment-to-you-/
https://www.moneysavingexpert.com/poll/2021/how-important-is-protecting-the-environment-to-you-/


15 

DC has delegated its responsibilities as an administering authority to the 
Pension Fund Committee, which consists of five DC elected members, three 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) elected members, and 

one scheme member representative nominated by the trade unions. 
 

At its meeting September 2020, the Committee agreed to seek to reduce 
investment in all high carbon emitting companies and to influence the demand 
for fossil fuels and their financing, not just their supply.  This approach to 

decarbonisation was based on evidence that such an approach will deliver 
significantly greater reductions in the ‘carbon footprint’ of the pension fund’s 

investments that blanket divestment, without negatively impacting returns. 
 
The pension fund’s investment pooling manager and underlying investment 

managers are required to take into consideration all matters that present a 
material risk to returns, including the risks that you highlight. 
 

Significant decarbonisation has been and will continue to be achieved through 
the transition of assets to the management of Brunel Pension Partnership, the 

pension fund’s LGPS investment pooling manager.  10% of the pension fund’s 
assets are now invested in Brunel’s global sustainable equities fund, which is 

20% of our total equities and is the fund’s largest single investment.  All other 
actively managed Brunel funds are committed to a policy of a 7% year on year 
reduction in their carbon footprint.  
 

Brunel are widely recognised as a ‘market leader’ within this field and their 

website includes a wealth of information relating to its engagement activities 
with companies, including voting records.  In 2022 Brunel will complete a 
‘stock take’ of their approach to engagement and divestment. If this review 

concludes that companies are not taking appropriate action and sufficient 
steps to manage climate risks and to enable alignment with the Paris Climate 

Agreement then the Committee will need to reconsider its approach too. 
 
 

Question 7:  Helen Sumbler 
 

Has the Dorset Council Pension Fund equity portfolio been assessed for 
carbon intensity and if so, how does this assessment compare to the weighted 
average carbon intensity of the MSCI All Country World Index (ACWI) at the 

same date, e.g. 178.5 tCO2e/$m as of 30th April 2020.  If the fund has not 
been assessed against an internationally recognised benchmark such as this, 

are there any plans to do so. 
 
Answer 7 

 

The pension fund’s LGPS investment pooling manager, Brunel Pension 

Partnership, produce quarterly performance reports for the Pension Fund 
Committee, publicly available on the Council’s website.  These reports include 
summaries of the carbon intensity and extractive exposure of all the Brunel 

funds the pension fund has holdings in compared to industry benchmarks. 
 
 

Page 21



16 

Question 8:  Vicki Elcoate 
 

1. Councillor Canning told me earlier this year that the data in the UK Divest 

Report for Friends of the Earth of February 2021 was out of date for Dorset 
Council (https://www.divest.org.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2021/03/UKDivest_Report.pdf).  

He said that since those figures, which related to the 2019/2020 financial 
year, Dorset Council had undertaken a major strategic review of its pension 

fund investments. He promised an update after March 2021.  The question is: 
what is the current amount of investment in fossil fuels (I understand these 
are indirect investments)? The figures provided by the Friends of the Earth 

report are for the amount in £s of investments and the % that is of the overall 
investments. It would be useful to have it in the same format to compare. So 

this is not a question about the carbon footprint or the carbon intensity of the 
investments. The figure in the Friends of the Earth report was £128 million in 
indirect investment in fossil fuels. This put Dorset in the top 10 of local 

authority pension funds for fossil fuel investments.  

2. Brunel has made a 'net-zero by 2050' commitment. There is a clear 
contradiction here between Brunel’s date and Dorset Council’s own target of 

2040. Surely this is a ‘direct action’ and Dorset Council should instruct Brunel 
to invest in order to meet their 2040 date?  

Answer 8.1 
 

As part of the government’s requirement for Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) funds to pool investments the Dorset County Pension Fund 

no longer holds direct investments in companies.  Instead, the vast majority of 
its equity investments are now in pooled investment vehicles managed by the 
Brunel Pension Partnership, the LGPS investment pooling manager set up 

and fully owned by the administering authorities of ten LGPS funds including 
Dorset. 

 
Brunel regularly publish details on their website of the underlying holdings in 
all their pooled investment vehicles.  When this information is published for 

the quarter ending 31 March 2021, officers will calculate the pension fund’s 
indirect exposure to fossil fuels and report back to the next meeting of the 

Pension Fund Committee in September. 
 
Answer 8.2 

 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension 

scheme administered locally.  Dorset Council (DC) is the administering 
authority for the LGPS in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits 
for employees of DC, other councils and a range of other organisations within 

the county. 
 

DC has delegated its responsibilities as an administering authority to the 
Pension Fund Committee, which consists of five DC elected members, three 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) elected members, and 

one scheme member representative nominated by the trade unions. 

Page 22

https://www.divest.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/UKDivest_Report.pdf
https://www.divest.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/UKDivest_Report.pdf


17 

 
At its meeting September 2020, the Committee agreed to seek to reduce 
investment in all high carbon emitting companies and to influence the demand 

for fossil fuels and their financing, not just their supply.  This approach to 
decarbonisation was based on evidence that such an approach will deliver 

significantly greater reductions in the ‘carbon footprint’ of the pension fund’s 
investments that blanket divestment, without negatively impacting returns. 
 

Significant decarbonisation has been and will continue to be achieved through 
the transition of assets to the management of Brunel Pension Partnership, the 

pension fund’s LGPS investment pooling manager.  10% of the pension fund’s 
assets are now invested in Brunel’s global sustainable equities fund, which is 
20% of our total equities and is the fund’s largest single investment.  All other 

actively managed Brunel funds are committed to a policy of a 7% year on year 
reduction in their carbon footprint.  

 
Brunel are widely recognised as a ‘market leader’ within this field and their 
website includes a wealth of information relating to its engagement activities 

with companies, including voting records.  In 2022 Brunel will complete a 
‘stock take’ of their approach to engagement and divestment. If this review 

concludes that companies are not taking appropriate action and sufficient 
steps to manage climate risks and to enable alignment with the Paris Climate 
Agreement then the Committee will need to reconsider its approach too. 

 
 
Question 9:  Alison Smith 
 

It has come to my attention that Dorset pension funds are investing in 

companies involved in the exploitation of fossil fuels particularly but not 
exclusively in Shell, BP and BHP. In light of Dorset’s statement to create a 

better environment in relation to climate change I feel that to continue to 
support these companies with the investment of pension funds is contrary to 
the expressed intentions of the council. 

 
I would ask you to please remove these investments and place them with 

companies which have a greener intentions. 
 
Answer 9 

 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension 

scheme administered locally.  Dorset Council (DC) is the administering 
authority for the LGPS in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits 
for employees of DC, other councils and a range of other organisations within 

the county. 
 

DC has delegated its responsibilities as an administering authority to the 
Pension Fund Committee, which consists of five DC elected members, three 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP) elected members, and 

one scheme member representative nominated by the trade unions. 
 

Page 23



18 

At its meeting September 2020, the Committee agreed to seek to reduce 
investment in all high carbon emitting companies and to influence the demand 
for fossil fuels and their financing, not just their supply.  This approach to 

decarbonisation was based on evidence that such an approach will deliver 
significantly greater reductions in the ‘carbon footprint’ of the pension fund’s 

investments that blanket divestment, without negatively impacting returns. 
 

Significant decarbonisation has been and will continue to be achieved through 

the transition of assets to the management of Brunel Pension Partnership, the 
pension fund’s LGPS investment pooling manager.  10% of the pension fund’s 

assets are now invested in Brunel’s global sustainable equities fund, which is 
20% of our total equities and is the fund’s largest single investment.  All other 
actively managed Brunel funds are committed to a policy of a 7% year on year 

reduction in their carbon footprint.  
 

Brunel are widely recognised as a ‘market leader’ within this field and their 
website includes a wealth of information relating to its engagement activities 
with companies, including voting records.  In 2022 Brunel will complete a 

‘stock take’ of their approach to engagement and divestment. If this review 
concludes that companies are not taking appropriate action and sufficient 

steps to manage climate risks and to enable alignment with the Paris Climate 
Agreement then the Committee will need to reconsider its approach too. 
 

 
 

 
Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 12.40 pm 

 

 
Chairman 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 24



Pension Fund Committee 
8 September 2021 
Pensions Administration 
 

Choose an item. 

Portfolio Holder:   Choose an item.  

 
Local Councillor(s):  All Councillors   

Executive Director: Aidan Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development   
     
Report Author:  Karen Gibson 
Title:   Service Manager for Pensions 
Tel:   01305 228524 
Email:   karen.gibson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

Recommendation:  

It is recommended that the Committee note and comment on the contents of the report.  

 

Reason for Recommendation:      

To update the Committee on aspects of Pensions Administration 

1. Executive Summary  

This report is the quarterly update for the Pension Fund Committee on all operational 

and administration matters relating to the Fund.  It contains updates on the following: 

 

• Key Performance Indicators  

• Systems Implementation Update 

•   Data Quality 

•   Cost Cap Review 

•   Delays to new Code of Practice 

•   Commons Committee Report on Public Sector Pensions 

•   LGPS Mortality Data 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



• Governance and Administration Survey 2020-21 results 

 

2. Financial Implications 

N/A  

3. Well-being and Health Implications 

None 

4. Climate implications 

None 

5. Other Implications 

N/A 

6. Risk Assessment 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has been 
identified as: 

Current Risk: N/A 

Residual Risk: N/A 

7. Equalities Impact Assessment 

N/A 

8. Appendices 

• Appendix 1 – Dorset LGPS Common Data Report 2021 

• Appendix 2 – Dorset LGPS Scheme Specific Data Quality report 2021 

 

Background Papers 

• LGPS Regulations 2013 

• Cost control mechanism - Government Actuary’s review - Final report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

• Written statements - Written questions, answers and statements - UK Parliament 

• Public sector pensions (parliament.uk) 

• LGPS Scheme Advisory Board - Covid-19 Mortality (lgpsboard.org) 

• Public service governance and administration survey 2020-21 (thepensionsregulator.gov.uk) 

9. Background 

9.1. This report is the quarterly update for the Pension Fund Committee on all 
operational and administration matters relating to the Fund. 

Page 26

http://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/lgpsregs2013/timeline.php
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cost-control-mechanism-government-actuarys-review-final-report
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2021-06-15/hcws90
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6214/documents/69139/default/
https://www.lgpsboard.org/index.php/covid-19-mortality-1
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/-/media/thepensionsregulator/files/import/pdf/public-service-research-2021.ashx


 

10. Key Performance Indicators  

10.1  Due to the change in our administration system, no KPIs are currently available 

for review. It is planned that the monthly and quarterly review of the key 

performance indicators (KPIs) will resume from September or October 2021. 

 

11. Systems Implementation 

 

11.1. The new Pensions Administration System (UPM), provided by Civica is now live,    

and the previously used systems provided by Aquila Heywood and the London 

Pensions Partnership have been decommissioned. UPM into live service on 26 

July, a few days earlier than scheduled.  

11.2. The system is working well, it provides additional functionality for the team, 

improved technologies, comprehensive audit measures, plus scope for further 

development and bespoke requirements. It incorporates a member and employer 

portal, excellent workflow and management tools, plus an integrated scanning 

and image functionality.   

Work tasks are integrated into a series of processes. The development and 

testing of these processes have taken more time than anticipated by the team, 

and some are still being refined to meet our exact requirements. In addition, 

Civica have not yet fully delivered all the processes required by the tender, in part 

because of the restricted timescales of the project. This is one of the reasons 

why KPIs cannot yet be provided.  

The migration of current work cases, totalling over 4000, has been successful, 

and I am pleased with how Civica has dealt with this critical area and transferred 

historic data. Unavoidably, this movement of workload required a lot of manual 

checks and changes to ensure processes remained at the right stage. A 

tremendous amount of work has been carried out by the pensions team, who 

have worked tirelessly to ensure as smooth a transition as possible. However 

more work remains to be done, and together with the delayed delivery of some 

processes, there has been a knock-on impact to the service which is to be 

expected when such a significant change occurs. 

I would like to acknowledge the pensions administration team, who have shown 

dedication and positivity, despite the pressures upon them and the huge increase 

to work. They have done a remarkable and exemplary job in difficult 

circumstances in order to protect the service to members ensuring a successful 

implementation. 

Page 27



11.3. The Employer Portal – went live to employers on 30 July. This is an essential 

part of the service, enabling employers to transfer data securely direct to the 

team, which feed directly into the work processes. Had we remained with our 

previous software provider, we would not have been able to provide employers 

with anything near to what the portal offers.  

Employers have received training and have been supported by the Employer 

Support team. The team has an excellent working relationship with all our 

employers, which is essential to assisting employers in carrying out their 

responsibilities within the LGPS including the provision of accurate and timely 

data. Further refinement and development of this portal will continue over time, 

including and financial data provided by all employers. 

Employers face a difficult task in meeting these responsibilities and the Fund 

benefits greatly by providing them with a wide range of support, information, and 

technologies to make their job as easy as possible. 

11.4. The Member Portal went live on 2 August. The change in portal requires 

members to re-register, information was provided to all members in their latest 

Annual Benefit Statement issued in June. The new portal is working, but requires 

further development, which is currently underway, in order to ensure the 

functionality provided is as good, as our previous member portal. There is 

increased functionality and scope for further development. 

11.5. The new systems will continue to be developed to meet our requirements; I 

anticipate the impact of such a significant change will take some while to 

address. The change has resulted in some areas of backlogs, and there are 

significant amounts of back scanning to be completed by the team as a result of 

the transition. However, this is a short-term impact necessary to provide a better 

service for scheme members in the longer term 

 

12. Data Quality  

12.1. Each year, the quality of our data is reviewed and measured in accordance with 

the guidance set out by the Pensions Regulator. The serves two main purposes. 

Firstly, it feeds into the future year’s Data Improvement Plan, and secondly it 

provides the Data Quality scores for the Dorset County Pension Fund which must 

be reported to The Pensions Regulator each year and recorded in the Fund’s 

Annual Report. 

 

12.2. The 2021 Data Quality reports, for both ‘Common’ and ‘Scheme Specific’ data, 

are attached at Appendix 1 and 2.  This provides a summary of data integrity as 

at June 2021 and gives a comparison with the position in 2020. 

Page 28



• Common Data – this is the reporting items applicable to all pension 

schemes. The overall score of tests passed for common data held was 

99.40%, which is the same as the 2020 results in this area.     

• Scheme Specific Data, (also known as ‘Conditional’ data) is the data 

specific to the LGPS. The overall score for scheme specific data was 

98.90%, an improvement over the 2020 score of 98.20%.  

 

12.3. The information received feeds into our annual Data Improvement Plan and 

data cleaning programme. Following the change in system, there will be 

inevitable concerns over the transfer of data from the old to new system, and for 

the continuance of these excellent scores.  

 

Checks identified some data issues following the transfer of our data, and we 

are currently working with Civica to analyse and remedy those issues found. 

Such incidences will occur where there are differences in systems and a 

transfer has occurred. The data issues known are not significant but are clearly 

of importance. 

 

Because the Dorset Fund has reached a point where its data is of such a high 

standard, it is important to us to maintain this position. The UPM system gives 

us the ability to run our own data quality reports, and we have a useful tool 

provided by our actuaries to check data. This is especially important heading 

into a valuation year, and a working plan will be established in order to ensure 

the continuance of our data standards. 

 

12.4. The excellent results illustrated by these reports demonstrate the continued 

work of the Fund to ensure high-quality data, and the close working relationship 

with employers to support them in providing accurate data in such a complex 

pension scheme is essential to this. These results give confidence that the right 

benefits are being paid to members. 

 

 

13. Cost Cap Review 

13.1. On 15 June 2021, following a request from HM Treasury, the Government’s 

Actuary Department (GAD) published its final report of its findings and 

recommendations of the cost control mechanism in the reformed public service 

pension schemes. 

13.2. The report’s aim was to assess whether, and to what extent, the mechanism is 

working in line with the original policy objectives, and to make any 

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cost-control-mechanism-government-actuarys-review-final-report


recommendations to any changes that might be deemed necessary to meet 

these aims. 

13.3. GAD have concluded that the existing method is flawed, and has fallen short of 

meeting its original objectives. The report provides details as well as suggested 

possible changes. HM Treasury have published a statement following the 

reports publication. 

13.4. The cost cap was principally introduced to ensure fairness between taxpayers 

and members of public service pensions schemes, at a time when such costs 

were increasing. The cost control mechanism assesses certain elements of the 

costs of public sector schemes, and where costs have increased or decreased 

by more than 2% of pensionable pay, member benefits are to be increased or 

reduced to bring the overall costs back to within the required parameters. 

13.5. However, the outcome of the 2016 process suggested that the cost to taxpayers 

had gone down, and therefore benefit improvements would need to be made. 

This was clearly not the expected conclusion, hence the review. The 2016 cost 

cap review was paused until July 2020 when the consultations relating to the 

remedy for the McCloud judgement were released, we now await revised HMT 

directions on the 2016 process. Because of this delay, the 2020 cost cap review 

has not yet started, but will follow the 2016 process in due course and use the 

new methodology once agreed 

13.6. The impact to us is that there could be a need for retrospective benefit changes, 

an unwelcome thought when we are already facing the huge impact of 

McCloud. 

The report explores alternative approaches to the mechanism, though 

concludes it is still a good idea, assuming some improvements are made to it. 

Suggestions include that the cost envelope in increase to +/- 3% to allow for 

volatility of the mechanism, plus an affordability check and an additional layer of 

qualitative review. 

With the McCloud benefit changes not yet implemented, and both the 2016 and 

2020 review incomplete, and any potential scheme changes unclear, there 

arises a difficulty for Funds and actuaries ahead of the 2022 valuation.  

 

14. Delays to new Code of Practice  

14.1. On 24 August the Pensions Regulator published an interim response to the 

consultation on the new combined Code of Practice which had closed on 26 

May 2021. The draft Code combined ten Codes into one, including 

Page 30

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2021-06-15/hcws90


encompassing the dedicated Code of Practice 14 with those covering private 

sector schemes.  

14.2. The TPR received over 100 responses to its consultation which included over 

10,000 individual answers. In order to work through and fully consider its 

responses, together with an opportunity to further develop their policy positions, 

a delay to the implementation of the new Code is confirmed. 

14.3. The TPR do not expect to lay the new Code before Parliament before Spring 

2022, and so it is unlikely to become effective before summer 2022. No date 

has been given for when a full consultation response will be issued. This 

confirms TPR’s commitment to clarifying key issues of concern raised in the 

consultation.  

 

15. Commons Committee Report on Public Sector Pensions  

15.1. On 21 June 2021, the House of Commons Committee of Public Accounts 

published a report on public sector pensions, after taking advice earlier this year 

from HM Treasury and the Government Actuary’s Department. 

15.2. The report conclusions are interesting, and are summarised as follows; 

• HM Treasury focuses on affordability to the taxpayer, but this is often at 

the expense of its other objectives, such as ensuring a decent income in 

retirement and supporting employers in recruiting and retaining staff 

• Public service pensions are affecting the delivery of frontline services in 

some areas, due to increased employer contributions 

• HM Treasury has not done enough to ensure people understand the value 

of their pensions 

• HM Treasury has done little to identify and manage the stark differences in 

average pensions between genders and other groups 

• HM Treasury has had to revisit key elements of the 2014/15 reforms due 

to McCloud judgment and the cost control process not working as 

intended. These issues may take decades to resolve fully 

• HM Treasury has not yet performed an evaluation of the 2014/15 reforms 

and the Committee is not convinced that it is on track to meet its 

objectives. 

 

16.  LGPS Mortality Data  

16.1. On 15 June 2021, the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) in England and Wales 

updated its LGPS mortality data to the end of March 2021. The data covers all 

Page 31

https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6214/documents/69139/default/


LGPS administering authorities in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern 

Ireland.  

16.2. On the same day, the SAB published updated reports from Aon and Barnett 

Waddingham. Each report sets out analysis of the mortality data of a single 

LGPS fund during the pandemic. You can see the data and the reports on the 

SAB COVID-19 Mortality page.  

 

17. Governance and Administration Survey 2020-21 Results  

17.1. TPR published the results from the Public Service Pension Scheme 

Governance and Administration Survey 2020-21 on 1 July 2021. The survey, 

which included a response from the Dorset Fund, was conducted online 

between January and March 2021 and aims to track governance and 

administration practices among public service pension schemes. The 2020-21 

survey also included new questions on response to the pandemic, pensions 

dashboards and, for LGPS respondents, action taken in relation to climate-

related risks and opportunities.  

17.2. The survey found little change since 2019 for the key processes that TPR 

monitors as indicators of performance. Two-thirds of LGPS administering 

authorities who responded to the survey had all six processes in place. The six 

key processes are: 

 • have a documented policy to manage board members’ conflicts of interest 

 • have access to the knowledge, understanding and skills needed to properly run                              

the scheme 

 • have documented procedures for assessing and managing risk 

 • have processes to monitor records for accuracy and completeness 

 • have a process for resolving contribution payment issues 

 • have procedures to identify, assess and report breaches of the law 

17.3. The results also show improvements in risk management processes, cyber 

controls and the proportion of members receiving their annual benefit statement 

on time. Unsurprisingly, most schemes identified implementing the McCloud 

remedy as a significant risk. Governance has generally stood up well given the 

unique challenges the last year has presented 

 

 

 

Page 32

https://www.lgpsboard.org/index.php/covid-19-mortality-1
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/-/media/thepensionsregulator/files/import/pdf/public-service-research-2021.ashx
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/-/media/thepensionsregulator/files/import/pdf/public-service-research-2021.ashx


 

Footnote: 

Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report. 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Version 1.10 - External © Heywood Limited trading as Aquila Heywood 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
Common Data Quality Report 

Dorset County Pension Fund 

June 2021 
 

Page 35



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 2 of 18  

 

Table of Contents 

1 Executive Summary 3 

1.1 Introduction 3 

1.2 Data Quality Service 3 

1.3 Benchmark 4 

1.4 Summary of Common Data Results 5 

1.5 TPR Common Data Core Test Results 6 

2 Analysis of Common Data Results 7 

3 Data Correction Plan 11 

4 Appendices 12 

4.1 Appendix A – TPR Guidance 12 

4.2 Appendix B – Common Data and Fail Criteria 14 

 

Page 36



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 3 of 18  

 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 Introduction 

In 2015, the Pensions Regulator (TPR) assumed responsibility for Public Sector Pension 

Schemes. Prior to this, in June 2010, TPR issued guidance on the approach that they consider 

to be good practice for measuring the presence of member data. Specific targets were set 

for data TPR deemed as ‘common’ and Aquila Heywood has assisted customers in the 

collection and qualification of this data.  

To assist customers in undertaking a practical assessment of their common data, Aquila 

Heywood offers a Data Quality service. 

1.2 Data Quality Service  

Working with the Dorset County Council (Dorset), Aquila Heywood has completed a review 

of Dorset’s common pension data in line with the guidance notes set down by TPR. Aquila 

Heywood’s understanding of the Local Government Pension Scheme data, benefit 

calculations, interfaces and processes, has assisted in the agreement of which items to test. 

The tests to satisfy each condition have been run and the results quantified to provide 

guidance on any corrective action required.    

The service incorporates data items tested against the data conditions agreed with Dorset. 

To provide focus on the key areas of common data to be addressed, each data category is 

measured against an agreed benchmark. 

In 2019, a set of “core” tests were identified for reporting to TPR. The results to be quoted to 

TPR are quoted separately from the overall test scores. For details of where the TPR tests 

differ from the overall tests, please refer to appendix B. 

  

Page 37



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 4 of 18  

 

1.3 Benchmark 

The benchmarks applied to the results presented in this report were agreed between Dorset 

and Aquila Heywood. The categories and thresholds are as follows: 

Category Pass Threshold 

Blue Pass rate >= 98% 

Green 95% <= Pass rate < 98% 

Amber 90% <= Pass rate < 95% 

Red Pass rate < 90% 

These benchmarks are illustrated in the background of the results graphs. TPR have set 

targets of 100% accuracy for data created after June 2010 and 95% accuracy for data created 

beforehand. The Aquila Heywood data quality service measures data as a whole as updates 

for many members are continuous and alter the last updated date on the system. 

  

Page 38



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 5 of 18  

 

1.4 Summary of Common Data Results 

The graph below indicates Dorset’s performance for each data category against the agreed 

scheme benchmarks together with the results from the 2020 tests. The results presented 

herein are generated from data extracted from Dorset’s Live Altair service on 15th June 2021 

for all tests. The 2020 tests were generated from data extracted on 16th July 2020. The 

overall percentage of tests passed for Dorset’s common data is 99.4% which is the same as 

the 2020 score. The 2021 tests were conducted on 118,464 member records, an increase of 

2,114 on 2020. 

 

Seven of the eight categories met the highest benchmark of greater than 98% with three 

categories not recording a single failure. A further 2 categories have been rounded to 100% 

with a score of over 99.95%. The lowest scoring category concerned member Address that 

achieved a score of 95.7% which is a decrease on the 2020 score of 95.9%. The general 

quality of the common data tested at Dorset is of a high standard. There is some work 

required to trace members recorded as “gone away” to bring this category into the highest 

benchmark.  

The percentage of member records without a single common data failure is 95.1%. This 

represents a decrease of 0.1% on the 2020 score of 95.2%. 

 

9
9

.5

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.8

9
5

.9

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.6

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.8

9
5

.7

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

9
5

.7

0
.0

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2020
2021
TPR

Page 39



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 6 of 18  

 

1.5 TPR Common Data Core Test Results 

The percentage of member records that did not fail any of the tests deemed to be in the 

core list of TPR tests is 95.6% this represents a decrease of 0.2% over the 2019 score of 

95.8%. This is the figure to be quoted on the scheme return to TPR. The core test scores for 

each category are shown below.  

 

 

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
5

.99
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
5

.7

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2020

2021

Page 40



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 7 of 18  

 

2 Analysis of Common Data Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

NI Number 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

117932 
 
(+2173) 

99.6% 
 
(+0.06%) 

99.9% 
 
(+0.02%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

0 
530 
2 

The number of members failing a test has reduced by 59 leading 
to a 0.06% increase in the pass rate.  

Of the 530 members with a temporary NI number, 155 fall within 
the core test requirements.  

- 15 are active; 

- 5 are undecided leaver; 

- 18 are deferred pensioners; 

- 10 are adult dependants; 

- 107 of the temporary NI numbers are recorded for 
frozen refund cases which may affect CEP payments;  

The remaining 375 are leavers or deceased that may be dealt 
with as a lower priority and do not count towards the core test 
results 

A further 2 members have an NI number with an incorrect 
format which does not count towards the TPR test. 1 is a leaver 
and the other is a deferred pensioner that should be dealt with 
as a priority.  

P
age 41



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 8 of 18  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

Name 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

0 
0 
0 

All member records have valid name fields recorded for the fifth 
consecutive year. 

Sex and Date of Birth 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members (Leavers and 
deaths excluded from test D) 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

0 
0 
0 
0 

All member records have a valid sex and date of birth recorded 
for the fifth consecutive year. 

Date commenced and 
NRD 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

118463 
 
(+2115) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 

0 
1 

The number of failures in this category has reduced by 1 since 
2020. 

1 active member has an invalid date joined fund. This test is not 
included in the TPR core tests. 

Status 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

0 
0 
0 

All member records have a valid and consistent status recorded 
for the fifth consecutive year. 

P
age 42



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 9 of 18  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

Status and invalid data 
view 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

118259 
 
(+2180) 

99.8% 
 
(+0.06%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

51 
125 
30 
0 

The number of members failing tests in this category has 
reduced by 66 to 205, leading to a 0.06% increase in the pass 
rate. This category does not count towards the core tests. 

51 members have an ‘Exit’ data view which is not in line with 
their status history. this has increase by 13 since 2020. 125 
members have an unexpected ‘deferred’ data view having never 
been deferred on their status history. 30 members have an 
unexpected ‘pensions’ data view, this has increased by 5 since 
2020.  

205 members have data views that are not expected for their 
status history: 

- 42 leavers and 28 deceased, that are a lower priority; 

- 2 are active; 

- 6 are undecided leavers; 

- 2 are deferred pensioners; 

- 1 is a pensioner; 

- 118 are for aggregated records; 

- 4 are frozen refunds; 
1 aggregated member has more than 1 unexpected data view. 
Fails in this category should be investigated to ensure correct 
benefits are calculated as a priority. 

P
age 43



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 10 of 18  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

Address 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members except leavers 
and deaths (status 3 and 7) 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

113345 
 
(+1736) 

95.7% 
 
(-0.25%) 

95.7% 
 
(-0.24%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 

12 
0 
5103 
4359 
4 

The number of members failing tests in this category has 
increased by 378 to 5119, leading to a 0.25% decrease in the 
pass rate.  

12 members have no address recorded. 5103 members are 
recorded as “gone away”. 4359 members have no Postcode 
recorded. These tests are included in the core tests 

A further 4 postcodes are in an incorrect format. This test does 
not count towards the TPR core tests. 

All the 4359 members missing a postcode, are also recorded as 
“gone away”. 

Status and valid data 
view 

Eligible for Testing:  

Members with deferred 
benefits or benefits in 
payment (Status 4, 5, 6, 7, 9 
and T) 

118464 
 
(+2114) 

118462 
 
(+2117) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

0 
0 
1 
0 
1 
0 

The number of members failing tests in this category has 
reduced by 3 to 2 since 2020. This category is not included in the 
TPR core results. 

1 dependant member is missing a “Dependant Details” data 
view, and should be investigated urgently to ensure benefits are 
being paid.  

1 deceased member who was a pensioner does not have a date 

recorded for when the pension ceased.  

P
age 44



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 11 of 18  

 

3 Data Correction Plan 
The table below provides Dorset with suggestions for resolving the issues identified. This table is deliberately high-level as the detail and dates should be agreed 

once the results have been thoroughly reviewed. This table represents a summary of the recommended actions outlined in Section 2. 

Data Category Recommendation Suggested Priority 

NI Number • Obtain correct NI numbers for the members with temporary numbers or those in the incorrect format. 

Prioritise the 155 members that are neither leavers nor deceased. 

• Low 

Name • No issues found  

Sex and Date of Birth • No issues found  

Date commenced 
and NRD 

• Correct the date joined fund for the active member • High 

Status  • No issues found  

Status and invalid 
data view 

• Invalid data should be removed where necessary or the member status history corrected where appropriate. 

These cases should be treated as a high priority where the member is not a leaver or deceased as the 

presence of the data may affect benefits 

• High 

Address • Current addresses should be sought and uploaded for the members that failed this category • Medium 

Status and valid data 
view 

• The 1 dependant missing dependant details data view should be investigated and corrected 

• The pensioner with a missing cease date should be investigated and corrected  

• VERY HIGH 

• Low 

P
age 45



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 12 of 18  

 

4 Appendices 

4.1 Appendix A – TPR Guidance 

Data Field TPR Comment 

National Insurance Number 'TN' formats should be regarded as missing data. The final character of NI numbers is not essential. 

Surname Check that surname is present. 

Forename(s) or initials Forenames are preferable but initials are an acceptable alternative. 

Sex Check that sex is present. 

Date of birth Check that date of birth is present and consistent (earlier than date joined scheme, retirement, date of leaving). False dates should 
be classed as missing data. 

Date pensionable service 
started/policy start 
date/first contribution date 

For trust-based schemes this will be date pensionable service started. For contract-based schemes this will effective start date of the 
policy or the first contribution date, depending on the provider's requirements. 

Expected 
retirement/maturity date 
(target retirement age) 

This field may be derived or explicit; for most DB schemes it will probably be derived as the scheme's normal retirement date. Need 
to check that it is populated if that is a scheme/system requirement, that it is consistent with scheme rules and statutory 
requirements, and is later than date of birth and pensionable service date/first contribution date. 

Membership status Check that a current valid status is recorded for each member. This may be a dual status, eg active or deferred member with partial 
retirement. For contract-based schemes this may be 'active' or 'inactive'. 

Last status event Check that benefits taken are consistent with status, and, if status history is recorded, that the latest status is the same as the 
explicitly recorded current status. 

P
age 46



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 13 of 18  

 

Data Field TPR Comment 

Address An address should be present for all members of all schemes. Because of DPA requirements an exception is permissible for active 
members of those trust-based schemes in which communication with members is normally sent via the employer. 'Gone away', 
'unknown' or similar should be treated as missing data. 

Postcode Check that a postcode is present if address is not identifiable as being overseas. Will assist with valuations for actives, for whom 
storing full address may breach DPA principles. 

  

P
age 47



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 14 of 18  

 

4.2 Appendix B – Common Data and Fail Criteria 

Common Data 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

NI Number  

Eligible for Testing:  

All members  

NI Number (NI-

NUMBER) is blank 

 

NI number is temporary 

(commences TN) and is 

not a child pension 

(DEPND-TYPE = ‘C’) 

Leavers (3) and deaths 

(7) are excluded from 

the TPR results 

NI number does not adhere 

to standard (Neither of the 

first two letters can be D, F, I, 

Q, U or V. The second letter 

cannot be O. Prefixes BG, GB, 

KN, NK, NT, TN (checked in 

fail B) and ZZ are not used. 

Suffix must be A,B, C or D. 

Characters 3-8 must be 

numbers) 

Test is excluded from the TPR 

results 

   

Tested: 118464 Failed: 0 Failed: 530 Failed: 2    

Name 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

 

Surname (SURNAME) is 

blank 

Forenames 

(FORENAMES) is blank 

Initials (INITS) is blank 

Test is excluded from the TPR 

results 

   

Tested: 118464 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

P
age 48



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 15 of 18  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Sex and Date of Birth 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members * 

Sex (SEX) is blank Sex is not Male or 

Female 

Date of Birth (DOB) is blank Date of Birth is earlier 
than or equal to 
01/01/1900 (* Leavers 
and deaths  excluded 
from this test) (Status 3 
and 7) 

  

Tested: 118464 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0   

Date commenced and 

NRD 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

Date Joined fund (DJF) is 

blank 

Date Joined Fund is 

earlier than Date of 

Birth plus 15 years 

Test is excluded from 

the TPR results 

NRD checks are not required 

as these are always 

calculated 

   

Tested: 118464 Failed: 0 Failed: 1     

Status 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

Status (STATUSKEYF) is 

blank 

Status is not 1-9, T or O Status on member summary 

(STATUSKEYF) does not 

match that on basic details 

(STATUS[1]) 

Test is excluded from the TPR 

results 

   

Tested: 118464 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

P
age 49



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 16 of 18  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Status and invalid data 

view 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members 

Category is excluded 

from the TPR results 

Exit details should not 

be present unless status 

is 3, 7 or 9 or a previous 

status is 9 and the 

current status is 1, 2, 4, 

5 or T 

Deferred details should 

not be present unless 

status is 4 or a previous 

status is 4 and the 

current status is 1, 2, 3, 

5, 7 or T 

Pension details should not be 

present unless status is 5 or T 

or a previous status is 5 or T 

and the current status is 1, 2, 

3, 4 or 7 

Dependant details 

should not be present 

unless status is 6 or a 

previous status is 6 and 

the current status is 3 

or 7 

  

Tested: 118464 Failed: 51 Failed: 125 Failed: 30 Failed: 0   

Address 

Eligible for Testing:  

All members except 

leavers and deaths 

(status 3 and 7) 

Address record does not 
exist 

Address record exists, 

but line 1 (ADD-LINE-1) 

is blank 

Gone Away (ADD-GONAWY) 

indicator is set 

If the address is not 
overseas, the Postcode 
(POSTCODE) is blank 

If the address is not 

overseas, the Postcode 

is not the correct 

format (1st letter =Q, V 

or X, 2nd letter is I, J or 

Z, 3rd, 4th or 5th 

character is not a 

space) 

Test is excluded from 

the TPR results 

 

Tested: 118464 Failed: 12 Failed: 0 Failed: 5103 Failed: 4359 Failed: 4  

P
age 50



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 17 of 18  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Status and valid data 

view 

Eligible for Testing:  

Members with deferred 

benefits or benefits in 

payment (Status 4, 5, 6, 

7, 9 and T) 

Category is excluded 

from the TPR results 

Status 4 does not have 

deferred details 

Status 5 or T do not 

have pension details 

Status 6 does not have 

dependant details 

Status 7 or 9, with a 

previous status of 1 or 

4 do not have exit 

details 

Status 7 with a 

previous status of 5 

should have a relevant 

date pension ceased 

Status 7 with a 

previous status of 6 

should have a relevant 

date pension ceased 

Tested: 118464 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 

P
age 51



 

 

 
Aquila Heywood, 1st Floor, Hamilton House, Church Street, 
Altrincham, Cheshire, WA14 4DR 
W: www.aquilaheywood.co.uk  T: 0161 613 4200 

 

 

Page 52

http://www.aquilaheywood.co.uk/


 

 

Version 1.00 - External © Heywood Limited trading as Aquila Heywood 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
Scheme-specific Data Quality Report 

Dorset County Pension Fund 

June 2021 

Page 53



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 2 of 48  

 

Table of Contents 

1 Executive Summary 4 

1.1 Introduction 4 

1.2 Data Quality Service 4 

1.3 Benchmark 5 

1.4 Summary of Scheme-specific Data Results 5 

1.4.1 Member Benefits Data 6 

1.4.2 Other Member Data 7 

1.4.3 CARE Benefits 7 

1.4.4 HMRC 7 

1.4.5 Contracting Out 8 

1.5 TPR Scheme-specific Data Core Test Results 9 

1.6 Other Information 10 

2 Scheme-specific Data Results 11 

2.1 Member Benefits Data Category 11 

2.1.1 Results 11 

2.1.2 Analysis of Results 12 

2.2 Other Member Data Category 17 

2.2.1 Data Results 17 

2.2.2 Analysis of Results 18 

2.3 CARE Benefits 21 

2.3.1 Data Results 21 

2.3.2 Analysis of Results 22 

2.4 HMRC 23 

2.4.1 Data Results 23 

2.4.2 Analysis of Results 24 

2.5 Contracting Out 26 

2.5.1 Data Results 26 

2.5.2 Analysis of Results 27 

3 Data Correction Plan 29 

4 Appendices 31 

4.1 Appendix A – TPR Guidance (In-Scope Tests) 31 

4.2 Appendix B – Benefit Crystallisation Events (In-Scope) 35 

Page 54



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 3 of 48  

 

4.3 Appendix C – Conditions and Fail Criteria 36 

 

Page 55



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 4 of 48  

 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 Introduction 

In 2015, the Pensions Regulator (TPR) assumed responsibility for Public Sector Pension 

Schemes. Prior to this, in June 2010, TPR issued guidance on the approach that they consider 

to be good practice for measuring the presence of member data. Specific targets were set 

for data TPR deemed as ‘common’ and Aquila Heywood has assisted customers in the 

collection and qualification of this data. TPR also outlined ‘scheme-specific’ data but did not 

set prescriptive targets as the data is deemed to be scheme-specific. The guidance did target 

Pension Scheme Trustees to ensure that ‘reasonable endeavours’ were undertaken to 

provide evidence of assessment and measurement, together with an action plan to meet the 

scheme specific targets. 

To assist customers in undertaking a practical assessment of their scheme-specific data, 

Aquila Heywood offers a Data Quality service. 

1.2 Data Quality Service  

Working with Dorset County Pension Fund (Dorset), Aquila Heywood has completed a 

review of Dorset scheme-specific pension data in line with the guidance notes set down by 

TPR detailed in appendix A. Aquila Heywood’s understanding of the Local Government 

Pension Scheme data, benefit calculations, interfaces and processes, has assisted in the 

agreement of which items to test. The tests to satisfy each condition have been run and the 

results quantified to provide guidance on any corrective action required.    

The following terms should be understood to aid understanding of the conditions used and 

the results obtained: 

• Data condition – identified TPR condition, for example check that an active member 

does not have a date of leaving 

• Data category – grouping of relevant data conditions, for example Member Benefits (see 

section 1.4 below) 

• Data item – item of data which forms part of a data condition for example ‘date of 

leaving’ 

The service incorporates in the order of 100 individual tests against the data conditions 

agreed with Dorset. To provide focus on the key areas of scheme-specific data to be 

addressed, each data category is measured against an agreed benchmark. 

Page 56



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 5 of 48  

 

In 2020, a set of “core” tests were identified for reporting to TPR. The results to be quoted to 

TPR are quoted separately from the overall test scores. For details of where the TPR tests 

differ from the overall tests, please refer to appendix C. 

1.3 Benchmark 

The benchmarks applied to the results presented in this report were agreed between Dorset 

and Aquila Heywood. The categories and thresholds are as follows: 

Category Pass Threshold 

Blue Pass rate >= 98% 

Green 95% <= Pass rate < 98% 

Amber 90% <= Pass rate < 95% 

Red Pass rate < 90% 

These benchmark ranges are illustrated in the background of subsequent results graphs. 

1.4 Summary of Scheme-specific Data Results 

The graph below indicates Dorset’s performance for each data category against the agreed 

scheme benchmarks together with the results from the 2020 tests. Also below is an 

explanation as to the data conditions relevant to each data category. The results presented 

herein are generated from data extracted from Dorset’s Live Altair service on 15th June 2021 

for all tests. The 2020 tests were generated from data extracted on 16th July 2020. The 

overall percentage of tests passed for Dorset’s scheme-specific data is 98.9%, an 

improvement over the 2020 score of 98.2%. The percentage of member records without a 

single scheme-specific data failure is 94.9%. This represents an improvement of 3.6% over 

the 2020 score of 91.3%. 

Page 57



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 6 of 48  

 

 

The total number of member records tested is 118,464, an increase of 2,114 records from 

the number tested in 2020. 

1.4.1 Member Benefits Data 

This category includes those data conditions for members that directly relate to the details 

of benefits in payment or to the calculation of benefits yet to be paid. 

A total number of 62,111 members qualified for one or more checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, an increase of 1,354 on 2020. Dorset set a minimum 90% 

benchmark target and achieved a 99.8% pass rate, placing it in the highest blue benchmark. 

This pass rate is a 0.2% improvement on 2020. The detailed analysis of each condition is in 

Section 2.1, but all 10 of the Data Conditions specified attained the highest benchmark 

category (Blue, >98%). The condition with the largest increase in the number of fails was 

Tranches of Original Deferred Benefits where an additional 9 members failed a test.  

 

 

 

 

9
9

.6

9
9

.0

9
9

.4

9
9

.9

9
0

.6

9
9

.8

9
9

.7

9
9

.7

1
0

0
.0

9
3

.1

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

9
3

.6

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2020
2021
TPR

Page 58



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 7 of 48  

 

1.4.2 Other Member Data 

This category includes those data items that may be used in the calculation of member 

benefits. 

A total number of 77,933 members qualified for one or more checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, an increase of 2,110 on 2020. Dorset set a minimum 90% 

benchmark target and achieved a 99.7% pass rate, attaining the highest blue benchmark. An 

improvement of 0.7% from 2020. The detailed analysis of each condition is in Section 2.2 

with 6 of the 7 Data Conditions specified attained the highest benchmark category (Blue, 

>98%). The lowest score was on the Contributions condition, where 97.9% of members 

passed, however this represents a 4.2% increase on 2020.  

1.4.3 CARE Benefits  

This category includes those data items required to calculate Career Average Revalued 

Earning (CARE) benefits. 

A total number of 43,916 members qualified for the checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, an increase of 1,363 on 2020. Dorset set a 90% minimum 

benchmark target and achieved a 99.7% pass rate, placing CARE benefits in the highest blue 

benchmark. This pass rate represents a 0.3% improvement on 2020. Failures in this category 

require investigation as CARE data directly affects member benefits.  

As CARE revaluation is calculated for each member from a single factor table, the table itself 

is checked for a complete list of factors and was given a 100% pass. The detailed analysis of 

the conditions is in Section 2.3. Fails in this category directly affect the calculation of 

member benefits and so should be resolved as a priority. 

1.4.4 HMRC  

This category includes those values recorded as a result of the Finance Act 2004 as well as 

Pre A-Day limits. 

A total number of 66,197 members qualified for one or more checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, an increase of 1,176 on 2020. The conditions within this 

category have been expanded for clarity and are detailed in Appendix B.   

Page 59



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 8 of 48  

 

Dorset set a 90% minimum benchmark target and achieved a pass rate rounded to 100% 

placing the category in the highest blue category. This pass rate represents a 0.1% 

improvement on 2020. The detailed analysis of each condition is in Section 2.4. The highest 

benchmark was achieved in 6 of the 7 categories. The BCE 7 (Death Benefits) condition 

attaining a pass rate of 90.2% placing the condition in the amber benchmark and represents 

an increase of 0.8% since 2020 due to an increase in the number of members qualifying for a 

test. The bulk of the failed cases did not have a death grant recorded where one was 

expected.  

1.4.5 Contracting Out  

This category includes those data items required to meet scheme contracting out conditions. 

A total number of 71,937 members qualified for one or more checks as part of the in-scope 

conditions under this category, an increase of 373 on 2020. Dorset set a 90% minimum 

benchmark target and achieved a 93.1% pass rate, placing Contracting Out in the amber 

benchmark. This pass rate is a 2.5% increase on 2020. The detailed analysis of each condition 

is in Section 2.5  but the highest individual score was achieved in the condition Date 

Contracted Out, where 18 members failed a test giving a rounded 100% pass rate. The 

remaining three categories in Contracting Out were benchmarked as red but with increases 

in the scores to 2020 of over 5% in each category. Fails in this category are likely to have an 

impact on GMP Reconciliation and so should be resolved either in advance, or as part of the 

GMP Reconciliation process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 9 of 48  

 

1.5 TPR Scheme-specific Data Core Test Results 

The percentage of member records that did not fail any of the tests deemed to be in the 

core list of TPR tests is 96.9%. This represents a 1.3% improvement on the 2020 score of 

95.6%. This is the figure to be quoted on the scheme return to TPR. The results for each 

qualifying category are shown below: 

 

 

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.6

1
0

0
.0

9
1

.1

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

9
3

.6

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2020

2021

Page 61



 

 

Version 1.10 - External        Page 10 of 48  

 

1.6 Other Information 

The remainder of this report is split into the following sections: 

• Scheme-specific Data Results – results of each in-scope condition per category along 

with the number of members tested, main failures and suggested risks and actions 

• Appendices – details to qualify failures against each condition, along with a list of TPR’s 

guidance relating to the Local Government Pension Scheme 

Where possible, Aquila Heywood has provided advice and suggested next actions to work 

with Dorset in implementing a solution to any data anomalies. This document is the start 

point for Dorset data management policy and Aquila Heywood will agree with Dorset the 

appropriate frequency to repeat these conditions and demonstrate progress in scheme-

specific data cleansing. 

Page 62



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 11 of 48  

 

2 Scheme-specific Data Results 

2.1 Member Benefits Data Category 

2.1.1 Results 

 

9
9

.0

9
9

.3

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.8

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

9
8

.8

1
0

0
.0

9
7

.3

9
9

.0

9
9

.6

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.7

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.4

9
9

.9

9
9

.2

9
9

.0

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.4

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2020

2021

TPR

P
age 63



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 12 of 48  

 

2.1.2 Analysis of Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Divorce Details 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
where Calculation Date 
(DVC-CALDTE) has a 
value 

104 
 
(+7) 

103 
 
(+7) 

99% 
 
(+0.07%) 

99% 
 
(+0.07%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

0 
0 
0 
0 
1 
0 

1 member has a blank pension debit amount. The same result as 2020. 
This test counts towards the core TPR score. 

Transfer In Details 
1 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
where transfer In 
details exist 

8424 
 
(+199) 

8394 
 
(+224) 

99.6% 
 
(+0.31%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

0 
0 
2 
24 
6 
0 

25 member records have been corrected since 2020 leading to an 
improvement of 0.31% in the pass rate for this condition.  

There are 2 failures where there is no service credit or pension credit 
recorded from the transfer that will require investigation. Providing the 
service was recorded correctly on the service history, member benefits 
will be correct. 

A common fail with 24 instances is where there is a service credit, but no 
corresponding service dates on the service history that should be 
investigated urgently.  

6 instances concerned a missing transfer type which were all received in 
2021. This fault may lead to incorrect reporting but will not affect 
benefits for these members.  

P
age 64



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 13 of 48  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Transfer In Details 
2 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 

where transfer In 

details exist 

8424 
 
(+199) 

8424 
 
(+199) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

N/A Fail A: 0 
 
 
 

All members passed the test in this condition for the third consecutive 
year. 

AVC Details 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 

where AVC details exist 

4007 
 
(+83) 

4007 
 
(+83) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

0 
0 
0 
0 

All members passed tests in this condition for the second consecutive 
year. 

Total Original 
Deferred Benefit 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 
 

24889 
 
(+96) 

24822 
 
(+87) 

99.7% 
 
(-0.04%) 

100% 
 
(+0.01%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

0 
1 
0 
0 
0 
66 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has increased by 9 
since 2020 translating to a 0.04% decrease in the pass rate.  

1 member has a value in initial pension that is less than £0.50.  

66 members have a latest PI date earlier than the latest PI date 
processed. These cases should be investigated ahead of producing 
deferred ABS 

P
age 65



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 14 of 48  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Tranches of 
Original Deferred 
Benefit 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 

24889 
 
(+96) 

24875 
 
(+128) 

99.9% 
 
(+0.13%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

1 
11 
0 
0 
0 
2 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has reduced by 32 
to 14 since 2020.   

1 member is missing or has a small PEN tranche which is a mandatory 
amount and counts towards the TPR score.  

11 members had a total initial pension that did not equal the total of the 
protected, unprotected and tapered pensions. 2 members with pre-08 
service did not have a scheme lump sum recorded. Neither of these tests 
are included in the TPR core tests. 

Total Gross 
Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 5 & T 

21793 
 
(+864) 

21790 
 
(+863) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 

0 
2 
1 
0 
0 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has increased by 1 
to 3 members. 

1 member is missing a total current pension value. This test counts 
towards the TPR score. 

2 members have an initial pension of less than £0.50. This test does not 
count towards the TPR core results. 

P
age 66



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 15 of 48  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Tranches of 
Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 5& T 

21793 
 
(+864) 

21667 
 
(+983) 

99.4% 
 
(+0.59%) 

99.4% 
 
(+0.59%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

2 
0 
1 
0 
122 
1 

126 members now fail tests in this condition which is a decrease of 119 
on the 245 members that failed in 2020. This has resulted in a 0.59% 
increase in the pass rate.  

1 member with post 2014 service has a missing or small CARE component 
and 122 members have a latest PI date earlier than the latest processed, 
a decrease of 117 since 2020. These tests are included in the TPR core 
results. 
 

2 members are either missing or have a small value in the PEN tranche 
which is mandatory. 1 member does not have PEN or GMP as the first 
component. These tests do not count in the TPR core results. 

Total Gross 
Dependant 
Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 6 

2894 
 
(+105) 

2892 
 
(+104) 

99.9% 
 
(-0.03%) 

99.9% 
 
(-0.03%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 

2 
0 
1 
0 
1 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has increased by 1 
to 2 since 2020. 

2 members have no initial pension value, of which 1 is also missing a 
current pension value and a PI effective date. These tests counts towards 
the TPR core results.  

P
age 67



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 16 of 48  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Tranches of 
Dependant 
Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 6 

2894 
 
(+105) 

2872 
 
(+157) 

99.2% 
 
(+1.89%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 

1 
21 
 
 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has decreased by 
52 leading to a increase of 1.89% in the pass rate. 

1 member failed the only test included in the TPR core results. The 
member is either missing or has a small value in the PEN tranche.  

21 members have a last PI date earlier than the latest date processed by 
Dorset and should be investigated as a high priority to ensure correct 
benefits are in payment.  P

age 68



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 17 of 48  

 

2.2 Other Member Data Category 

2.2.1 Data Results 

 

 

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
3

.7 1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
7

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2020
2021
TPR

P
age 69



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 18 of 48  

 

2.2.2 Analysis of Results 

Pension Credit members are excluded from tests in this category. 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Date of Leaving 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

77933 
 
(+2110) 

77877 
 
(+2166) 

99.9% 
 
(+0.08%) 

99.9% 
 
(+0.08%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

10 
0 
29 
17 

The number of members failing a test in this condition has decreased 
from 112 to 56 from 2020 resulting in a 0.08% increase in the pass rate.  

10 members have a blank or invalid data left and this should be 
investigated as their benefits may be incorrect. 6 members failed this test 
last year. 29 members have a date joined fund that is later than or equal 
to date left, down from 93 in 2020. These 2 tests are included in the TPR 
core results. 

17 active members have a date of leaving present without a previous 
deferred or frozen leaver status.  

Date Joined 
Scheme 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

77933 
 
(+2110) 

77932 
 
(+2111) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 

0 
1 

The number of members failing a test in this condition has reduced by 1.  

1 member has a date joined fund earlier or equal to their 15th birthday. 
This test is not included in the TPR core results. 

Employer Details 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

77933 
 
(+2110) 

77933 
 
(+2111) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

0 
0 
0 
0 

No members have failed tests in this condition. In 2020, 1 member failed 
a test.  

P
age 70



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 19 of 48  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Salary (Final 
Salary members) 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

 

67966 
 
(+1323) 

67936 
 
(+1300) 

100% 
 
(-0%) 

100% 
 
(-0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 
Fail F: 

13 
0 
0 
2 
0 
26 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has increased from 
7 to 30. 

13 members with pre-2014 service have a blank entry for their latest pay 
date. No members failed this test in 2020. This test is included in the TPR 
core results. 

2 deferred members have a blank or small pensionable pay on their 
deferred details. 26 members had a latest salary recorded that was earlier 
than the latest bulk update by Dorset and should be investigated to 
determine if they are still active members. Neither of these tests are 
included in the TPR core results. 

Annual benefit statements cannot be processed for members with final 
salary service without a pay recorded and therefore investigation should 
be made to ensure no members are affected in this way. 

Contributions 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

77933 
 
(+2110) 

76262 
 
(+5213) 

97.9% 
 
(+4.15%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 

1379 
412 

The number of failed tests in this condition has decreased from 4774 to 
1671 representing an increase in the pass rate of 4.15%.  

This condition is excluded from the TPR core results. 

1379 are missing the rolled up contribution total. The bulk contribution 
totalling calculation will populate the rolled up contribution total for 
active members where contributions exist. 412 members did not have a 
contribution posting for the latest bulk update by Dorset and these 
should be investigated to determine if they are still active members. 120 
members failed both tests. 

P
age 71



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 20 of 48  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Leavers 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4, 5, 9 & T 

51908 
 
(+358) 

51908 
 
(+360) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

0 
0 
0 

2 members failed tests in this condition in 2020.  

All members now pass all tests in this condition. 

Service 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

77933 
 
(+2110) 

77933 
 
(+2113) 

100% 
 
(+0%) 

N/A Fail A: 0 
 

3 members failed tests in this condition in 2020.  

All members now pass all tests in this condition. 

P
age 72



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 21 of 48  

 

2.3 CARE Benefits 

2.3.1 Data Results 

 

 

9
9

.4

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.7

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.8

1
0

0
.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2020

2021

TPR

P
age 73



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 22 of 48  

 

2.3.2 Analysis of Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

CARE data 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

43916 
 
(+1363) 

43790 
 
(+1487) 

99.7% 
 
(+0.3%) 

99.8% 
 
(+0.18%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

14 
103 
40 
 

The number of failed tests in this condition has decreased from 250 to 
126 translating to a 0.3% improvement in the pass rate. 

103 members appear to be missing at least one year-end entry of CARE 
data. This has reduced by 72 since 2020. Some members failing this test 
joined the fund in March and may not have been received payment in the 
scheme year of entry so may be genuine exceptions. This test is included 
in the TPR core results. 

There are 14 members without CARE data where some is expected, while 
40 members have a contribution entry recorded for a year in which there 
are no CARE benefits recorded.  

This data is crucial to the calculation of member benefits and the 
employers with missing data should be reminded of the importance of 
providing this data as soon as possible. Annual Benefits Statements 
cannot be processed without this information. 

CARE Revaluation 

Eligible for Testing:  
Revaluation Factor 
Table 

1 1 100% 
 
(0%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 
 

None  The revaluation table is present and correct 

 

P
age 74



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 23 of 48  

 

2.4 HMRC 

2.4.1 Data Results 

 

 

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

8
9

.4

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
0

.2

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2020

2021

TPR

P
age 75



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 24 of 48  

 

2.4.2 Analysis of Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

BCE 2 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 5 & T where 
Date Retired > 
6/4/2006 

16576 
 
(+1144) 

16576 
 
(+1145) 

100% 
 
(+0.01%) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

0 
0 
0 

All members tested passed all tests in this condition, in 2020 1 member 
failed a test.  

 

BCE 5 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 & T 

24892 
 
(+98) 

24888 
 
(+95) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

N/A Fail A: 4 1 member had failed the test in 2020. 

4 members with deferred benefits are over the age of 75. This test is not 
included in the TPR core tests. 

BCE 6 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 5 & T members 
where Date Retired > 
6/4/2006 and Age at 
Date Retired < 75 

16569 
 
(+1144) 

16568 
 
(+1152) 

100% 
 
(+0.05%) 

100% 
 
(+0.06%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

0 
0 
1 

9 members failed tests in this condition on 2020. There is now 1 member 
failing tests. 

1 member has invalid crystallisation data recorded following serious ill-
health. This test is not included in the TPR core results. 

BCE 7 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 7 members 
where Date of Death 
(from Exit Details) is 
after 6/4/06 and 
within 5 years of Date 
Retired  

306 
 
(+22) 

276 
 
(+22) 

90.2% 
 
(+0.76%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 

17 
13 

30 members failed tests in this condition for a fourth consecutive year. This 
condition is not included in the TPR core tests. 

17 members have a death grant of zero where a value was expected. 

13 members have a total death grant value but at least one of the 
crystallised value and percentage at the date of death is blank or 0.  

P
age 76



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 25 of 48  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

BCE 8 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 3 members 
where Date Left is > 
6/4/2006 and there is 
a value in QROPS 
Transfer Date  

33 
 
(0) 

33 
 
(0) 

100% 
 
(0%) 

N/A Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 

0 
0 
0 
0 

All members tested passed all tests in this condition for the fifth 
consecutive year. This condition is not included in the TPR core tests.  

  

Lifetime 
Allowance 
Charge Paid 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T where 

Date Retired is after 

6/4/2006  

(ignoring members 
where Date, Amount 
& Indicator) are ticked 
in either Enhanced 
Protection or Payment 
of PCLS Reportable 
Events (Reportable 
Events 1 & 2 on 
Crystallisation screen) 

16569 
 
(+1141) 

16567 
 
(+1146) 

100% 
 
(+0.03%) 

100% 
 
(+0.03%) 

Fail A: 2 7 members failed this test in 2020, there are now 2 member fails.  

2 members appear to have exceeded the Lifetime Allowance and do not 
have a tax charge recorded. This test is included in the TPR core results. 

Annual 
Allowance 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1 members 

24390 
 
(-88) 

24385 
 
(-77) 

100% 
 
(+0.04%) 

100% 
 
(+0.04%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 

5 
0 

16 members failed tests in this condition in 2020. This has now reduced to 
5 resulting in a 0.04% increase in the pass rate. 

There are 5 active members without the latest AA data recorded that was 
processed by Dorset. This test is included in the TPR core results. 

P
age 77



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 26 of 48  

 

2.5 Contracting Out 

2.5.1 Data Results 

 

 

9
9

.9

7
1

.2

8
0

.8

6
9

.9

1
0

0
.0

7
7

.0

8
9

.2

7
5

.6

1
0

0
.0

8
0

.8

8
9

.2

7
5

.6

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

P
as

s 
R

at
e

 (
%

)

2020

2021

TPR

P
age 78



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 27 of 48  

 

2.5.2 Analysis of Results 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Date Contracted 
Out 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
members 

71937 
 
(+373) 

71919 
 
(+433) 

100% 
 
(+0.08%) 

100% 
 
(+0.08%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

18 
0 
0 
 

78 members failed tests in this condition in 2020. 

18 members now have a blank DCO and joined prior to 6/4/16. 9 are active 
members and 1 is a leaver awaiting processing. The remaining 8 are 
deferred or pensioners. This test is included in the TPR core results. 

NI Contributions 
/ Earnings History 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 
members where NI-
Table is not E and date 
contracted out is on 
or after 6/4/78 AND 
before 6/4/1997 

14583 
 
(-896) 

11229 
 
(+211) 

77% 
 
(+5.82%) 

80.8% 
 
(+6.06%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 
Fail D: 
Fail E: 

0 
712 
0 
0 
2801 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has decreased by 
1107 to 3354 while the number qualifying for tests has reduced by 896, 
resulting in a 5.82% increase in the pass rate. 

2801 members have neither a full NI earnings history nor a GMP recorded 
(Failed both C and D simultaneously) this has increased by 1110 since 2020. 
These tests are included in the TPR core results. 

712 members do not have values that correspond with Period End Dates. If 
there are GMP details for these members, the data will not be required. 
This test is excluded from the TPR core results. 

This data is key for correct assessment and payment of benefits. 

Pre 88 GMP 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4, 5 & T 
members where 
Contract Out SSPA75 
is before 6/4/88 

6306 
 
(-776) 

5624 
 
(-98) 

89.2% 
 
(+8.39%) 

89.2% 
 
(+8.39%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

682 
0 
0 
 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has decreased by 678 
to 682. The number of members qualifying for these tests has fallen by 776, 
resulting in an 8.39% increase in the pass rate. 

682 members that have left with pre 1988 service are missing a GMP at 
exit. This test is included in the TPR core results. 

P
age 79



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 28 of 48  

 

Condition 

Qualifying Members Pass Rate 

Areas for Review Comments 
Tested 

(change) 
Passed 

(change) 
Overall 

(change) 
TPR 

(change) 

Post 88 GMP 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4, 5 & T 
members where 
Contract Out SSPA75 
is before 6/4/97 and 
Date Left is after 
6/5/1988 

13503 
 
(-661) 

10209 
 
(+315) 

75.6% 
 
(+5.75%) 

75.6% 
 
(+5.75%) 

Fail A: 
Fail B: 
Fail C: 

3094 
2984 
0 
 

The number of members failing tests in this condition has decreased by 976 
to 3294 while the number qualifying for tests has reduced by 661, resulting 
in a 5.75% increase in the pass rate. 

Of the 3294 members who failed a test; 2784 are missing both a value for 
Total GMP and a value for Post 88 GMP at exit. A further 310 members are 
missing just a Total GMP and 200 members are missing Post 88 GMP at 
exit. These tests are included in the TPR core results. 

 

 

P
age 80



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 29 of 48  

 

3 Data Correction Plan 
The table below provides Dorset with suggestions for resolving the issues identified in Section 2 and a suggested priority. This table is deliberately high-level as the 

detail and dates should be agreed once the results have been thoroughly reviewed. The milestones represent a summary of the recommended actions outlined in 

more detail in Section 2.  

Data Category Milestone Suggested Priority 

Member Benefits • Investigate the 1 incorrect divorce record 

• Investigate the 30 cases with incomplete Transfer In data with a high priority as benefits may be incorrect 

• Correct the 81 issues with deferred benefit cases prior to running deferred annual benefit statements 

• Investigate the 129 defects in pension benefits  

• Investigate the 24 Dependant Pensioner cases  

• Investigate all cases where the latest PI does not appear to have been applied  

• High 

• High 

• High 

• High 

• High 

• VERY HIGH 

Other Member 
Data 

• Investigate the 56 cases with either an unexplained date of leaving present or a missing date of leaving 

• Investigate the 1 case with an incorrect date for when they joined the Scheme 

• Investigate the 30 final salary pay issues prior to running annual benefit statements 

• Investigate cases with missing contributions prior to running annual benefit statements 

• Low 

• High 

• High 

• Medium 

CARE Data • Investigate all data issues in this category by status prior to issuing annual benefit statements for that status. 

Pensioners should be investigated as soon as possible to ensure correct benefits are in payment 

• High 

P
age 81



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 30 of 48  

 

Data Category Milestone Suggested Priority 

HMRC • Investigate the 4 members with deferred benefits that are over the age of 75 

• Investigate the 1 case with invalid serious ill-health crystallisation data 

• Investigate the 30 cases with missing death grant data 

• Investigate the 2 members that has exceeded the LTA without a tax charge recorded 

• Investigate the 5 cases with missing Annual Allowance data  

• Medium 

• Medium 

• Low 

• High 

• High 

Contracting Out  • Investigate the 18 cases with incorrect Date Contracted Out data  

• Investigate missing and incorrect data for NI contributions and earnings history 

• Review and update GMP values in conjunction with the GMP Reconciliation process  

• Obtain and upload GMP figures for the members with missing data as a high priority 

• Medium 

• Medium 

• Medium 

• High 

P
age 82



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 31 of 48  

 

4 Appendices 

4.1 Appendix A – TPR Guidance (In-Scope Tests) 

Member Benefits 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Pension Sharing Details Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

If a member has had a pension sharing order, check that full details of the benefits transferred to the ex-spouse/ex-civil 
partner are present. 

Transfer In Details Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

If benefits have been transferred in, check that all relevant details are recorded. This will include (as a minimum) the details of 
the previous scheme, the amount of the transfer value (split between protected rights and non protected rights and, if 
relevant, split between the amount received in respect of the member and employer contributions and AVCs), benefits 
secured, (if relevant) contracting out details. 

AVC Details Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that there is a history of any AVCs paid, type of investment, current provider, and (if relevant) benefits being secured  

 

Total Original Deferred Benefit Deferred Check that total original deferred benefit is present (either derived or explicit). 

Tranches of Original Deferred 
Benefit 

Deferred Check that there is a breakdown of the various tranches of the total deferred benefit. This must identify tranches with 
different rates of increases either in deferment or in payment, and tranches with different contingent spouse's/civil partner's 
benefits. Likely to include such items as pre/post 1997 splits, pre/post 2005 splits, Barber splits, VFM underpin etc. Details of 
the date at that any tranche is payable, if different from the scheme's normal retirement date, will also be required. The sum 
of the individual components must equal any total deferred pension that is recorded on the system. 

Total Gross Pension Pensioner Check that a total pension is present (either derived or explicit).  

P
age 83



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 32 of 48  

 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Tranches of Pension Pensioner Check that there is a breakdown of the various tranches of the total pension, identifying tranches with different rates of 
increase and contingent spouse’s/civil partner’s benefits. The sum of the individual components must equal any total pension 
that is recorded on the system. 

Other Member Data 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Date of Leaving Deferred, 
Pensioner 

For trust-based schemes, check that member has a date of leaving that is after date joined 

Date Joined Scheme Active, Deferred Check that the date joined scheme is present, later than date of birth, and not earlier than date joined company. False dates 
should be classed as missing data.  

Date joined employing 
company  

Active, Deferred For members of multi-employer schemes check that date joined employing company is present and is later than date of birth. 
False dates should be classed as missing data.  

Salary Active, Deferred Check that there is at least one relevant salary within the last 12 months of membership.  

Salary History Active, Deferred Check that a relevant salary exists for each of the last 5 renewal periods of membership and is greater than £0.50. 

Contributions Pensioner For contributory schemes check that there is a contribution amount present for each year of active membership, or that a 
contribution total is present.  

Date of leaving (date 
pensionable service ended)/ 
date last 
premium/contribution paid 

Deferred, 
Pensioner 

For trust-based schemes check that member has a date of leaving which is after date joined scheme, and that member status 
is not active if date of leaving is present. 

P
age 84



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 33 of 48  

 

CARE Data 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Accrued benefit details  

 
Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that accrued benefit details are present if they are updated and recorded annually. If benefits are calculated from first 
principles when member leaves, all relevant salary & contribution will be required instead.  

Revaluation percentage  
 

Global Table Check that there is a history of revaluation percentage for the accrued pension for each relevant year, if benefits have not 
been not uprated and recorded annually.  
 

HMRC 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Benefit Crystallisation Event 
Details 

Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that full details of the dates and amounts paid at each benefit crystallisation event, including details of LTA percentage 
used, are present. 

Lifetime Allowance Charge 
Paid 

Pensioner Check that the date and amount of any lifetime allowance charge paid is present.  

  

P
age 85



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 34 of 48  

 

Contracting Out 

Condition Status Tested TPR Guidance 

Date Contracted Out Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that this is present and not earlier than 06/04/1978. 

N.I. History (Contracted Out 
earnings & contributions) 

Active, Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that members have a full contracted-out history during any period contracted out on a GMP basis. A verified GMP, 
agreed with NISPI, would be an acceptable alternative. Not required for reduced rate females. 

Pre 88 GMP Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that a member with at least one month of pre 4/88 contracted out service has a pre 88 GMP. GMP must be divisible by 
52. May be derived if total GMP and post 4/88 GMP are recorded. 

Post 88 GMP Deferred, 
Pensioner 

Check that a member with at least one month of post 4/88 service contracted out on a GMP basis has a post 88 GMP. Can be 
derived or explicit.  

 
  

P
age 86



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 35 of 48  

 

4.2 Appendix B – Benefit Crystallisation Events (In-Scope) 

Benefit Crystallisation Event Description 

BCE2 Where a member becomes entitled to a scheme pension, whether from a defined benefits arrangement or a money purchase arrangement. 

BCE5 Test the level of entitlements not taken by a member at age 75 under a defined benefits arrangement, by measure of the level of benefits that 

would come into payment at that time, if drawn. 

BCE6 A lifetime allowance test is triggered through BCE6 whenever a member becomes entitled under a registered pension scheme to:  

• A pension commencement lump sum paid before age 75, when uncrystallised benefits are drawn under an arrangement  

• A serious ill health lump sum paid before age 75, where the individual falls into serious ill health  

• A lifetime allowance excess lump sum where a chargeable amount has been identified because the individual’s lifetime allowance has 

been fully used up.  

BCE7 Where a relevant lump sum death benefit is paid on the death of the member. 

BCE8 Where a member’s benefits or rights are transferred to a qualifying recognised overseas pension scheme.  

  

P
age 87



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 36 of 48  

 

4.3 Appendix C – Conditions and Fail Criteria 

Member Benefits 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Divorce Details  

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T where 

Calculation Date 

(DVC-CALDTE) has a value 

Value is  missing in total 
pension debit 
(DVC-TOTINI) 

Value prior to 01/12/2000 
is present in calculation 
date (DVC-CALDTE) 

Value prior to 01/12/2000 
is present in Payment 
Date  (DVC-PAYDTE) 

CETV (DVC-TVAMT) is 
blank or 0) 

Pension debit 
(DVC-CONAMT) is blank 
or 0 

Percentage split 
(DVC-PCSPLT) is blank, 0 
or over 100 

Tested: 104 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 

Transfer In Details 1 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T where 

transfer In details exist  

Date received 
(ADD-TV-DT) is blank or 0 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

Transfer Value is blank or 
0 (ADD-TV) 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

Service (ADD-BD-CR) and 
transferred pension (ADD-
RETP) are both blank or 0 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

If service (ADD-BS-CR) > 0, 
service history must be 
present. There must be a 
service history line that 
starts (HIST-START) on the 
same date as previous 
scheme from ADD-FROM) 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results  

Type (ADD-TYPE) is not 
valid ie CLUB, INTERFND, 
NON CLUB, PERSONAL, 
RESTITUTIO or some have 
INTRAFND 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Date TV Received is 
invalid or < date joined 
fund (DJF) 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 8424 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 2 Failed: 24 Failed: 6 Failed: 0 

Transfer In Details 2 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T where 

transfer In details exist  

Previous scheme name 
(ADD-PR-SCH) or 
employer reference (ADD-
PR-EMP) must be present 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

     

Tested: 8424 Failed: 0      

P
age 88



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 37 of 48  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

AVC Details 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T where 

AVC details exist 

If AVC Details present 
then start date 
(AVC-START) must be 
present 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

If AVC Details present 
then contract end date 
(AVC-TE-DUE) must be 
present and equal to or 
later than AVC-START 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

If AVC Details present and 
type (AVC-TYPE) is A, B, G, 
L, P, R, S then added years 
(AVC-ADDY) must be 
greater than 0 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

If AVC Details present and 
type (AVC-TYPE) is H, M 
then pension  (AVC-P75T) 
must be greater than 0 
and less than or equal to 
the scheme maximum 

Only Actives (1), 
undecided leavers (2) and 
deferred (4) are counted 
for the TPR results 

  

Tested: 4007 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0   

Total Original Deferred 

Benefit 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 

No value in Initial Pension 
(DEF-TOT-IP) 

The value in Initial 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

No value in total current 
pension (DEF-TOT-CP) 

The value in total current 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

PI date (DEF-INC-DT) must 
be present and later than 
date joined fund (DJF) 

Last PI date (DEF-PI-DT[1]) 
is earlier than last PI date 
processed by customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 24889 Failed: 0 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 66 

Tranches of Original 

Deferred Benefit 

Eligible for Testing:  
Status 4 

Member has no ‘PEN' 
tranche (DEF-TYPE) or has 
one with a value less than 
or equal to a small figure 
(default of £0.50) agreed 
with customer. (including 
negative values)  

'PEN' + ‘UPEN’ + ‘TAPE’ 
does not equal Total 
Initial Pension  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Member with service 
between 01/04/2008 (09 
S&NI) and 31/03/2014 (15 
S&NI) has no ‘PN60’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than a small 
figure (default of £0.50) 
agreed with customer 

Member with post 
31/03/2014 (15 S&NI) 
service has no ‘CARE’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than or equal to 
a small figure (default of 
£0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Member with CARE5050 
or TVINLG50 CARE data 
has no ‘CP50’ tranche or 
has one with a value less 
than or equal to a small 
figure (default of £0.50) 
agreed with customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Member with pre 
01/04/2008 (09 S&NI) 
service has no ‘RA’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than or equal to 
a small figure (default of 
£0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 24889 Failed: 1 Failed: 11 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 2 

P
age 89



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 38 of 48  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Total Gross Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T 

No value in Initial Pension 
(PEN-TOT-IP) 

The value in Initial 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

No value in total current 
pension (PEN-TOT-C) 

The value in total current 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

PI date (PEN-INC-DT) must 
be present and later than 
DJF 

 

Tested: 21793 Failed: 0 Failed: 2 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 Failed: 0  

Tranches of Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T 

‘PEN’ tranche (PEN-TYPE) 
has a value less than or 
equal to a small figure 
(default of £0.50) agreed 
with customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Member with service 
between 01/04/2008 (09 
S&NI) and 31/03/2014 (15 
S&NI) has no ‘PN60’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than or equal to 
a small figure (default of 
£0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Member with post 
31/03/2014 (15 S&NI) 
service has no ‘CARE’ 
tranche or has one with a 
value less than or equal to 
a small figure (default of 
£0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Member with CARE5050 
or TVINLG50 CARE data 
has no ‘CP50’ tranche or 
has one with a value less 
than or equal to a small 
figure (default of £0.50) 
agreed with customer 

Last PI date 
(PEN-PI-DT[1]) is earlier 
than last PI date 
processed by customer 

The first pension 
component on the list 
must be either ‘PEN’ or 
‘GMP’ 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 21793 Failed: 2 Failed: 0 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 Failed: 122 Failed: 1 

Total Gross Dependant 

Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 6  

No value in Initial Pension 
(DEP-TOT-IP) 

The value in Initial 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

No value in total current 
pension (DEP-TOT-C) 

The value in total current 
Pension is between £0.01 
and a small figure (default 
of £0.50) agreed with 
customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

PI date (DEP-INC-DT) must 
be present  

 

Tested: 2894 Failed: 2 Failed: 0 Failed: 1 Failed: 0 Failed: 1  

P
age 90



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 39 of 48  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Tranches of Dependant 

Pension 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 6  

‘PEN’ tranche (DEP-TYPE) 
has a value less than or 
equal to a small figure 
(default of £0.50) agreed 
with customer 

Last PI date (DEP-PI-DT) is 
earlier than last PI date 
processed by customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

Tested: 2894 Failed: 1 Failed: 21     

 

  

P
age 91



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 40 of 48  

 

Other Member Details 

Pension Credit members are excluded from tests in this category. 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Date of Leaving 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T  

A non-Status 1 member 
has a blank entry or an 
invalid date in Date Left 
(DATE-LEFT) 

Date Joined Fund (DJF) is 

either blank or earlier 

than or equal to 1/1/1900 

Date Joined Fund is later 

than or equal to Date Left 

if Date Left present 

Date left is present for a 
status 1 member who 
does not have a previous 
status of 4 or 9  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

  

Tested: 77933 Failed: 10 Failed: 0 Failed: 29 Failed: 17   

Date Joined Scheme 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

Any of Date Joined 
Scheme (DJF), Date of 
Birth (DOB) and/or Date 
commenced current 
service (DCCPS) Joined 
Fund are either blank or 
earlier than or equal to 
1/1/1900 

 

Date Joined Fund (DJF) is 
earlier or equal to Date of 
Birth (DOB) plus 15 years 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

Tested: 77933 Failed: 0 Failed: 1     

Employer Details 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

Location (LOCATION) is 
blank 

Date Joined employer 
(DT-JOIN-EM) is either 
blank or earlier than or 
equal to 1/1/1900 

Date Joined employer 
must be earlier than date 
of birth (DOB) plus 15 
years 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Employment type (CLASS) 
is blank  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

  

Tested: 77933 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0   

P
age 92



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 41 of 48  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Salary (Final Salary 

members)  

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

A member with pre-
01/04/2014 (2015 in 
S&NI) service has an 
invalid or blank date in 
the latest instance of 
Pensionable 
remuneration (PEN-REM) 

For non-status 1 or 2 
members, the latest 
instance of Pensionable 
remuneration does not 
equal the member’s 
DATE-LEFT  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

The latest instance of 
Pensionable 
remuneration contains a 
valid date (PEN-REM-DT) 
but there is no 
corresponding amount  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Status 4 member does not 
have a value in 
DEF-PENREM or a value 
less than a small figure 
(default of £0.50) agreed 
with customer 

Test is excluded from 
the TPR results 

Status 5 or T member 
does not have a value in 
PEN-PS-REM or a value 
less than a small figure 
(default of £0.50) agreed 
with customer 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

For status 1 members the 
latest pensionable 
remuneration date must 
be equal to or later than 
the customer’s last 
posting date 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Tested: 67966 Failed: 13 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 2 Failed: 0 Failed: 26 

Contributions 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T  

Total Paid Including 
Interest (TCI-TOTAL) is 
blank or less than a small 
figure (default of £0.50) 
agreed with customer 

Test is excluded from 
the TPR results 

For status 1 members the 
latest date must be equal 
to or later than the 
customer’s last posting 
date and have a 
corresponding figure 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

Tested: 77933 Failed: 1379 Failed: 412     

Leavers 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 4, 5, 9 & T  

Date Left (DATE-LEFT) is 
either blank or is earlier 
than or equal to 1/1/1900 

Date Joined Scheme (DJF) 

is either blank or is earlier 

than or equal to 1/1/1900 

Date Left is earlier than 
Date Joined Scheme 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

   

Tested: 51908 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

P
age 93



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 42 of 48  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Service 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5, 9 & T 

If DCCPS > DJF, and DJF < 
01/04/2014(15 S&NI)), 
service history must be 
present 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

     

Tested: 77933 Failed: 0      

CARE Benefits 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

CARE data 

Eligible for Testing:  

All status 1 and status 2, 

4, 5, 9 & T where Date 

Left is after 31/03/14 

(31/03/15 in S&NI) 

If member has post-
31/03/2014 (2015 in 
S&NI) service then at least 
one of LGPSMAIN or 
LGPS5050 must be 
present if the member 
joined before the start of 
the current scheme year 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Every 31/03 from later of 
DJF or 2015 (2016 in 
S&NI) to earlier of date-
left or current date must 
be present as an end date 
on at least one of 
LGPSMAIN, LGPS5050, 
TVINLGMN or TVINLG50 
 

If contributions at any 
31/03 from later of DJF or 
2015 (2016 in S&NI) to 
earlier of date-left or 
current date are > 0, there 
must be an entry on at 
least one of LGPSMAIN or 
LGPS5050 for the same 
date with a pay figure > 0 
Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 
 

   

Tested: 43916 Failed: 14 Failed: 103 Failed: 40    

CARE revaluation 

Eligible for Testing:  

Revaluation Factor Table 

Every 31/03 from 2015 
(2016 in S&NI) to date 
must be present on factor 
table 
000/B/00/684/2014/0101
2012 

The rates on the table do 
not match the record of 
HM treasury rates 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

 Failed: 0 Failed: 0     

P
age 94



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 43 of 48  

 

HMRC 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

BCE 2 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T where Date 

Retired > 6/4/2006 

Crystallisation Date (CRYS-
CRSYSD) is not a valid 
date or is earlier than 
date left 

PLA Value (CRYS-PLA) is 
blank 

PLA% (CRYS-PLAPC) is 
blank 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

   

Tested: 16576 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

BCE 5 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 4 & T  

Any member of these 
deferred statuses where 
the member is over the 
age of 75 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

     

Tested: 24892 Failed: 4      

BCE 6 

Eligible for Testing: 

 Status 5 & T where Date 

Retired > 6/4/2006 and 

Age at Date Retired < 75 

Crystallisation Date is not 
a valid date (CRYS-PPD) or 
is earlier than date left 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results as they are 
included in BCE2 

PCLS amount (CRYS-PPA) 
is blank if PEN-TOT-AL is > 
zero 

There is a date in Serious 
Ill Health Lump Sum 
Payment (CRYS-ILLD) but 
no corresponding amount 
(CRYS-ILLA) 

OR 

There is an amount in 
Serious Ill Health Lump 
Payment but no 
corresponding date 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

   

Tested: 16569 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 1    

P
age 95



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 44 of 48  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

BCE 7 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 7 where Date of 

Death (from Exit Details) 

is after 6/4/06 and within 

5 years of Date Retired 

Total death grant 
(CDTC-TOTLS) is blank (To 
be checked in first run 
and removed if deemed 
not relevant.) 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

There is a value >0 in 
Total death grant but one 
or more of the following 
fields is blank or 0: 

Crystallised Value at Date 
of Death (CDTC-CVAL) 

Crystallised % Value at 
Date of Death 
(CDTV-CVALP) 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

    

Tested: 306 Failed: 17 Failed: 13     

BCE 8 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 3 where Date Left 

is > 6/4/2006 and there is 

a value in QROPS Transfer 

Date 

QROPS Transfer Date 
(CRYS-TFRD) is not a valid 
date or is earlier than 
date left 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

QROPS Transfer Amount 
(CRYS-TFRA) is blank 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Date of Birth (DOB) is not 
a valid date 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

Age at QROPS Transfer 
Date is over 75 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results 

  

Tested: 33 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 0   

P
age 96



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 45 of 48  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Lifetime Allowance 

Charge paid 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 5 & T where Date 

Retired is after 6/4/2006 

(ignoring members where 

Date, Amount & 

Indicator) are ticked in 

either Enhanced 

Protection or Payment of 

PCLS Reportable Events 

(Reportable Events 1 & 2 

on Crystallisation screen) 

Value in Used PLA% 
(CRYS-TPPC)  is greater 
than 100% and there is no 
value in any of LTA Charge 
(CRYS-LTACH), 25% LTA 
Charge (CRYS-LTA25) or 
55% LTA Charge (CRYS-
LTA55) 

     

Tested: 16569 Failed: 2      

Annual Allowance  

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1  

 

Latest annual allowance 
PIP end date is earlier 
than the latest run by the 
customer 

If a scheme pays indicator 
is ticked, the scheme pays 
amount is not present OR 
a scheme pays amount is 
present, but the scheme 
pays indicator is not 
ticked  

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results  

    

Tested: 24390 Failed: 5 Failed: 0     

 

  

P
age 97



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 46 of 48  

 

Contracting Out 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Date Contracted Out 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T  

Contract-Out SSPA75 is 
blank and DJF is prior to 
6/4/16 

Contract-Out SSPA75 is 
prior to 6/4/78 

The date in Contract-Out 
SSPA75 is later than 
5/4/16 

   

Tested: 71937 Failed: 18 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

NI 

Contributions/Earnings 

History 

Eligible for Testing: 

 Status 1, 2, 4, 5 & T 

where NI-Table is not E 

and date contracted out is 

on or after 6/4/78 AND 

before 6/4/1997 

A Status 4 member is 
missing Date Left Active 
Service or a Status 5 
member is missing both 
Date Left Active Service 
and Date of Retirement 

For one or more of the 
Period End Dates, there is 
not a corresponding value 
in Amount 

Test is excluded from the 
TPR results  

There is not a separate 
entry in Period End Date 
(NI) for each April 5th 
between Date Contracted 
Out and 5/4/97 (or Date 
Left/Date Ret if earlier for 
Status 4 & 5 respectively) 
(non-reportable – see fail 
E) 

 

GMP is not present on the 
NI details for status 1 and 
2 and on GMP details for 
status 4, 5 & T (non-
reportable – see fail E) 

 

Fail C and Fail D both 
occurred 

 

Tested: 14583 Failed: 0 Failed: 712 Failed: 0 Failed: 0 Failed: 2801  

Pre 88 GMP 

Eligible for Testing: 

Status 4, 5 & T where 

Contract Out SSPA75 is 

before 6/4/88 

There is no value provided 
for total GMP at exit 

Deducting Post 88 GMP at 
Exit from Total GMP at 
Exit results in a negative 
number 

The result of deducting 
Post 88 GMP at Exit from 
Total GMP at Exit is not 
divisible by 52. 

   

Tested: 6306 Failed: 682 Failed: 0 Failed: 0    

P
age 98



 

 

Version 1.10 - External Page 47 of 48  

 

Condition Fail A Fail B Fail C Fail D Fail E Fail F 

Post 88 GMP 

Eligible for Testing:  

Status 4, 5 & T where 

Contract Out SSPA75 is 

before 6/4/97 and Date 

Left is after 6/5/1988 

There is no value provided 
for total GMP at exit 

There is no value provided 
for Post 88 GMP at Exit 

Post 88 GMP at Exit is not 
divisible by 52 

   

Tested: 13503 Failed: 3094 Failed: 2984 Failed: 0    

 

 

 

 

P
age 99



 

 

 
Aquila Heywood, 1st Floor, Hamilton House, Church Street, 
Altrincham, Cheshire, WA14 4DR 
W: www.aquilaheywood.co.uk  T: 0161 613 4200 

 

 

Page 100

http://www.aquilaheywood.co.uk/


 

 

REPORT PREPARED FOR   

Dorset County Pension Fund - Pension Fund  

Committee   

  

September 2021  

  

  

    

    

    

    

        

Page 101

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Alan Saunders, MJ Hudson 

alan.saunders@mjhudson.com   

W  
  

THIS DOCUMENT IS DIRECTED ONLY AT THE PERSON(S) IDENTIFIED ABOVE ON THE BASIS 

THAT THEY ARE A PROFESSIONAL INVESTOR OR PROFESSIONAL CUSTOMER. IT IS ISSUED 

BY ALLENBRIDGE. ALLENBRIDGE IS A TRADING NAME OF ALLENBRIDGEEPIC INVESTMENT 

ADVISERS LIMITED AND ALLENBRIDGE LIMITED WHICH ARE ALL APPOINTED 

REPRESENTATIVE OF ALLENBRIDGE CAPITAL LIMITED WHICH IS AUTHORISED AND 

REGULATED BY THE FINANCIAL CONDUCT AUTHORITY (FCA).   

  

  

INVESTMENT OUTLOOK   

 

In my penultimate market report, it is pleasing to note that market conditions remain stable and that the 

uptrend in equities remains intact to the general benefit of the pension fund. This is despite growing 

concerns over rising inflation risk as economies recover and the likely policy response of central banks. 

When central banks start to unwind the massive liquidity they have injected into markets through 

quantitative easing and when they start to raise interest rates has been a question running through the 

last two quarterly reports. Bond yields have eased in recent weeks, suggesting markets are more relaxed 

now about the risk of a sudden and unwelcome tightening but also perhaps recognition of a recent 

easing in the pace of recovery. 

 

The global economic recovery since the setback in Q1 this year has indeed been striking, in the UK, US 

and Europe. Even in the UK, which had the biggest fall in output last year, there is now hope that we 

will get back to pre-pandemic GNP levels by the end of this year, much quicker than expected. At the 

same time, inflation which had been expected to peak at 2.5% later this year, may now reach 4%. Both 

here and in the US, we are approaching the turn with regard to monetary policy. 

 

While there was something of a consolidation in equities in May, global equities moved higher in June 

and July, despite the spread of the delta variant, helped obviously by positive sentiment over vaccine 

success but also much improved corporate earnings, dividend payment restoration and a rise in 

takeovers, notably in the undervalued UK market. China has been an exception with a sharp market fall 

as the authorities start to toughen regulations in some sectors. While consolidation would be welcome, 

equities should be able to hold on to these gains, barring an unexpected interest rate shock or further 

bad news on the spread of the delta variant. 

 

 

 ECONOMY  

 

While the G7 leaders meeting in Cornwall may already be forgotten, it served as a reminder of the 

colossal fiscal support given to the global economy this time round compared to the great financial 

crisis when governments dragged their feet and left it to the central banks. Above trend GNP growth 

should continue well into 2022 meaning a much better unemployment outturn than would normally be 

expected, in the UK, for example, peaking at c 5%. The corollary to huge public sector deficits is of 

course huge private sector surpluses. At least the consumer sector is now running down its high savings 

ratio though business is yet to demonstrate a similar rise in investment as surpluses are spent on 

Page 102



 

 

acquisitions, buybacks, etc. For decarbonisation to work, business will have to raise investment levels 

while consumers will have to spend more on energy bills, transportation, etc. For the other summit this 

year in the UK, the Glasgow summit on Climate Change, governments will need to show how they can 

navigate this transition which will inevitably mean more fiscal support when in theory finance ministers 

should be tightening fiscal policy. 

 

A celebrated Federal Reserve chairman said that his job was to remove the punchbowl when the party 

was in full swing. The Fed and the BoE had seemed divided on this though the ECB has been quite 

clear that there will be no tightening this year. The critical issue is whether the upswing in inflation- 

over 5% in the US recently- is temporary or not, caused of course by supply shortages, rising input 

prices and an oil price back to $70/bbl. It looks as though the Fed is no longer so confident that the 

jump is easily reversible and it may well stop QE shortly, so- called tapering. However, it is very 

sensitive to market sentiment and will want to avoid a replay of the         “ taper tantrum “ of 2013 when 

it tightened policy abruptly. 

 

 In the UK, the BoE has just redefined its policy to anticipate some modest tightening and has indicated 

an exit strategy for QE. This though is some way off and QE will only be unwound when interest rates 

reach 0.5%, instead of the previous 1.5% and that is not expected until 2024!  Given that it expects 

inflation to reach 4% by year end, the highest since 2011, the Bank clearly assumes the inflation spike 

is temporary.  

 

The OECD expects global growth this year of 5.8% and is probably being conservative but that is a big 

rise from the 4.2% it forecast at year end. The last report referred to the three fiscal bills President 

Biden is hoping to get passed and it now looks as through his infrastructure bill will get past Congress 

producing necessary longer term benefits. Growth of 5- 6% this year is possible but the UK will be the 

pacesetter with some 7% growth this year and 6% in 2022. Brexit effects are impossible to untangle in 

present circumstances. Within Europe, the southern economies are recovering faster but as with the UK 

this represents catchup on last year’s falls. Japan remains something of a laggard but China is still 

growing fast, helped by some recent relaxation in central bank reserve requirements, definitely not a 

case of removing the punchbowl. 

 

Currencies have remained fairly stable over the period with sterling shedding a little ground in favour 

of the dollar and the euro but holding up well. 

 

 

MARKETS  

 

Equities levelled off in June as concerns over the spread of the Delta variant spread but Q2 produced 

overall positive global equity returns with a rise of 7.5% in sterling terms, following the 4% in Q1. For 

the UK, the figures were 5.5% and 5% respectively with small cap shares rising 9%, continuing their 

strong outperformance. The US continues to lead the equity advance with some recovery in technology 

stocks, Europe performed in line with the global indices while emerging markets, led by China, lagged 

and Japan actually fell. In July, markets continued the consolidation but emerging markets lagged badly 

with a fall of 7%. China has taken a big hit with the tech index falling some 20% as the authorities 

increased regulations harshly on some sectors, sending a warning shot over the private sector. August 

has seen more consolidation. 

Page 103



 

 

 

Bond markets produced small positive returns as yields fell, presumably on fears that the Delta variant 

could derail the economic recovery as rising inflationary pressures would suggest yields should rise and 

bond prices fall. This has continued in Q 3, with 20 year gilt yields falling from 1.25% end June to 

1.0% recently. With the price of inflation continuing to rise, to 3.6% from 3.3% at year end, this has 

meant quite a fall in real yields in Q3, benefitting the LDI hedges. The fall in bond yields has been 

more pronounced in the US and it is surprising to have strong equity and bond markets coexisting at 

this point in the cycle.   

 

Growth stocks have benefitted though as lower bond yields imply lower discount rates of future 

earnings. Most likely, the equity market has got it right and economic recovery is secure, helped by 

Biden’s stimulus packages and the Fed cutting the economy some slack in its interpretation of the 

inflation data. For that reason, we expect to see equities broadly hold on to the first half gains though 

that may have discounted much of the economic recovery to come through. Corporate earnings are 

coming out ahead of expectations, dividends are being restored and takeover activity is rising, notably 

in the UK and market sentiment remains positive. 

 

UK commercial property showed another small positive return in Q2, consolidating the gradual 

recovery in this badly affected sector of the economy .Industrial property is the strongest sector still 

with rising rents and lower yields. Retail is polarised with supermarkets and retail warehouses holding 

up well while shopping centres and high street retail remain laggards. The office picture remains 

mixed. 

  

INVESTMENT STRATEGY  

  

 The same comment as the last report. The portfolio is now broadly aligned with the agreed investment 

strategy following the major restructuring of the global equity portfolio in the first quarter. Any further 

changes would be relatively marginal, such as trimming the corporate bond portfolio or property. An 

area for discussion is whether to commit to a private debt allocation in addition to the existing multi- 

asset credit exposure. Similarly, the LDI portfolio has more than recovered the losses incurred over the 

RPI-CPI wedge issue. Hedging remains at around 30% of inflation risk and leverage has dropped 

markedly to just over 2.0 times, allowing for some increase in the hedge to be possible without more 

collateral or for collateral to be used elsewhere.  

  

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION  

   

For further information, please contact Alan Saunders on 020 7079 1000 or at 

alan.saunders@mjhudson.com.   

  

  

  

  

  

Page 104



 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

MJ Hudson's Investment Advisory business comprises the following companies: MJ Hudson Investment Advisers   

Limited (no. 4533331), MJ Hudson Investment Solutions Limited (no. 10796384) and MJ Hudson Trustee Services 

Limited (no. 12799619), which are limited companies registered in England & Wales. Registered Office: 1 

Frederick’s Place, London, EC2R 8AE.  

MJ Hudson Investment Advisers Limited (FRN 539747) is an Appointed Representatives of MJ Hudson Advisers 

Limited (FRN 692447) which is Authorised and Regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.  

  

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Pension Fund Committee 
Wednesday, 8 September 2021 
Pension Fund Administrator’s Report 
 
For Decision 

Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development  
    
Report Author:  David Wilkes 
Title:    Service Manager (Treasury and Investments) 
Tel:    01305 224119 
Email:    david.wilkes@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee review and comment upon the activity and overall 
performance of the pension fund’s investments. 
 
Reason for Recommendation: 
 
To ensure that the pension fund has the appropriate management and 
monitoring arrangements in place, and to ensure that asset allocation in line with 
agreed strategic targets. 
 
1. Executive Summary  
 

The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the pension fund’s 

funding position, and the valuation and overall performance of the pension fund’s 

investments as at 30 June 2021.  The report provides a summary of the 

performance of all external investment managers and addresses other topical 

issues for the pension fund that do not require a separate report. 

 

The estimated value of the pension fund’s assets at 30 June 2021 was £3,534M 

compared to £3,340M at the start of the financial year.  This has been driven by 

rises across all listed markets after the falls in March 2020 in reaction to the 

impact of COVID 19. 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



The pension fund’s estimated funding position at 30 June 2021 was 

approximately 86% - that is, assets were estimated to be 86% of the value 

needed pay for the expected benefits accrued to that date.  This compares to 

92% calculated by the pension fund’s actuary following their full assessment as 

at 31 March 2019 for the most recent triennial valuation. 

 

The total return from the pension fund’s investments over the financial year to 30 

June 2021 was 5.8%, compared to the combined benchmark return of 4.5%.  

The total return for the 12 months to 30 June 2021 was 17.9% compared to the 

benchmark return of 13.9%. 

 

As at 30 June 2021, approximately 30% of the pension fund’s liabilities were 

hedged against inflation sensitivity through the Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 

mandate with Insight Investment. 

 

As at 30 June 2021, approximately 62% of the pension fund’s assets were under 

the management of Brunel Pension Partnership. 

 

2. Financial Implications 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension scheme 
administered locally.  Dorset Council is the administering authority for the LGPS 
in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits for employees of the 
Council, other councils and a range of other organisations within the county. 
 
The LGPS is a ‘defined benefit’ scheme which means that benefits for scheme 
members are calculated based on factors such as age, length of membership 
and salary.  Member benefits are not calculated on the basis of investment 
performance as they would be in a ‘defined contribution’ scheme. 
 
Administering authorities are required to maintain a pension fund for the payment 
of benefits to scheme members funded by contributions from scheme members 
and their employers, and from returns on contributions invested prior to benefits 
becoming payable. 
 
Contribution levels for scheme members are set nationally, and contribution 
levels for scheme employers are set locally by actuaries engaged by 
administering authorities.   
 
As scheme member rates cannot be changed locally and benefits are defined, 
the risk of investment underperformance is effectively borne by scheme 
employers. 
 
 

Page 108



3. Wellbeing and Health Implications 
 
No wellbeing and health implications arising from this report have been identified. 
 
4. Climate implications 
 
The pension fund’s Investment Strategy Statement requires all external 
investment managers to consider and manage all financially material risks arising 
from environmental issues, including those associated with climate change. 
 
At its meeting in September 2020, the Committee agreed to a strategy of 
decarbonisation meaning a reduction in allocations of investment to companies 
which are high carbon emitters and looking to influence the demand for fossil 
fuels and their financing, not just their supply. 
 
The pension fund no longer has any direct investments in individual companies, 
including ‘fossil fuel’ companies, but it does have indirect exposure to such 
companies through its holdings in pooled investment vehicles.  As at 31 March 
2021, the value of the pension fund’s investments in companies primarily 
involved in the exploration, production, mining and/or refining of fossil fuels was 
estimated at approximately £41M (1.2% of total investment assets). 
 
5. Other Implications 
 
No other implications arising from this report have been identified. 
 
6. Risk Assessment 
 
The pension fund’s Investment Strategy Statement requires all external 
investment managers to consider and manage all financially material risks 
 
The risks associated with the pension fund’s investments are assessed in detail 
and considered as part of the strategic asset allocation. 
 
7. Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 
 
8. Appendices 

Appendix 1: Brunel Pension Partnership Q2 2021 

Appendix 2: Corporate Bonds (RLAM) Q2 2021 

Appendix 3: Property (CBRE) Q2 2021 

Appendix 4: Liability Driven Investment (Insight) Q2 2021 

 
9. Background Papers 

Investment Strategy Statement (March 2018) 

Page 109



Funding Strategy Statement (March 2020) 
 
10. Asset Valuation Summary 

10.1 The table below shows the pension fund’s asset valuation by asset class 

at the beginning of the financial year and as at 30 June 2021, together 

with the target allocation as agreed at the meeting of the Committee on 10 

September 2020. 

 

10.2 As at 30 June 2021, approximately 62% of the pension fund’s assets were 

under the management of Brunel Pension Partnership. 

11. Funding Update  

11.1 The pension fund’s actuary, Barnett Waddingham, undertakes a full 

assessment of the funding position every three years.  This was last 

completed as at 31 March 2019 when the pension fund had a funding level 

of 92% i.e. assets were estimated to be 92% of the value that they would 

have needed to be to pay for the expected benefits accrued to that date, 

based on the assumptions used. 

 

11.2 Barnett Waddingham also carry out an indicative update on the funding 

position at the end of each quarter.  Whilst this is not a full review it is 

intended to give an understanding of movements in the pension fund’s 

overall funding position between triennial valuations.  As at 30 June 2021 

the estimated funding position was approximately 86%. 

 

Asset Class £M % £M % £M %

UK Equities 348.6     10.4% 370.1     10.5% 353.4     10.0%

Global Equities 1,210.2  36.2% 1,293.8  36.6% 1,237.0  35.0%

Emerging Markets Equities 169.3     5.1% 177.1     5.0% 176.7     5.0%

Total Listed Equities 1,728.1 51.7% 1,841.0 52.1% 1,767.2  50.0%

Corporate Bonds 192.3     5.8% 198.6     5.6% 141.4     4.0%

Multi Asset Credit 170.4     5.1% 172.7     4.9% 176.7     5.0%

Diversified Returns 164.2     4.9% 204.7     5.8% 212.1     6.0%

Infrastructure 220.0     6.6% 226.6     6.4% 282.8     8.0%

Private Equity 96.1       2.9% 111.8     3.2% 176.7     5.0%

Property 313.2     9.4% 321.2     9.1% 353.4     10.0%

Cash 74.1       2.2% 63.8       1.8% -        0.0%

F/X Hedging 0.7 0.0% -0.4 0.0% -        0.0%

Total Return Seeking Assets 2,959.1  88.6% 3,140.0  88.8% 3,110.3  88.0%

Liability Matching Assets 381.3     11.4% 394.4     11.2% 424.1     12.0%

Total Asset Valuation 3,340.4  100.0% 3,534.4  100.0% 3,534.4  100.0%

31-Mar-21 30-Jun-21 Target Allocation

Page 110



12. Investment Performance Summary 

12.1 The overall performance of the pension fund’s investments to 30 June 

2021 is summarised below (returns for three and five years are annualised 

figures). 

 

12.2 The Brunel Pension Partnership’s performance report for the quarter 

ending 30 June 2021 is attached as an appendix to this report.  This 

includes market summaries from Brunel’s investment officers and an 

overall performance summary for the pension fund, together with more 

detailed information in relation to Dorset’s assets under Brunel’s 

management.  

13. Performance by Asset Class and Investment Manager 

 UK Equities 

13.1 The performance of the pension fund’s investments in UK equities is 

summarised in the tables below.  

5.8%

17.9%

6.6%

8.8%

4.5%

13.9%

6.2%

8.5%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

20.0%

Quarter 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

Fund Return  Benchmark Return

Page 111



  

 

 

Developed Markets Global Equities 

13.2  The performance of the pension fund’s investments in developed market 

global equities is summarised in the tables below. 

  

  

Brunel/LGIM Passive - £113.4m assets under management (AUM)

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 5.7% 5.6% 0.1%

12 months 21.8% 21.5% 0.3%

Since inception p.a. 1.9% 1.8% 0.1%

Brunel UK Active - £175.1m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 5.2% 5.5% -0.3%

12 months 20.1% 20.3% -0.2%

Since inception p.a. 5.0% 4.9% 0.1%

Schroders - £81.6m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 9.1% 10.6% -1.5%

12 months 61.0% 65.2% -4.2%

3 years p.a. 12.0% 9.3% 2.7%

5 years p.a. 18.4% 12.3% 6.1%

Since inception p.a. 11.7% 7.8% 3.9%

Brunel/LGIM Smart Beta - £144.2m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 5.7% 5.7% 0.0%

12 months 22.9% 23.1% -0.2%

Since inception p.a. 9.5% 9.8% -0.3%

Brunel/LGIM Smart Beta (Hedged) - £146.5m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 5.6% 5.6% 0.0%

12 months 34.6% 34.4% 0.2%

Since inception p.a. 10.3% 10.6% -0.3%

Page 112



  

  

 

 

 

Brunel Emerging Markets Equities - £177.1m AUM 

13.3 The performance of the pension fund’s investment in the Brunel Emerging 

Markets Equity Fund is summarised below. 

 

Brunel/LGIM Passive Developed - £96.6m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 7.5% 7.5% 0.0%

12 months 25.0% 25.1% -0.1%

Since inception p.a. 15.4% 15.5% -0.1%

Brunel/LGIM Passive Developed (Hedged) - £100.5m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 7.5% 7.5% 0.0%

12 months 36.3% 36.5% -0.2%

Since inception p.a. 19.5% 19.8% -0.3%

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity - £270.1m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 9.3% 7.8% 1.5%

12 months 32.2% 24.9% 7.3%

Since inception p.a. 26.7% 16.5% 10.2%

Brunel Global Sustainable Equities - £352.8m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 8.4% 7.3% 1.1%

Since inception p.a. 11.6% 11.1% 0.5%

Brunel Smaller Companies Equities - £174.7m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 6.1% 4.9% 1.2%

Since inception p.a. 7.6% 7.0% 0.6%

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 4.6% 5.0% -0.4%

12 months 28.7% 26.4% 2.3%

Since inception 14.5% 15.0% -0.5%

Page 113



  Corporate Bonds - £198.6m AUM  

13.4 The performance of the pension fund’s investments in Corporate Bonds, 

managed by RLAM, is detailed in Appendix 2 and summarised below. 

  

 Multi Asset Credit (MAC) - £171.0m AUM 

13.5 The performance of the pension fund’s investments in MAC, managed by 

CQS, is summarised below. 

  

13.6 As at 1 June 2021 the pension fund’s holdings in the CQS fund 

transitioned to Brunel’s newly launched MAC portfolio.  

 Property (CBRE) - £284.8m AUM  

13.7 The performance of the pension fund’s property investments managed by 

CBRE is detailed in Appendix 3 (and Agenda Item 13) and summarised 

below.  

  

13.8 In addition to the assets under the management of CBRE, the pension 

fund also has some holdings in secured long income property funds under 

the management of Brunel. 

 

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 3.2% 2.4% 0.8%

12 months 5.1% 1.5% 3.6%

3 years p.a. 7.0% 5.9% 1.1%

5 years p.a. 6.4% 4.9% 1.5%

Since inception p.a. 8.4% 8.0% 0.4%

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 1.4% 1.0% 0.4%

12 months 12.7% 4.1% 8.6%

3 years p.a. 3.8% 4.5% -0.7%

Since inception p.a. 3.5% 4.5% -1.0%

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 3.7% 3.4% 0.3%

12 months 6.6% 6.5% 0.1%

3 years p.a. 2.9% 2.3% 0.6%

5 years p.a. 4.8% 4.3% 0.5%

Since inception p.a. 7.3% 7.0% 0.3%

Page 114



Private Equity 

13.9 Private Equity is an asset class that takes several years for commitments 

to be fully invested.  The table below summarises the commitment the 

pension fund has made in total to each manager, the drawdowns that 

have taken place to date and the percentage of the total drawdown 

against commitments.  It also shows the distributions that have been 

returned to the pension fund, the valuation as at 30 June 2021 and the 

total gains or losses on investments. 

 

13.10 In order to meet the target allocation, there is a requirement to keep 

committing to Private Equity funds.  Officers are in regular discussions 

with HarbourVest, Aberdeen Standard and the Brunel private markets 

team to identify further opportunities for investment. 

13.11 The tables below summarise performance to date for the pension fund’s 

two legacy managers, HarbourVest and Aberdeen Standard.

 

 

 

 

Commitment Distribution Valuation Gain

£m £m % £m £m £m

HarbourVest 103.4 81.0 78% 83.1 69.7 71.8

Aberdeen Standard 75.9 60.1 79% 70.6 23.5 34.0

Brunel 60.0 18.4 31% 1.9 18.6 2.1

Total 239.3 159.5 67% 155.5 111.8 107.9

Drawndown  

HarbourVest - £69.7m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 40.0% 5.6% 34.4%

12 months 59.0% 21.5% 37.5%

3 years p.a. 27.5% 2.0% 25.5%

5 years p.a. 22.6% 6.5% 16.1%

Since inception p.a. 13.9% 5.5% 8.4%

Aberdeen Standard - £23.5m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 3.4% 5.6% -2.2%

12 months 12.1% 21.5% -9.4%

3 years p.a. 8.0% 2.0% 6.0%

5 years p.a. 8.6% 6.5% 2.1%

Since inception p.a. 3.6% 5.8% -2.2%

Page 115



13.12 The benchmark used for these investments is the FTSE All Share index 

and the investments are held in US dollars and Euros, currency 

movements can contribute to volatility in relative performance. 

 

Infrastructure 

 

13.13 As with Private Equity, Infrastructure is a long-term investment that takes 

several years for commitments to be fully invested.  The pension fund has 

two external infrastructure managers, Hermes and IFM.  The target for 

each manager is a 10% absolute annual return and this is used at the 

benchmark for these investments.  Performance is summarised in the 

tables below:  

  

  
 

 

13.14 The investments with IFM are denominated in US dollars but performance 

is measured in sterling, therefore currency movements can contribute to 

volatility in performance. 

 

 Liability Driven Investment (LDI) - £394.4m AUM  

13.15 A proportion of the pension fund’s assets are held in an inflation hedging 

strategy, managed by Insight Investments.  These assets are not held to 

add growth, but to match the movements in the pension fund’s liabilities. 

13.16 LDI strategies allow pension schemes to continue investing in return-

seeking assets while hedging out their liability risks through the use of 

Hermes - £94.5m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 0.4% 2.3% -1.9%

12 months -3.6% 10.0% -13.6%

3 years p.a. 2.6% 10.0% -7.4%

5 years p.a. 5.5% 10.0% -4.5%

Since inception p.a. 6.6% 10.0% -3.4%

IFM - £115.3m AUM

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 7.3% 2.3% 5.0%

12 months 8.0% 10.0% -2.0%

3 years p.a. 10.3% 10.0% 0.3%

5 years p.a. 11.9% 10.0% 1.9%

Since inception p.a. 12.9% 10.0% 2.9%

Page 116



leverage.  As at 30 June 2021 11.2% of the pension fund’s assets were 

invested in the mandate but 30% of the pension fund’s liabilities were 

hedged against inflation sensitivity i.e. if liabilities increased by £100M as 

a result of changes to inflation expectations, the value of the assets under 

management would be expected to increase by approximately £30M. 

 
13.17 The liability matching strategy is intended to hedge against the impact of 

increasing pensions liabilities which are linked to the Consumer Prices 

Index (CPI).  CPI cannot currently be hedged as there is not a sufficiently 

developed futures market, so the pension fund’s strategy targets the Retail 

Prices Index (RPI) swaps market to act as a proxy for CPI which tends to 

be lower than RPI.  

 

13.18 The performance of the manager is detailed in Appendix 4 and 

summarised below. 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Footnote: 
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report. 

Performance Benchmark Relative

Quarter 4.0% 4.0% 0.1%

12 months 10.6% 10.1% 0.6%

3 years p.a. 3.8% 3.7% 0.1%

5 years p.a. 10.1% 7.9% 2.2%

Since inception p.a. 9.1% 8.0% 1.0%

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Information Classification: Public

P
age 119



Contents

Page 3

Page 4

Page 5

Page 7

Page 9

Page 12

Page 13

Page 15

Page 16

Page 51

- Brunel News

- Executive Summary

- Market Summary - Listed Markets Equities

- Market Summary - Head of Private Markets

- Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

- Summary of Pension Fund Performance

- Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

- Legacy Manager Performance

- Brunel Portfolios Overview

- Glossary of Terms

Forging better futures
Information Classification: Public

Dorset County Pension Fund

Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Page 2 of 60

P
age 120



Brunel News

The second quarter was marked by the rise of the Delta variant of Covid, not least in the UK, and by widely divergent decisions on lockdown easing and  
tightening around the world. Lockdown rules in the UK and, more specifically, in England, ensured a phased reopening over the course of the quarter,  
meaning that Brunel staff were able to start returning to the office. However, a delay to the final stage of opening – initially slated for June, but then  
postponed to July – made the return more staggered than first planned.

Despite the ongoing challenges, we continued to roll out new funds. In April, Brunel launched its Private Debt portfolio with Aksia, a dedicated, bespoke  
portfolio of funds targeting corporate direct lending strategies in Europe and North America. Our clients committed £945m to the fund, which has a strong 
focus on Responsible Investment. “Aksia is delighted to be working with Brunel Pension Partnership, an acknowledged thought leader in responsible  
investment, to customise a direct lending portfolio for its LGPS clients,” said Valérie Bénard, Head of Aksia Europe.

On the listed markets side, Brunel launched its first fixed income portfolios: Passive Gilts and Passive Index-Linked Gilts. “These portfolios give our clients and  
their members access to the low-cost benefits of index-tracking investing,” said David Cox, Head of Listed Markets at Brunel. “They also deliver to clients the 
benefits of high liquidity, which can be important in managing pension cashflows effectively.” The announcement comes ahead of further fixed income 
fund launches due in July.
The challenge of finding indices that fully account for Responsible Investment concerns was a particular focus through the quarter, culminating in the  
announcement – at the start of July – that Brunel and FTSE Russell had launched new Paris-aligned benchmarks, a major step forward for the industry. “We  
placed great emphasis on developing indices that not only met current needs, but also have scope to evolve in response to rapid industry developments,  
so that we continue to deliver on our clients’ investment objectives,” said Faith Ward. “The project, led by David Cox, Brunel’s Head of Listed Markets, has  
drawn on the time and expertise of teams and individuals across the partnership.”

In May, Brunel published three reports that track our progress across our ambitions in Responsible Investment (RI). The 2021 Responsible Investment &  
Stewardship Outcomes Report demonstrated our performance against our own RI principles and policies. Among other highlights, it showed that we had  
engaged on 3,101 RI issues at 881 companies, and that companies held in our portfolios now had a higher percentage of women on boards. We also  
published our first Climate Change Action Plan Report (TCFD reporting), to demonstrate the value we attach to companies making TCFD disclosures, and to 
encourage other companies to do likewise. Our second Carbon Metrics report, meanwhile, showed that the Brunel Aggregate Portfolio had a carbon  
efficiency of 22% versus the benchmark, up from 15.4% the previous year. Our leadership on RI was demonstrated and recognised in other ways, too. In  
June, Helen Price led our involvement as one of sixty launch firms partnering with The Diversity Project to help tackle the underrepresentation of ethnic  
minorities in finance. At the end of June, Faith Ward was named Personality of the Year by Environmental Finance, a very well-deserved accolade.

Throughout the quarter, Brunel continued to review its working practices and how it could elicit the views of staff and support them in managing their work  
through unusual times. To this end, Brunel’s HR department launched new staff surveys, and Laura Chappell wrote an Op-Ed for Professional Pensions on  
how, since the advent of Covid, there is even more onus on CEOs to place mental health at the top of corporate agendas.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 3 of 60

P
age 121



Executive Summary

Performance of Pension Fund
 
The fund delivered absolute performance of 5.8% over the quarter in GBP terms. This was ahead of the
benchmark return of 4.5%. Total fund return for the year to June was 17.9%, which was ahead of the
benchmark return of 13.9%.
 
Key points from last quarter:
• 5.8% Absolute Net Performance Q2; +1.3% Relative Net Performance vs Benchmark Q2
• 17.9% Absolute Net Performance 1Y; +3.9% Relative Net Performance vs Benchmark 1Y
 
Fund-specific events
• Dorset transitioned into Fixed Income assets with an investment into the Brunel Multi-Asset Credit (MAC)
portfolio. This transaction was in flight through the end of the reporting period.
• The Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund portfolio was topped up over the quarter funded by cash.
 
The Diversifying Returns sub-fund posted a 5.8% return over the quarter, with all four strategies
contributing as the fund outperformed its benchmark by 5.7%.
 
It was another strong quarter for emerging markets which posted a 4.6% return. This lagged the
benchmark by 0.4% - sector and regional allocations accounted for the small shortfall, especially
underweights in Energy and India.
 
The Global High Alpha Equity sub-fund benefited from positive stock selection in what was already a
strong quarter for global equities, outperforming the benchmark by 1.6%. Stock selection was particularly
strong in Health Care and Financials.
 
Sustainable Equities returned 8.5%, against 7.4% for the benchmark. RBC benefited from stock selection in
Communications and IT; Ownership’s Health Care holdings performed strongly.
 
It was a strong quarter for the Global Small Cap sub-fund, which returned 6.3%. Outperformance was
aided by stock selection; Health Care and Retail were particularly significant for returns.
 
The Active UK sub-fund returned 5.2% largely in line with the broader UK equity rally. Underperformance
of 0.4% versus the benchmark, largely driven by the fund’s overweight to Financials and underweight to
Health Care. Stock selection was marginally positive, however.

Total
(GBPm)

31 Mar 2021 3,340

30 Jun 2021 3,534

Net cash inflow (outflow) -2

Total Fund Valuation

Mar Jun
0 %

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Assets Transitioned to Brunel

GBP 1,860m GBP 2,198m

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 4 of 60

P
age 122



Market Summary – Listed Markets

Future expectations of inflation dominated much of the financial press and the market movements we
saw over the quarter.
 
In terms of global equity, April saw a resurgence in Growth/Quality stocks after the Value rally that had
characterised much of Q1. The value rally earlier in the year was largely due to the re-opening of the
parts of the economy most affected by the Covid pandemic and resulting lockdowns.
 
As we moved into May, we saw investors err on the side of caution as they debated a potential rise in
inflation and, more importantly, if inflation was a longer-term market trend that would see an increase in
interest rates from their current all-time lows. We saw a pickup in the yield of the US 10-year Treasury as
an increase in inflation devalues bonds. We also saw de-risking in the global equity markets as the MSCI
All Country World Index (ACWI) returned -1.03% for the month of May, led lower by Growth stocks, which
suffer more than their Value counterparts in a rising interest rate environment. This dynamic was covered
in depth in the ‘Value vs Growth’ paper the Brunel team published late last year. On the other hand, we
saw gains in the commodity markets and precious metals: Brent crude and gold increased in price by
3.5% and 7.6%, respectively. Gold is often seen as a safe haven asset in times of inflation.
 
June confirmed the validity of Inflation expectations, as US year-on-year consumer price inflation (CPI)
reached 5%, the highest it has been for 13 years. If we look more closely at the headline CPI figures, we
can see that they started from a relatively low base. The price of a barrel of crude oil was $41 last year
compared with $75 today. There have also been secondary effects in sectors affected during the
pandemic, notably used cars and trucks, where the decline in new car production has increased the
price of the secondary market. These technicalities led the Federal Reserve (Fed) to describe the current
effects as “transitory”. This suggested interest rates would remain low for the foreseeable future, which
encouraged investors to return to the market. Through June, we saw an increase in the performance of
large cap/Growth stocks, driven mostly by the IT sector, which provided a total return of 9.1% for the
month, while the MSCI ACWI returned 4.29%.
 
After an interesting few months, in which inflation expectations dominated headlines, the MSCI ACWI
returned 7.4% in GBP terms over the quarter; the MSCI Growth index returned 9.9%; and the equivalent
Value index returned 4.9%. Over a one-year period, the MSCI ACWI has returned 25.1%, while the Growth
index and Value index have returned 25.2% and 24.6%, respectively. The rally in cyclical Value stocks,
year to date, has been enough to put Value on an equal footing with Growth stocks over the 12-month
period to the end of June.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 5 of 60

P
age 123



Market Summary – Listed Markets

On a regional basis, much of the MSCI ACWI performance can be attributed to the US, albeit with a
weight of 60% of the index, it provided a total return of 8.8%. The MSCI Emerging markets index returned
5% over the quarter and the FTSE All Share returned 5.8%
 
As discussed previously, the argument for transitory inflation assumes that the economic markers used in
the CPI calculation were adversely affected by the pandemic and that, as the economy re-opens, the
effect will decline over time. However, we should, for balance, discuss the opposing argument.
 
The last year-and-a-half has seen a huge amount of stimulus enter the market; unlike in the aftermath of
the Great Financial Crisis, this stimulus has benefitted households directly, rather than shoring up the
capital requirements of retail banks. At the time of writing, the June CPI numbers for the US have just
been released at 5.4% and the core inflation rate, which excludes volatile goods such as oil, has risen
4.5%. The stimulus currently also shows no sign of abating, the US is still on course to deliver its $1.9 trillion
stimulus package.  There have been discussions around the potential for central banks to control any rise
in inflation by easing back on their bond purchasing schemes. However, bond purchasing still remains
significant in the US, UK and Europe.
 
With all this additional capital, many believe prices will continue to rise. A data provider, EPFR, noted that
global equity funds saw inflows of $580bn in the first six months of this year  at that rate, equity funds in
2021 will record more inflows than the last 20 years combined.
 
Last quarter, we mentioned that predicting the path of inflation, policy withdrawal and eventual rate
tightening is difficult under the current environment. This is likely to be a debate that will continue over
the next few months; the market is certainly not behaving as one would expect. An increase in inflation
historically led to an increase in yields; however, at the time of writing, the 5.4% increase in US inflation
has perversely led to a decrease in yields, leading to further debate over the nature of the current
market and whether inflation really could be transitory.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 6 of 60

P
age 124



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Overview
The continuing concern around the rapid spread of the Delta variant of Covid, as well as the supply
chain challenges facing manufacturers around the world, tempered investors’ enthusiasm in the last
quarter.  As Covid infection rates started to climb again, even in countries where the vaccine rollout is
well underway, investors grew more fearful of further economically-damaging regional restrictions and a
slow reopening of international travel.
Economic indicators continue to show clear signs of recovery, but the supply issues caused by the
pandemic have made life particularly difficult for manufacturers in Europe and North America, slowing
production and pushing up costs.  Accessing labour has also proved an inflationary factor in some
regions.
Central banks continue to view these problems as temporary, recognising that the post-pandemic
recovery may cause a temporary spike in inflation. However, they remain confident that prices are not
set to rise permanently, which would necessitate a tightening of global monetary policy.

Infrastructure
As investors looked beyond the pandemic, market conditions improved. The aggregate value of deals in
Q2 of 2021 ($98bn) represented a rise of 71% compared to Q2 2020 ($57bn). Renewable Energy was
again by far the largest contributing sector, based on the number of deals – a consistent trend dating
back to 2016, if not earlier. Interest in the asset class is being fuelled by politics and regulation, prompting
expectations of the re-emergence of inflation; Infrastructure has historically served as a partial hedge
against inflation. It remains to be seen whether returns can hold up under intense competition for assets
and given supply chain constraints are pushing up key raw material costs globally.
$32 billion of capital was raised by all private infrastructure funds closed in Q2 2021. The total number of
unlisted infrastructure funds seeking to raise new capital as of July 2021 is up 25% from the start of the
year, with a record 328 funds targeting $238bn. The US and Europe remained the dominant geographic
focus.
Noteworthy events and trends during the quarter included the IEA publishing its Net-Zero Energy (NZE)
Scenario analysis and the Biden administration in the United States continuing to push for an
Infrastructure plan. Biden’s government, which has committed to an energy transition and to rapid
decarbonisation, managed to gain bi-partisan agreement for a $1 trillion package to upgrade roads,
bridges and broadband networks over the next eight years. The IEA issued a stark warning in its report. To
keep the world from catastrophic overheating, a new clean energy revolution must take place at
breakneck speed, involving unprecedented co-operation. Its NZE scenario looks a tall order on every
front: political, technical, financial and, mostly important of all, behavioural.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 7 of 60

P
age 125



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Private Equity
Investment sentiment and activity remained strong in Q2 2021. The valuation of assets remained high.
Hence, GPs focused more on operational improvements to create value in their portfolio companies, as
well as on finding pockets of opportunities in niche sectors. In addition, some GPs are executing more
add-on acquisitions at lower prices to bring down the blended average acquisition multiple. Interest in
technology companies remained strong and there is a trend towards GPs digitising their portfolio
companies in order to improve efficiency and to achieve higher multiples as they position for exit.
The fundraising market is bifurcated into a market between the “haves” and “have nots”. Fundraising for
established platforms is moving quickly, while less proven GPs are struggling to gain the attention of the
investor community. In addition, sector expertise has become increasingly important for GPs as the
market continues to evolve.
Private Debt
Q2 was another record-breaking quarter for private equity activity, driven by continued economic
recovery and ample dry powder. Private debt activity is expected to mirror private equity activity and
initial signs from bellwether managers seem to support that assertion. Dealmaking was particularly
frenetic in sectors such as software, cyber security and healthcare.
High yield bond and leveraged loan spreads continued to compress through Q2, continuing the same
trend seen in Q1. We did not see the same compression of pricing for new loans in the direct lending
market. The pricing of senior and unitranche middle market loans remained relatively stable through the
first half of 2021.
There were several notable large fund raisings achieved by leading European direct lending managers.
ICG raised €9bn, Ares €11bn and Arcmont is on track to raise €6bn. 
Property
Direct investment in industrial assets remained strong, with occupier demand for last-mile delivery hubs
particularly acute.  A shortage of labour and a sharp increase in construction costs has slowed
development supply this year, applying further upward pressure to rental levels. 
Some pricing in the UK retail market recovered over the quarter, as investors looked to acquire retail
parks anchored by supermarkets or discount operators.  Retail rents overall, however, continued to be
negotiated downwards by tenants.
Offices, where rent payments have been solid throughout the pandemic, began to see employees
returning and initial projections for much lower space requirements by occupiers have moderated over
the last few months, though biased towards  sustainable buildings which promote employees’ wellbeing.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 8 of 60

P
age 126



Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Paris-Aligned Benchmarks
Following extensive work with several index providers, we supported the launch of a new suite of climate
benchmarks that will form FTSE Russell’s Paris-aligned climate benchmarks for global equity markets.
 
The launch will help us offer clients the Net Zero-aligned portfolios they have asked for and provide a
path for the wider industry. We placed great emphasis on developing indices that not only met current
needs, but also have scope to evolve in response to rapid industry developments, so that we continue to
deliver on our clients’ investment objectives.
 
The new index series reflects both FTSE Russell’s expertise in index design and Brunel’s expertise in climate
investing. The framework provides a tilt exposure. Exposure to any given index constituent rises or falls
according to several exposure objectives, covering fossil fuel reserves, carbon reserves and green
revenues, as well as forward-looking alignment with Paris goals.  The tilt is designed to ensure that the
fund is on track to achieve Paris alignment.
 
The Paris-aligned Benchmark series meets the minimum requirement of the EU’s Paris-aligned
benchmarks by achieving a 50% reduction in carbon emissions over a ten-year period. It also integrates
the Transition Pathway Initiative’s analysis of how the world’s largest and most carbon-exposed
companies are managing the climate transition.
 
“Brunel Pension Partnership brings a huge amount of expertise in climate investing and were consulted
on the construction of FTSE Russell’s new EU Climate Benchmarks Index Series,” said Aled Jones, Head of
Sustainable Investment, EMEA, FTSE Russell. “This led to the inclusion of recently-issued guidance from the
IIGCC Net Zero Investment Framework to limit investor exposure to Thermal Coal and Oil Sands. Other
features involved limiting the active weight of banking sector constituents to no more than their
underlying index weight, a move that reflects the sector’s funding role for large carbon emitters as a
contributory factor to climate change.”
 
More details are available on the FTSE Russell website. In the next section, we consider two educational
RI initiatives that Brunel has recently been involved in.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 9 of 60

P
age 127

https://www.ftserussell.com/index/spotlight/ftse-eu-climate-benchmarks-index-series?utm_source=linkedin&utm_medium=social&utm_campaign=sustainable-investment&kui=bgmh-pu6mue437nlpj3mha


Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Bath University Practice Track - Biodiversity
Brunel participated in Bath University’s Practice Track initiative to provide a consultancy project for MSc
students. The project allows students to increase their experience by working for UK businesses, whilst
applying their knowledge, skills and research experience to deliver recommendations on a real business
issue. We asked students to research biodiversity and posed the following question:
 
How can Brunel Pension Partnership integrate the findings of The Economics of Biodiversity: The Dasgupta
Review) into their investment decisions? Topics to consider include:
• What are the first steps pension funds should take when considering biodiversity?
• Which Sectors should be prioritised?
• What challenges remain?
• What are the key questions which we should be posing to companies?
Following four weeks of research, students presented their findings to Brunel and members of the RI
subgroup. The research was a useful foundation to build from. The feedback from the students was
overwhelmingly positive. For many, it was their first exposure to the investment industry, and several
commented that they now have a greater appreciation and understanding of sustainability to take into
their future careers. We will continue to work with the University of Bath and to explore future project
opportunities to inspire the next generation.
 
The Skills Workshop
Covid-19 and lockdown offered us all a stark reminder of the social and economic inequalities that
continue to blight our society, not least racial inequality. Finance has a particular problem. Research
published by KPMG in 2019 showed that some 41% of financial services employees had parents working
in the same sector – against a national average of 12% across other sectors.
The diversity project, in partnership with #TalkAboutBlack and the CFA UK, launched a new programme:
‘The Skills Workshop’. This is a six-month programme of virtual workshops that aims to help university-aged
students with financial literacy, application preparation, workplace confidence, access to organisations
and networking. It will provide students with the insight, knowledge and direction to help start their
financial careers. Brunel is one of sixty launch firms involved in the initiative, which is open to all students
with a particular interest in increasing social mobility and tackling the underrepresentation of ethnic
minorities in the industry. We will be providing insight into what asset owners do at the virtual careers fair
on 28 October.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 10 of 60

P
age 128

https://diversityproject.com/skills-workshop-virtual-careers-fairs
https://diversityproject.com/skills-workshop-virtual-careers-fairs


Summary of Pension Fund Performance

Period Fund Strategic BM Excess

3 Month 5.8% 4.5% 1.3%

Fiscal YTD 5.8% 4.5% 1.3%

1 Year 17.9% 13.9% 3.9%

3 Years 6.5% 6.2% 0.3%

5 Years 8.7% 8.5% 0.2%

10 Years 8.9% 8.6% 0.3%

Since Inception 8.6%

Performance of Fund Against Benchmark (Annualised Performance) Roll ing Quarter Total Fund (Net of Manager Fees)

Fund Benchmark Fund Cum. Benchmark Cum.

Q
3 2

019

Q
4 2

019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

Q
3 2

020

Q
4 2

020

Q
1 2

021

Q
2 2

021

-12.0%

-6.0%

0.0%

6.0%

12.0%

Key drivers of performance
 
Over the first quarter, the fund delivered a positive absolute return but was behind its strategic benchmark. Highlights during the period were:
 
• The Diversified Return Fund returned 5.8% for the quarter, which was broadly in line with its benchmark SONIA.
• Global Emerging Markets added 4.6% in the quarter, and posted a one-year return of 28.7%; the one-year performance is ahead of benchmark by 2.3%.
• Global High Alpha returned 9.3% over the quarter, taking the one-year performance to 32.2%; this was 7.3% ahead of the MSCI TR World benchmark.
• Global Sustainable Equities returned 8.4% for the quarter, exceeding its benchmark by 1.1%.
• The Global Smaller Companies posted a return of 6.1% for the quarter, taking since-inception performance to 7.6%.
• The UK Active portfolio was up 5.2% in the quarter and +20.1% for the one-year period. Since-inception performance was broadly in line with benchmark.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 12 of 60

P
age 129



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Legacy Assets, 37.8%

Brunel Multi-Asset Credit, 4.8%

Brunel Secured Income - Cycle 1, 1.5%

Brunel Private Equity - Cycle 1, 0.5%

Passive UK Equities, 3.2%

Passive Smart Beta, 4.1%

Brunel UK Active Equity, 5.0%

Brunel Emerging Market Equity, 5.0%

Brunel Global Sustainable Equities, 10.0%

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity, 7.6%

Passive Developed Equities, 2.7%

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged), 2.8%

Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund, 5.8%

Brunel Smaller Companies Equities, 4.9%

Passive Smart Beta (Hedged), 4.1%

Asset Allocation Split

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 13 of 60

P
age 130



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

-3.6% -2.7% -1.8% -0.9% 0.0% 0.9% 1.8% 2.7% 3.6% 4.5%

Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund

Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Brunel Global Sustainable Equities

Brunel Multi-Asset Credit

Brunel Private Equity - Cycle 1

Brunel Secured Income - Cycle 1

Brunel Smaller Companies Equities

Brunel UK Active Equity

Passive Developed Equities

Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

Passive Smart Beta

Passive Smart Beta (Hedged)

Passive UK Equities

Aberdeen Standard

Allianz

Brunel Blackrock Transition

CBRE

Cash

Harbourvest

Hermes

IFM

Insight

Internally Managed UK Equities

Investec

Royal London

SSgA Currency Overlay

Schroders

Wellington

Allocation Against Strategic Benchmark

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 14 of 60

P
age 131



Legacy Manager Performance

Annualised Return Risk (Standard Deviation) Benchmark Return Benchmark Standard Deviation

Aberdeen Standard 8.0% 15.5% 2.0% 16.2%

CBRE 2.9% 4.4% 1.7% 2.3%

CQS 3.8% 11.0% 4.5% 0.1%

Harbourvest 27.5% 21.3% 2.0% 16.2%

Hermes 1.4% 5.8% 10.0% 0.1%

IFM 10.3% 8.8% 10.0% 0.1%

Insight 2.2% 14.8% 2.5% 14.7%

Royal London 7.0% 7.1% 5.9% 7.9%

Schroders 12.0% 23.5% 9.3% 23.9%

Wellington 10.9% 15.0% 13.3% 14.9%

Dorset County Pension Fund 6.5% 10.0% 6.2% 8.8%

Legacy Manager Performance – 3 Year

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 15 of 60

P
age 132



Brunel Portfolios Overview

Portfolio Benchmark AUM
(GBPm)

Perf.
3 Month

Excess
3 Month

Perf.
1 Year

Excess
1 Year

Perf.
3 Year

Excess
3 Year

Perf.
5 Year

Excess
5 Year

Perf.
SII*

Excess
SII*

Initial
Investment

Brunel Diversifying
Returns Fund SONIA Benchmark 205 5.8% 5.7% 6.6% 6.6% 31 Jul 2020

Brunel Emerging Market
Equity MSCI EM TR Gross 177 4.6% -0.4% 28.7% 2.3% 14.5% -0.5% 09 Oct 2019

Brunel Global High
Alpha Equity MSCI World TR Gross 270 9.3% 1.6% 32.2% 7.3% 26.7% 10.1% 15 Nov 2019

Brunel Global
Sustainable Equities

MSCI AC World GBP
Index 353 8.4% 1.1% 11.6% 0.5% 01 Dec 2020

Brunel Multi-Asset Credit SONIA +4% 171 0.2% -0.1% 01 Jun 2021

Brunel Smaller
Companies Equities

MSCI World Small
Cap 175 6.1% 1.2% 7.6% 0.6% 03 Mar 2021

Brunel UK Active Equity FTSE All Share ex
Investment Trusts 175 5.2% -0.4% 20.1% -0.2% 5.0% 0.2% 21 Nov 2018

Passive Developed
Equities

FTSE World
Developed 97 7.5% -0.0% 25.0% -0.1% 15.4% -0.1% 24 Jan 2020

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Tradeable NAV performance reflects NET performance. The following product pages reflect the portfolio’s NET performance

Where there are disparities between returns quoted above and returns provided for the same fund and period in the following pages, this is because the fund-specific pages reflect the
posttransition phase, important for monitoring the performance of selected managers, while those given above reflect the Clients’ actual experience from the point of initial investment, which
in some cases includes the shared impact of transition costs.

Performance based on tradeable NAV

*Since Initial Investment

Page 16 of 60

P
age 133



Brunel Portfolios Overview

Portfolio Benchmark AUM
(GBPm)

Perf.
3 Month

Excess
3 Month

Perf.
1 Year

Excess
1 Year

Perf.
3 Year

Excess
3 Year

Perf.
5 Year

Excess
5 Year

Perf.
SII*

Excess
SII*

Initial
Investment

Passive Developed
Equities (Hedged)

FTSE World
Developed Hedged 101 7.5% -0.1% 36.3% -0.2% 19.5% -0.3% 31 Jan 2020

Passive Smart Beta SciBeta Multifactor
Composite 144 5.7% -0.0% 22.9% -0.1% 9.5% -0.3% 25 Jul 2018

Passive Smart Beta
(Hedged)

SciBeta Multifactor
Hedged Composite 146 5.6% -0.0% 34.4% 0.1% 10.2% -0.4% 25 Jul 2018

Passive UK Equities FTSE All Share 113 5.7% 0.0% 21.8% 0.4% 1.9% 0.1% 11 Jul 2018

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Tradeable NAV performance reflects NET performance. The following product pages reflect the portfolio’s NET performance

Where there are disparities between returns quoted above and returns provided for the same fund and period in the following pages, this is because the fund-specific pages reflect the
posttransition phase, important for monitoring the performance of selected managers, while those given above reflect the Clients’ actual experience from the point of initial investment, which
in some cases includes the shared impact of transition costs.

Performance based on tradeable NAV

*Since Initial Investment

Page 17 of 60

P
age 134



Passive Developed Equities

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low cost
highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £2,111,251,813

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 7.5% 7.5% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD 7.5% 7.5% 0.0%

 1 Year 25.0% 25.1% -0.1%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 13.1% 13.2% 0.0%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

2 2
019

Q
3 2

019
Q

4 2
019

Q
1 2

020
Q

2 2
020

Q
3 2

020
Q

4 2
020

Q
1 2

021
Q

2 2
021

-14.0%

-7.0%

0.0%

7.0%

14.0%

21.0%

28.0%

35.0%

42.0%

49.0%

• In Q2 2021, global equity markets continued their rebound from Q1, with lockdowns easing significantly in many developed markets, and many of these
countries poised to reopen their economies more fully over Q3.  The benchmark FTSE Developed World Index was up 7.53% over this period, and up 25.03%
over the year to 30 June 2021. The Passive Developed Equities product closely replicated the performance of the benchmark over both periods.
 
• The value of sterling relative to other global currencies did not move significantly over the quarter. GBP appreciated marginally against the US dollar and
Japanese yen over Q2, up 0.13% and 0.59% respectively, but fell 0.77% against the euro. As a consequence, the hedged product performed in line with the
unhedged product, with 7.47% outperformance over the quarter.
 
• Like Q1 2021, all sectors performed positively over the quarter, in sterling terms. On this occasion Technology, Real Estate, Health Care and Energy were the
main beneficiaries. The performance of Utilities remained positive, although it significantly lagged the broader benchmark, alongside Telecoms.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 18 of 60

P
age 135



Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low cost
highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £712,567,357

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 7.5% 7.5% -0.1%

 Fiscal YTD 7.5% 7.5% -0.1%

 1 Year 36.3% 36.5% -0.2%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 13.0% 13.1% -0.1%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

2 2
019

Q
3 2

019
Q

4 2
019

Q
1 2

020
Q

2 2
020

Q
3 2

020
Q

4 2
020

Q
1 2

021
Q

2 2
021

-24.0%

-16.0%

-8.0%

0.0%

8.0%

16.0%

24.0%

32.0%

40.0%

48.0%

• In Q2 2021, global equity markets continued their rebound from Q1, with lockdowns easing significantly in many developed markets, and many of these
countries poised to reopen their economies more fully over Q3.  The benchmark FTSE Developed World Index was up 7.53% over this period, and up 25.03%
over the year to 30 June 2021. The Passive Developed Equities product closely replicated the performance of the benchmark over both periods.
 
• The value of sterling relative to other global currencies did not move significantly over the quarter. GBP appreciated marginally against the US dollar and
Japanese yen over Q2, up 0.13% and 0.59% respectively, but fell 0.77% against the euro. As a consequence, the hedged product performed in line with the
unhedged product, with 7.47% outperformance over the quarter.
 
• Like Q1 2021, all sectors performed positively over the quarter, in sterling terms. On this occasion Technology, Real Estate, Health Care and Energy were the
main beneficiaries. The performance of Utilities remained positive, although it significantly lagged the broader benchmark, alongside Telecoms.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 19 of 60

P
age 136



Passive Developed Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

APPLE INC 100,410,863

MICROSOFT CORP 95,339,647

AMAZON.COM INC 69,632,167

FACEBOOK INC-CLASS A 38,791,980

ALPHABET INC-CL A 34,221,315

ALPHABET INC-CL C 33,155,202

TESLA INC 24,578,281

NVIDIA CORP 22,344,098

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO 21,850,607

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 20,152,835

VISA INC-CLASS A SHARES 18,493,193

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 17,603,047

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 16,926,059

NESTLE SA-REG 16,214,172

HOME DEPOT INC 16,004,797

PAYPAL HOLDINGS INC 15,982,090

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS CO LTD 15,904,373

PROCTER & GAMBLE CO/THE 15,336,872

MASTERCARD INC - A 14,937,447

WALT DISNEY CO/THE 14,909,690

Top 20 Holdings

0 % 7 % 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

Americas  65.3%

Europe & Middle East  16.6%

Pacific  11.3%

UK    4.3%

Emerging Market    2.4%

Other    0.1%

Frontier Market    0.0%

Regional Exposure

0 % 2 % 4 % 6 % 8 % 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22%

Technology  21.6%

Financials  17.6%

Industrials  13.3%

Consumer Services  11.7%

Consumer Goods  11.6%

Health Care  11.2%

Basic Materials    3.9%

Oil & gas    3.2%

Utilities    2.7%

Telecommunications    1.9%

Cash    1.2%

Funds    0.1%

Consumer Staples    0.0%

Consumer Discretionary    0.0%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 20 of 60

P
age 137



Passive Developed Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 21 of 60

P
age 138



Passive Smart Beta

Description

Exposure to equity markets and a
combination of smart beta factors
to outperform market cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £881,022,188

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 5.7% 5.7% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD 5.7% 5.7% 0.0%

 1 Year 22.9% 23.1% -0.2%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 9.8% 10.0% -0.2%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

2 2
019

Q
3 2

019
Q

4 2
019

Q
1 2

020
Q

2 2
020

Q
3 2

020
Q

4 2
020

Q
1 2

021
Q

2 2
021

-18.0%

-12.0%

-6.0%

0.0%

6.0%

12.0%

18.0%

24.0%

30.0%

36.0%

The fund returned 5.7% in the second quarter of 2021, against an MSCI World Index return of 7.8%.
 
• Over the quarter, the negative correlation between the Value factor and US Treasury bonds highlighted how factor performance has been influenced by
growth and inflation expectations. Higher expectations for growth and inflation tend to increase Treasury yields and, in the first quarter, the performance of
the Value factor was strong. Over the second quarter, the Federal Reserve tempered growth and inflation expectations, Treasury yields fell, and the Value
factor underperformed. The fund’s low volatility factor exposure also detracted from performance relative to market capitalisation-weighted indices.
• The reduced expectations for growth and inflation benefitted the Quality factor, which outperformed in the second quarter.
• Over the quarter, some of the larger constituents of market cap-weighted indices outperformed. The fund seeks to increase diversification when
compared to market cap-weighted indices, resulting in underweight positions to these strong performers. This detracted from Q2 relative performance.
• There was notable divergence in regional factor performance over the quarter, in large part due to differences in the speed of deployment of Covid
vaccination programs and the impact this had on the strength of regional economic recovery.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 22 of 60

P
age 139



Passive Smart Beta (Hedged)

Description

Exposure to equity markets and a
combination of smart beta factors
to outperform market cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £146,451,497

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 5.6% 5.6% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD 5.6% 5.6% 0.0%

 1 Year 34.4% 34.4% 0.1%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 10.2% 10.6% -0.4%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

2 2
019

Q
3 2

019
Q

4 2
019

Q
1 2

020
Q

2 2
020

Q
3 2

020
Q

4 2
020

Q
1 2

021
Q

2 2
021

-28.0%

-21.0%

-14.0%

-7.0%

0.0%

7.0%

14.0%

21.0%

28.0%

35.0%

The fund returned 5.7% in the second quarter of 2021, against an MSCI World Index return of 7.8%.
 
• Over the quarter, the negative correlation between the Value factor and US Treasury bonds highlighted how factor performance has been influenced by
growth and inflation expectations. Higher expectations for growth and inflation tend to increase Treasury yields and, in the first quarter, the performance of
the Value factor was strong. Over the second quarter, the Federal Reserve tempered growth and inflation expectations, Treasury yields fell, and the Value
factor underperformed. The fund’s low volatility factor exposure also detracted from performance relative to market capitalisation-weighted indices.
• The reduced expectations for growth and inflation benefitted the Quality factor, which outperformed in the second quarter.
• Over the quarter, some of the larger constituents of market cap-weighted indices outperformed. The fund seeks to increase diversification when
compared to market cap-weighted indices, resulting in underweight positions to these strong performers. This detracted from Q2 relative performance.
• There was notable divergence in regional factor performance over the quarter, in large part due to differences in the speed of deployment of Covid
vaccination programs and the impact this had on the strength of regional economic recovery.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 23 of 60

P
age 140



Passive Smart Beta – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 7,210,763

WALMART INC 6,386,791

MERCK & CO. INC. 6,321,180

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 6,162,998

PFIZER INC 5,875,336

EBAY INC 5,857,642

ELECTRONIC ARTS INC 5,707,337

COMCAST CORP-CLASS A 5,703,797

SYNOPSYS INC 5,649,605

TARGET CORP 5,580,373

ABBOTT LABORATORIES 5,560,833

CISCO SYSTEMS INC 5,555,734

XILINX INC 5,450,007

COSTCO WHOLESALE CORP 5,385,300

ALLSTATE CORP 5,085,158

CUMMINS INC 5,054,962

INTEL CORP 4,998,218

AMAZON.COM INC 4,985,184

ALPHABET INC-CL A 4,928,468

COGNIZANT TECH SOLUTIONS-A 4,913,732

Top 20 Holdings

0 % 7 % 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

Americas  66.4%

Europe & Middle East  17.5%

Pacific  11.6%

UK    4.2%

Other    0.3%

Frontier Market    0.1%

Emerging Market    0.0%

Regional Exposure

0 % 3 % 6 % 9 % 12% 15%

Information Technology  15.1%

Financials  14.1%

Health Care  13.2%

Industrials  11.8%

Consumer Staples  11.3%

Consumer Discretionary    9.0%

Materials    6.9%

Communication Services    5.7%

Utilities    5.6%

Real Estate    4.3%

Energy    2.9%

Cash    -0.0%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 24 of 60

P
age 141



Passive Smart Beta – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 25 of 60

P
age 142



Passive UK Equities

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE All Share
using a low cost highly liquid
approach.

Invest passively in securities
underlying the FTSE All Share.
Provide long term growth

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £869,967,515

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 5.6% 5.6% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD 5.6% 5.6% 0.0%

 1 Year 21.7% 21.5% 0.3%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 1.9% 1.8% 0.0%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

2 2
019

Q
3 2

019
Q

4 2
019

Q
1 2

020
Q

2 2
020

Q
3 2

020
Q

4 2
020

Q
1 2

021
Q

2 2
021

-24.0%

-20.0%

-16.0%

-12.0%

-8.0%

-4.0%

0.0%

4.0%

8.0%

12.0%

• The UK stock market performed positively in Q2 2022, with the benchmark FTSE All-Share Index returning 5.61% through the period. The Brunel Passive UK
Equities product performed in line with the benchmark at 5.65%.
 
• Despite continued debate over the threat of inflation, potential policy reactions and concerns around the Delta variant of coronavirus, positive
performance continued over Q2 across all sectors of the FTSE All-Share, aside from Consumer Discretionary, which was down 0.65%. However, whilst Basic
Materials and Energy led last quarter’s positive performance, this quarter it was the turn of Health Care and Technology, up 15.84% and 11.08% respectively.
 
• The sector composition of the FTSE All-Share was a considerable boost when compared to its US and European peers in the initial rebound of Q1, as many
cyclical sectors with significant weight in the FTSE All-Share drove performance. In Q2, the reduced weighting of Technology companies provided a drag
when compared to peers, as this sector performed strongly.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 26 of 60

P
age 143



Passive UK Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

ASTRAZENECA PLC 40,787,873

UNILEVER PLC 39,449,569

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 30,503,983

DIAGEO PLC 28,434,081

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC 25,100,276

RIO TINTO PLC 23,133,333

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 22,867,161

BP PLC 22,424,735

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-A SHS 21,309,190

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-B SHS 18,507,431

BHP GROUP PLC 15,843,760

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC 14,494,721

GLENCORE PLC 13,127,795

PRUDENTIAL PLC 12,845,584

RELX PLC 12,772,503

ANGLO AMERICAN PLC 12,634,252

VODAFONE GROUP PLC 11,907,898

LLOYDS BANKING GROUP PLC 11,845,120

NATIONAL GRID PLC 11,703,357

BARCLAYS PLC 10,372,807

Top 20 Holdings

0 % 9 % 18% 27% 36% 45% 54% 63% 72% 81% 90%

UK  84.2%

Europe & Middle East  11.6%

Pacific    1.9%

Other    1.4%

Emerging Market    0.6%

Frontier Market    0.2%

Americas    0.2%

Regional Exposure

0 % 5 % 10% 15% 20% 25%

Financials  25.0%

Consumer Goods  16.2%

Industrials  12.8%

Consumer Services  12.2%

Basic Materials    9.5%

Health Care    9.1%

Oil & gas    7.4%

Utilities    2.9%

Telecommunications    2.2%

Cash    1.6%

Technology    1.1%

Consumer Discretionary    0.0%

Funds    0.0%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 27 of 60

P
age 144



Passive UK Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 28 of 60

P
age 145



Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund

Description

Provide exposure to a range of
alternative return drivers and a
degree of downside protection
from equity risk.

Actively managed to achieve
growth at moderate absolute risk,
diversified between asset classes
and by geography.

Managed Liquidity.

Moderate absolute risk against
cash.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,468,929,629

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 5.8% 0.0% 5.7%

 Fiscal YTD 5.8% 0.0% 5.7%

 1 Year

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 6.5% 0.0% 6.5%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
3 2

020

Q
4 2

020

Q
1 2

021

Q
2 2

021

-1.8%

-0.9%

0.0%

0.9%

1.8%

2.7%

3.6%

4.5%

5.4%

6.3%

Over Q2 2021, the DRF fund returned 5.8%. Since the performance inception date of 12 August 2020, the fund has returned 6.5%. vs a performance target
return (SONIA +3% p.a.) of 2.7% for the same period.
 
• The UBS currency strategy returned 8.9% over the second quarter. A long position in the Brazilian real, a high conviction portfolio position, made a large
positive contribution to returns as the Brazilian central bank raised interest rates in June and indicated that a further 75 basis point hike is likely in August.
• The quarter saw volatility in markets but ultimately lower US Treasury yields and positive returns from global equity markets. Beta exposure to both asset
classes in the Lombard Odier and William Blair portfolios helped each return in excess of 5% for the quarter.
• JPMorgan generated a positive return of 3% over the second quarter. Carry in sovereign bond markets made the largest contribution to return. Credit
carry, fixed income carry and equity trend also made positive contributions to returns. The fixed income trend following signal made a negative contribution
to returns over the quarter.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 29 of 60

P
age 146



Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Description

Provide exposure to emerging
market equities, targeting excess
returns and enhanced risk control
from leading managers.

A geographically diverse
portfolio, typically expected to
achieve higher long-term growth
rates than developed economies.

Managed liquidity. Less exposure
to more illiquid assets

High absolute risk with moderate
to high relative risk, around 5%
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,604,019,874

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 4.6% 5.0% -0.4%

 Fiscal YTD 4.6% 5.0% -0.4%

 1 Year 28.6% 26.4% 2.2%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 13.4% 13.7% -0.3%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

4 2
019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

Q
3 2

020

Q
4 2

020

Q
1 2

021

Q
2 2

021

-30.0%

-24.0%

-18.0%

-12.0%

-6.0%

0.0%

6.0%

12.0%

18.0%

24.0%

30.0%

It was another positive quarter of performance for emerging market equities. MSCI Emerging Markets, a proxy for emerging equities, returned +5.0% in GBP
terms. This capped an impressive year for emerging markets, with trailing year returns of +26.4%.
 
Country dispersion was mixed over the quarter. China continued to lag other emerging markets after minor relapses in Covid cases, returning a modest
+2.2% in Q2 2021. Brazil and Russia were amongst the most impressive over the quarter, returning +22.8% and +14.2% respectively. Both countries saw
significant currency appreciation vs the US dollar; the Russian rouble was particularly successful as a result of rate rise expectations and stronger oil prices –
the currency rose 13%. The quarter’s country laggards included smaller Latin America countries like Chile and Peru, which fell by 13.8% and 8.9%
respectively. Chile’s stock market dived after voters backed hard-left independent candidates to write the country’s new constitution, which represented a
radical change from the traditional parties of the left and right.
 
Most sectors made positive returns in Q2 2021, the only exception was Real Estate, which depreciated 6%. Energy continued to outperform most sectors,
mostly due to supportive oil prices. WTI Oil appreciated by an impressive 24% in GBP terms, mainly due to a significant shift in supply and demand dynamics.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 31 of 60

P
age 147



Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Continued Commentary

Increased demand was a direct result of progress in global Covid vaccine rollout. Furthermore, prices were stimulated by Opec+ producers agreeing to only
release a very modest amount of supply, which was not anticipated by the market.
 
Investment styles diverged significantly over the quarter. The most successful style was defensive securities, proxied by MSCI Emerging Markets Defensive
Sectors, which outperformed the broader market index by +3.6%. On the flip side, prime value - which represents high quality companies trading at cheap
valuations - struggled; this style underperformed the broader market by -2.5% over the quarter. Common styles like broad Value, Growth and Quality were
largely in line with the market over Q2 2021.
 
The portfolio made a positive return over the quarter but lagged the benchmark on a relative basis. Total return was 4.6%, which was 0.4% behind the
benchmark on a net-of-fees basis. Managers experienced very mixed performance; Genesis, Wellington and Ninety-One had relative returns of -0.1%, +0.5%
and -1.3% respectively. It could be argued that allocations to sectors and countries were material last quarter, in particular, the underweight positioning in
Energy and India were detrimental to relative performance. Stock selection remains the driving force behind returns in the longer term.
 
• Relative performance was impacted by un-held names over the quarter. High-growth names bounced significantly from mid-May onwards. Examples
include NIO, an electric vehicle producer, which appreciated by over 30%. The portfolio does not hold NIO, but the benchmark has a weighting of 0.6%.
which resulted in a significant detraction from the portfolio’s relative performance. Chinese education stocks also detracted from performance, as the
Chinese government announced a crackdown on outside-hours education companies to rein in unfair pricing and bad practices. Companies like TAL
Education and New Oriental suffered significantly, falling by 53% and 42% respectively. The portfolio maintains a collective overweight position of +0.42% vs
benchmark in these two companies.
 
• Country allocation detracted significantly, accounting for almost all of the portfolio’s relative under performance. The 6% underweight to India caused a
drag on performance after the country returned 6.9%, almost 2% more than the benchmark. Brazil was also a significant detractor; it had a hugely
impressive quarter, rallying 22.8%, partially driven by currency appreciation after its central bank raised interest rates to 4.25% to combat runaway inflation.
The fund is currently 2% underweight. On the positive side, the underweight to China benefited the portfolio once again. Relapses in Covid cases in China
caused it to underperform the benchmark by 2.7%; the 5% underweight resulted in a positive impact on relative performance.
 
• Sector allocation also hindered relative performance last quarter. Overall sector allocation impacts were more than the total underperformance. Energy
was responsible for 50% of this alone. Oil price rises caused Energy to return 12.4% last quarter, comfortably in excess of the 5.0% broader market return. The
fund has been underweight Energy since inception, with a current underweight of 3% causing a drag on performance.
 
• Since-inception performance has slipped further behind benchmark as a result of the latest quarter’s performance. Net-of-fees annualised portfolio return
is now 13.4%, which is 0.3% behind benchmark. The portfolio remains ahead of benchmark on a gross-of-fees basis, with an annualised return of 14.0%, which
is 0.3% ahead of benchmark.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 32 of 60

P
age 148



Brunel Emerging Market Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFAC 115,011,938

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 101,004,205

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS CO LTD 63,018,219

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING-SP ADR 48,395,454

ISHARES MSCI INDIA ETF 40,457,588

SBERBANK PJSC -SPONSORED ADR 35,396,528

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING LTD 28,897,984

AIA GROUP LTD 28,203,267

INFOSYS LTD-SP ADR 25,638,661

NASPERS LTD-N SHS 20,479,209

HDFC BANK LTD-ADR 18,347,400

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS-PREF 16,736,292

MEDIATEK INC 16,605,278

WULIANGYE YIBIN CO LTD-A 16,364,822

YANDEX NV-A 15,959,412

BID CORP LTD 15,913,003

COUNTRY GARDEN SERVICES HOLD 14,928,172

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK-H 14,623,158

CHINA LONGYUAN POWER GROUP-H 14,240,562

Top 20 Holdings

0 % 7 % 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

Asia  63.9%

Europe Middle East & Africa  12.1%

Americas  10.9%

Pacific    5.1%

Europe & Middle East    3.2%

Frontier Market    2.0%

UK    1.8%

Other    1.0%

Regional Exposure

0 % 2 % 4 % 6 % 8 % 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20%

Information Technology  20.0%

Consumer Discretionary  17.8%

Financials  16.1%

Communication Services  12.6%

Consumer Staples  10.7%

Materials    5.5%

Industrials    3.9%

Health Care    3.8%

Funds    2.6%

Cash    2.3%

Energy    2.1%

Utilities    1.8%

Real Estate    1.0%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 33 of 60

P
age 149



Brunel Emerging Market Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 34 of 60

P
age 150



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Description

Provide global equity market
exposure together with excess
returns from accessing leading
managers.

High conviction, concentrated
portfolios with strong style/factor
biases invested in a
unconstrained manner.

Managed liquidity. Less exposure
to more illiquid assets.

High absolute risk with moderate
to high relative risk, around 5-6%
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £3,565,795,616

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 9.3% 7.8% 1.6%

 Fiscal YTD 9.3% 7.8% 1.6%

 1 Year 32.1% 24.9% 7.2%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 28.9% 18.4% 10.5%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

4 2
019

Q
1 2

020

Q
2 2

020

Q
3 2

020

Q
4 2

020

Q
1 2

021

Q
2 2

021

-14.0%

-7.0%

0.0%

7.0%

14.0%

21.0%

28.0%

35.0%

42.0%

49.0%

This quarter witnessed the continuance of the global equity rally, with US and global indices hitting new highs, despite short-lived hiatuses in May and June.
Global developed equities (as proxied by the MSCI World index) delivered a 7.8% return, outperforming the MSCI Emerging Markets index by 2.8% in GBP
terms. Within developed markets, the US and Europe ex UK outperformed, while Japan lagged. On a style basis, Quality and Growth outperformed Value
over the quarter, whilst on a sector basis the best performers were IT, Real Estate and Consumer Services, with Utilities the poorest-performing sector.
 
The portfolio returned 9.3% over the quarter, outperforming the benchmark by 1.6%, almost entirely driven by stock selection.
• Stock selection was particularly strong in Health Care, with overweights in the likes of BioNTech, Moderna and Genmab (which returned 104%, 79% and
24% respectively). Other overweights to add strongly to relative performance included quality Financials names such as MSCI and Moody’s, which
performed well after underperforming last the previous quarter. In contrast, the second quarter saw challenges to some of the off-benchmark Chinese
names, in particular, Tal Education (-53%), KE Holdings (-17%), and Pinduoduo (-5%) – see further comments on China below.
• Sector allocation was marginally beneficial over the quarter, mainly as a result of a zero allocation to Utilities, the worst-performing sector over the quarter.
• On a country allocation basis, the portfolio’s overweight to China detracted (0.4%) whilst the underweight to the US had a small negative impact.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 35 of 60

P
age 151



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Continued Commentary

Four of the five managers outperformed the index this quarter. Harris underperformed following a significant outperformance over the previous two quarters.
Fiera provided the largest contribution to fund returns, reflecting its large allocation within the fund and their strong outperformance (+2.6%) during the
quarter. Baillie Gifford was the highest performing manager this quarter, as its growth style was rewarded. Manager performance continues to reflect the
different investment styles of the managers.
 
Since inception, the portfolio has outperformed the index by 10.5% on an annualised basis, outperforming in five of the six full quarters. Attribution analysis
shows that this outperformance was largely a result of positive stock selection, which reflects the approach of employing fundamental managers chosen for
their ability to select concentrated portfolios of high conviction names.
 
As a developed market portfolio, exposure to China is limited as part of the off-benchmark allowance, and the allocation to China currently stands at 5%.
Nevertheless, the growing influence of China (both through direct investment and, indirectly, through complex global supply chains), offers a source of
opportunity and risk for global managers. As noted above, the quarter saw some China-related governance risks play out, as Tal Education was among the
private education sector companies impacted by the Chinese government’s decision to cap fees and operating times of the private education sector,
citing the pressure on children. After quarter-end, China’s cyber security regulator clamped down on three Chinese tech companies (not held in the
portfolio) that had listed in the US in June, launching investigations and, in some cases, stopping them registering new users. Both instances are examples of
regulatory risks that can be greater when investing in Chinese companies. Whilst the direct allocation to China remains a small part of the fund, Brunel is
working with our investment managers to understand their approaches to China, and how they will continue to seek to address the related opportunities
and risks.
 
During the quarter, £67m was redeemed from the portfolio.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 36 of 60

P
age 152



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

MICROSOFT CORP 145,188,069

ALPHABET INC-CL A 108,567,447

MASTERCARD INC - A 95,644,378

MOODY'S CORP 79,409,003

AMAZON.COM INC 73,886,972

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR-SP ADR 71,442,281

NESTLE SA-REG 66,356,776

KEYENCE CORP 65,088,729

TJX COMPANIES INC 59,311,455

ASML HOLDING NV 58,462,807

SCHWAB (CHARLES) CORP 54,437,895

NIKE INC -CL B 54,395,377

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING-SP ADR 52,910,748

CAPGEMINI SE 45,092,602

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 44,722,333

APTIV PLC 43,705,376

FACEBOOK INC-CLASS A 42,833,176

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 40,851,148

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 38,592,347

MSCI INC 38,370,340

Top 20 Holdings

0 % 6 % 12% 18% 24% 30% 36% 42% 48% 54% 60%

Americas  55.5%

Europe & Middle East  20.4%

Emerging Market    9.4%

Pacific    7.5%

UK    7.2%

Other    0.0%

Regional Exposure

0 % 2 % 4 % 6 % 8 % 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22% 24%

Information Technology  22.8%

Consumer Discretionary  16.8%

Health Care  14.5%

Industrials  12.5%

Financials  11.8%

Communication Services    8.6%

Consumer Staples    5.7%

Materials    4.8%

Cash    1.1%

Real Estate    0.7%

Energy    0.6%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 37 of 60

P
age 153



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 38 of 60

P
age 154



Brunel Global Sustainable Equities

Description

To provide exposure to global
sustainable equities markets,
including excess returns from
manager skill and ESG
considerations.
Actively managed, diversified by
sector and geography.
Consideration for a companies
Environmental & Social
sustainability.

Managed Liquidity.

High, representing an equity
portfolio.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £2,022,059,559

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 8.4% 7.4% 1.1%

 Fiscal YTD 8.4% 7.4% 1.1%

 1 Year

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 16.4% 18.7% -2.2%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
4 2

020

Q
1 2

021

Q
2 2

021

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

20.0%

The Global Sustainable Equity portfolio launched on 19 October. Since the inception of the fund, the MSCI ACWI index has returned 18.6%, whilst the
portfolio has returned 16.4% on a net-of-fees basis. Over the quarter, the fund returned 8.5% on a net basis, outperforming the MSCI ACWI, which returned
7.4%.
 
• During the quarter, there was a resurgence for Growth and Quality stocks after the Value rally of Q1 2021. However, the market did cool slightly through
May, as inflation fears led investors to err on the side of caution and take some risk off the table. The ACWI returned -1% over the month, with the Growth
index returning -2.6% for the month. Investors took a more optimistic view throughout June after the US Fed described the current inflation figures as
“transitory”, expressing a desire not to increase interest rates for the time being. This led the market to finish the quarter up 7.3% – the Brunel Global
Sustainable Equity fund outperformed by 1.1%.
 
• Since the launch of the portfolio, there have been notable Value headwinds, as the economy began to reopen and give renewed optimism to the
Cyclical Value parts of the market. However, we take comfort in the fact that all three managers have been able to provide differing sources of alpha since

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 39 of 60

P
age 155



Brunel Global Sustainable Equities

Continued Commentary

the inception of the portfolio.
 
• Over the quarter, we have seen the broad sustainable managers outperform the market, RBC and Ownership returning 9.5% and 8.8% respectively.
However, Nordea’s Climate & Environment thematic strategy provided a return of 6.5%, underperforming the MSCI ACWI. Nordea’s underperformance can
be largely attributed to performance in June, when we saw Large Cap/Growth/technology stocks, outperform the other sections of the market. This was
particularly notable in Nordea’s smmall/midcap stock selection in the IT sector and overweight to the Industrials sector. However, over the quarter, we saw
RBC add value through the selection of Communication Services and large cap IT holdings, whilst Ownership was able to add value through Health Care
stock selection. The stock selection exhibited by Ownership and RBC led to an overall outperformance from the fund.
 
• The fund continues to demonstrate the characteristics that were outlined during the original construction phase of the portfolio. The Sustainalytics scores
remain superior to that of the MSCI ACWI benchmark and we continue to see a carbon intensity reduction of 26% in comparison to the broader index.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 40 of 60

P
age 156



Brunel Global Sustainable Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC 58,392,271

MASTERCARD INC - A 52,263,467

ADYEN NV 51,815,371

ANSYS INC 46,513,735

MICROSOFT CORP 41,951,109

INTUIT INC 41,908,850

WORKDAY INC-CLASS A 40,905,482

ALPHABET INC-CL A 40,375,041

EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORP 38,937,217

PAYPAL HOLDINGS INC 37,767,704

BIO-TECHNE CORP 37,661,022

TRADEWEB MARKETS INC-CLASS A 37,431,474

ILLUMINA INC 37,341,461

MASIMO CORP 36,167,707

ECOLAB INC 35,329,866

ROCHE HOLDING AG-GENUSSCHEIN 34,778,508

PTC INC 32,877,045

DEUTSCHE POST AG-REG 31,852,742

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 30,340,639

INTERCONTINENTAL EXCHANGE IN 29,178,205

Top 20 Holdings

0 % 7 % 14% 21% 28% 35% 42% 49% 56% 63% 70%

Americas  68.4%

Europe & Middle East  16.3%

UK    6.3%

Pacific    6.0%

Emerging Market    2.9%

Other    0.0%

Regional Exposure

0 % 3 % 6 % 9 % 12% 15% 18% 21% 24% 27% 30%

Information Technology  28.7%

Health Care  16.8%

Industrials  16.8%

Financials  13.1%

Materials    7.2%

Consumer Discretionary    5.6%

Consumer Staples    3.5%

Communication Services    2.9%

Cash    2.2%

Utilities    1.9%

Energy    0.9%

Real Estate    0.3%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 41 of 60

P
age 157



Brunel Global Sustainable Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 42 of 60

P
age 158



Brunel Smaller Companies Equities

Description

To provide exposure to global
small capitalisation company
equities together with excess
returns from manager skill.

Actively managed, diversified by
geography. Small capitalisation
companies will be as defined by
the relevant index provider.

Managed liquidity. Traditionally
lower than broader market.

High to very high absolute risk with
moderate to high relative risk,
around 5%.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £830,800,246

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 6.1% 5.0% 1.1%

 Fiscal YTD 6.1% 5.0% 1.1%

 1 Year

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 30.1% 31.5% -1.4%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.

Q
4 2

020

Q
1 2

021

Q
2 2

021

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

Over the quarter, global small cap equity markets (proxied by the MSCI World Small Cap index) delivered a 5.0% return as investor sentiment remained
positive on encouraging Covid vaccination efforts and the potential impact on global economic growth. The slight Growth tilt of the portfolio contributed
positively, as this quarter saw Growth stocks outperform their Value counterparts, after a period of underperformance.
 
The Global Small Cap Equities portfolio returned 6.3% over the quarter, outperforming the MSCI World Small Cap benchmark by 1.3%. The outperformance
was primarily a result of stock selection. Healthcare and Retail sectors contributing most positively over the period.
 
Dispersion in manager performance primarily occurred due to individual manager characteristics and style biases.
 
• Montanaro outperformed the benchmark by 3.6%, a reflection of its significant bias towards Growth. A key driver of this outperformance was stock
selection, most notably in the Health Care.
 

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 43 of 60

P
age 159



Brunel Smaller Companies Equities

Continued Commentary

• American Century outperformed to a lesser extent (1.3% relative to the benchmark), due to its more moderate Growth bias. Stock selection in the
consumer non-durables and retail sectors contributed positively. However, performance was dampened by an underweight to the Energy sector, which
performed strongly.
 
• Kempen modestly underperformed the benchmark by 0.7% as a result of its Value bias and negative selection effects.
 
The sub-fund increased in size over the quarter due to a new £15m subscription from a client. The total AUM of the fund was c. £830.7m at the end of the
quarter.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 44 of 60

P
age 160



Brunel Smaller Companies Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

JABIL INC 12,154,729

NOVA MEASURING INSTRUMENTS 11,610,311

BRUNSWICK CORP 11,102,791

HOULIHAN LOKEY INC 10,071,900

PRO MEDICUS LTD 9,551,879

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH CO-CL A 9,080,349

DENA CO LTD 8,937,106

WINTRUST FINANCIAL CORP 8,693,518

FOX FACTORY HOLDING CORP 8,472,370

ULVAC INC 8,175,918

BEFESA SA 7,989,739

TECHNOLOGY ONE LTD 7,849,702

FUJITEC CO LTD 7,717,668

ICON PLC 7,481,184

DIALOG SEMICONDUCTOR PLC 7,446,017

TREX COMPANY INC 7,392,672

WEST FRASER TIMBER CO LTD 7,319,425

HASEKO CORP 7,074,606

FORTNOX AB 6,938,617

THERMON GROUP HOLDINGS INC 6,789,572

Top 20 Holdings

0 % 6 % 12% 18% 24% 30% 36% 42% 48% 54% 60%

Americas  55.2%

Europe & Middle East  20.7%

Pacific  13.2%

UK    7.9%

Emerging Market    2.0%

Frontier Market    0.6%

Other    0.4%

Regional Exposure

0 % 2 % 4 % 6 % 8 % 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20%

Information Technology  19.0%

Industrials  19.0%

Consumer Discretionary  18.7%

Health Care  12.7%

Financials  10.4%

Materials    7.0%

Real Estate    5.2%

Communication Services    3.6%

Consumer Staples    1.7%

Energy    1.1%

Cash    1.1%

Utilities    0.6%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 45 of 60

P
age 161



Brunel Smaller Companies Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 46 of 60

P
age 162



Brunel UK Active Equity

Description

Provide exposure to UK Equities,
together with enhanced returns
from manager skill.

Skilled managers will create
opportunities to add long term
value through stock selection and
portfolio construction.

Managed level of liquidity. Less
exposure to more illiquid assets.

High absolute risk with moderate
relative risk, around 4% tracking
error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,512,303,849

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month 5.2% 5.5% -0.4%

 Fiscal YTD 5.2% 5.5% -0.4%

 1 Year 20.0% 20.8% -0.8%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 4.9% 4.9% 0.0%

Performance to Quarter End Roll ing Performance*

Fund Benchmark Benchmark Cum. Fund Cum.
Q

2 2
019

Q
3 2

019
Q

4 2
019

Q
1 2

020
Q

2 2
020

Q
3 2

020
Q

4 2
020

Q
1 2

021
Q

2 2
021

-30.0%

-25.0%

-20.0%

-15.0%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

The FTSE All-Share Index excluding Investment Trusts returned 5.5% over the quarter, very similar to the 5.6% return the previous quarter. However, in contrast
to the previous quarter, UK equities underperformed global developed market indices. This can be partly explained by the differing sector makeup of the UK
equity market. The Technology sector was a key driver of global equity returns and the UK index is under-represented in Technology compared to US and
European counterparts. Additionally, the Financials sector (a significant portion of the UK index) struggled, hurting the UK index more than others. Happily,
the UK did benefit from the strong returns generated within Health Care. On a factor basis, the rotation into Size and Value stuttered over the quarter, as
Quality outperformed, the latter benefitting from the unwinding of the reflation trade in the second half of the quarter. Size and Value remain the leading
factors over the 12-month period.
 
Over the quarter, the portfolio returned 5.2%, underperforming the index by 0.4%. Attribution analysis shows relative fund performance was driven by the
negative impact from sector allocation, whilst stock selection made a small positive contribution.
• Sector allocation detracted as the fund’s largest overweight sector (Financials) was also the lowest performing sector. The fund also had a material
underweight to Health Care, the best performing sector. Other large relative sector positions (overweight to Industrials, underweights to Consumer Staples,

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 47 of 60

P
age 163



Brunel UK Active Equity

Continued Commentary

Energy and Utilities) were less impactful.
• Stock selection was marginally positive with good selection in Consumer Discretionary offsetting poorer selection in Health Care and Financials.
• On a fundamentals basis, the overweight to earnings quality benefitted, whilst the overweight to small cap was neutral and the underweight allocation to
dividend yield (proxy for value) detracted.
 
At the manager level, Invesco outperformed the index by 0.3% whilst Bailie Gifford underperformed by 1.3%.
• Invesco’s quantitative factor strategy and more risk managed approach held up well during the quarter and, of the targeted factors, Value and
Momentum contributed positively on a relative basis whilst Quality modestly detracted.
• Baillie Gifford’s underperformance of 1.3% resulted from both sector allocation (as their significant overweight to Financials and underweight to Health
Care both hurt) and stock selection. Stock selection in Health Care was poor as two large constituents in the index (Astra Zeneca and GSK) were not held
and returned over 19% and 11% respectively. Other notable detractors included Trainline, which fell 36% after a proposal by the Williams Review for a new
entity to launch a centralised online ticketing service took investors by surprise. Significant overweight positions in Ashtead and St. James’s Place, which
returned 24% and 19% respectively, helped to partially offset the poorer-performing names.
 
Fund performance since inception is in line with the index. The performance trend since the Covid pandemic saw the portfolio perform strongly in the two
quarters following the start of the pandemic, but then underperform over the last three quarters, in particular struggling in the Value rebound in Q4 2020,
which is not unexpected given the longer-term characteristics of the portfolio.
 
The UK equity market continues to see structural change.
• We are currently seeing an increase in the amount of corporate activity in the UK market. In particular, private equity buyout activity is at raised levels as
investors seek to take advantage of the lower valuations within the UK compared to other developed equity markets.
• The FCA published proposals on 5 July to reform rules for company listings, in response to the Hill recommendations. They propose to allow those founders
who remain executives to control 50% of the voting power while holding 5% of the total shares, for up to five years. The proposals also reduce the minimum
proportion of shares offered from 25% to 10% (Hill recommended 15%), whilst raising the minimum market capitalisation for new companies to £50m,
compared to £700k now. It remains to be seen how such changes would impact the longer-term decline in UK listings. Following a consultation period, any
changes are expected to be in place by the end of the year.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 48 of 60

P
age 164



Brunel UK Active Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

ASTRAZENECA PLC 60,927,199

RIO TINTO PLC 59,823,142

BHP GROUP PLC 52,218,200

UNILEVER PLC 51,799,041

DIAGEO PLC 42,364,305

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 38,360,258

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP PLC 34,186,351

PRUDENTIAL PLC 30,252,429

BAILLIE GIFFORD BR SM-C-ACC 29,829,144

HIKMA PHARMACEUTICALS PLC 29,038,086

ASHTEAD GROUP PLC 28,673,786

ST JAMES'S PLACE PLC 28,201,845

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 26,991,260

BUNZL PLC 26,782,483

ROYAL DUTCH SHELL PLC-A SHS 26,473,939

RIGHTMOVE PLC 25,921,673

AUTO TRADER GROUP PLC 25,216,817

PERSIMMON PLC 24,524,769

BARCLAYS PLC 24,217,966

FERGUSON PLC 21,490,632

Top 20 Holdings

-10% 0 % 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

UK  88.3%

Europe & Middle East    5.6%

Pacific    3.5%

Frontier Market    1.9%

Emerging Market    0.6%

Other    0.1%

Americas    -0.0%

Regional Exposure

0 % 2 % 4 % 6 % 8 % 10% 12% 14% 16% 18% 20% 22%

Financials  21.9%

Industrials  17.9%

Consumer Goods  15.9%

Consumer Services  14.6%

Basic Materials  10.3%

Health Care    8.4%

Oil & gas    4.1%

Technology    2.3%

Funds    2.0%

Cash    1.4%

Telecommunications    0.9%

Utilities    0.3%

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 49 of 60

P
age 165



Brunel UK Active Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 50 of 60

P
age 166



Glossary of Terms

 Term  Previously referred as  Meaning

 Absolute return
 Allocation

 Alternative Investment Fund (AIF)

A fund manager that is authorised (full scope AIFM) or registered (if they
manage AIFs with assets under management below certain thresholds) to
manage AIFs such as hedge funds, private equity, real estate funds.

 Alternative Investment Fund Managers (AIFM)

 Annualised

Measures the impact of decisions to allocate assets differently from the
benchmark.
An Alternative Investment Fund such as a hedge fund, private equity, real
estate fund and other funds focused on alternative asset classes.

Figures expressed as applying to one year.

The actual return, as opposed to the return relative to a benchmark.

This is an EU law that requires each AIF managed within the scope of the
Directive to have a single AIFM responsible for ensuring compliance with
the Directive.

 Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive

 Assets Under Management (AUM) This measures the total market value of all the financial assets which a
financial institution such as a mutual fund, venture capital firm, or
brokerage house manages on behalf of its clients and themselves.

 Attribution Identifies the drivers of performance relative to the fund benchmark. The
relative return is decomposed into two areas; Allocation and Selection.

An investment vehicle and fund manager, based in the UK, that allows
LGPS pension funds or other organisations with money to invest alongside
each other - while keeping a clear record of who owns what.

 Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS)

Expected return based on market indices as dictated by the fund strategy. Benchmark Return
Board of executive and non-executive directors, leading the Brunel
company.

 Brunel Manager Brunel Board

Brunel Pension Partnership - The FCA-authorised investment manager entity
that manages the pooled investments.

 Brunel

The Executive Directors are responsible for overseeing the delivery of the
Brunel objectives.

 Brunel Executive Directors

.

 (AIFMD)

 Board

(ED)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 51 of 60

P
age 167



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

One of the eight LGPS Pools in England & Wales. A FCA regulated
company, wholly owned by the Administering Authorities, and responsible
for implementing the asset allocation strategies of the Brunel Funds by
investing Fund assets within defined 'portfolios'.  In particular, it will research
and select the investment funds needed to meet the requirements of the
detailed Strategic Asset Allocations.  These investment funds will be
operated by professional external investment managers.

 Brunel Pension Partnership Limited

Brunel Pension Partnership [c£30bn: Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall,
Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire,
Somerset, Wiltshire]

A corporate officer primarily responsible for managing the financial risks of
the corporation. This officer is also responsible for financial planning and
record-keeping, as well as financial reporting to higher management. In
the Local Authorities this is the S151 officer.

 Chief Finance Officer

The chief lawyer of the legal department, usually in a company or a
governmental department who minimizes its legal risks by advising the
company's other officers and board members on any major legal and
regulatory issues the company confronts, such as litigation risks. In the Local
Authorities this is the Monitoring Officer.

 Chief Legal Officer

This is an investment scheme wherein several individuals come together to
pool their money for investing in a particular asset(s) and for sharing the
returns arising from that investment as per the agreement reached
between them prior to pooling in the money.

 Collective Investment Scheme

.

 Creation, Amendment and Deletion policy Brunel procedure for creation, amendment and deletion of portfolios

 Cross Pool Collaboration Group A collaborative group across the eight UK LGPS pools

(Brunel)

(CFO)

(CLO)

(CIS)

(CAD policy)

(CPCG)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 52 of 60

P
age 168



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

Auditors, appointed to provide internal audit services to Brunel Deloitte
The weighted average time to payment of cashflows (in years), calculated
by reference to the time and amount of each payment. It is a measure of
the sensitivity of price/value to movement in yields.

 Duration

A subset of non-financial performance indicators used by investors to
evaluate corporate behaviour and to determine the future financial
performance of companies.

 Environment, Social and Governance

Finance and Legal Assurance Group (with membership of each AAs
equivalent to Chief Finance Officer (CFO) and Chief Legal Officer (CLO))
will sponsor the changes in the Funds and the arrangements for
governance of the Brunel company.

 Finance and Legal Assurance Group

This is a financial regulatory body in the United Kingdom, which operates
independently of the UK government and is financed by charging fees to
members of the financial services industry.

 Financial Conduct Authority

.

 Freedom Of Information Request The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA ) gives individuals the right to
request access to recorded information held by public sector
organisations.

 Fund Manager An organisation that provides investment products

Strategic, financial, economic, commercial and management case. Full Business Case

 FundRock FundRock is a leading third party UCITS Management Company,
Alternative Investment Fund Manager, Authorised Corporate Director and
Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS) Operator. FundRock serves as
Brunel’s ACS operator.

 Fund Return The total return achieved by the fund or asset class over the period. The
return is obtained using the following equation on a monthly basis:
((capital gain/loss + income) / average balance) * 100

 Grant Thornton Auditors appointed to provide external audit services to Brunel
 INALYTICS An investment transition advisor procured by Brunel to initially advise on the

passive equities transition

(ESG)

(FBC)
(FLAG)

(FCA)

(FOI)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 53 of 60

P
age 169



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

The Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) is a forum for
investors to collaborate on climate change. IIGCC’s mission is to mobilise
capital for the low carbon future by amplifying the investor voice and
collaborating with business, policymakers and investors. IIGCC provides
investors with a collaborative platform to encourage public policies,
investment practices, and corporate behaviour that address long-term risks
and opportunities associated with climate change.

 Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change

The contract with a fund manager Investment Management Agreement
 Replaces the A document that replaces the Statement of Investment Principles under

the 2016 LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations.
Administering Authorities are required to prepare and maintain an ISS
documenting how the investment strategy for the fund is determined and
implemented, including its approach to pooling.

 Investment Strategy Statement

The process of a business identifying and verifying the identity of its clients.
The term is also used to refer to the bank regulation which governs these
activities.

 Know Your Customer

Investment management firm Legal & General Investment Management

.

 Local Government Association This is an organisation which comprises local authorities in England and
Wales. The LGA seeks to promote better local government; it maintains
communication between officers in different local authorities to develop
best practice. It also represents the interests of local government to
national government.

 Local Authority Pension Funds Investments A magazine for local authority pension investment specialists.
The collaborative shareholder engagement group for local authority
pension funds. The Forum provides a unique opportunity for Britain's local
authority pension funds to discuss investment issues and shareholder
engagement.

 Local Authority Pension Fund Forum

 Local Government Pension Scheme This is a nationwide scheme and is a valuable part of the pay and
rewardpackage for employees working in local government or working for
otheremployers participating in the Scheme and for some councillors.

 (IIGCC)

 Statement of
 Investment Principles

(IMA)
(ISS)

(KYC)

 (LGIM)

(LAPFF)
(LAPF)

(LGA)

(LGPS)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 54 of 60

P
age 170



Glossary of Terms

 Meaning Previously referred as Term

The Scheme is administered locally for participating employers through 99
regional pension funds

 Local Government Pension Scheme

 Draft LGPS Regulations 2016 (Investment Regulations) that came into effect 1
November 2016.

 LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds)

A move toward investment fee transparency and consistency, and part of
the government’s criteria for pooling investments.

 LGPS Code of Transparency (Transparency Code)

The impact of the assets producing returns different to those assumed
within the actuarial valuation basis, excluding the yield change and
inflation impact.

 Market volatility

The rate of return on an investment including the amount and timing of
cashflows.

 Money-weighted rate of return

.

 Fund Portfolio The grouping of the asset types to be available for funds. For example,
Global Equities Core, Hedge funds, UK Gilts, LDI.

 Portfolio group The higher level category of asset types. For example, equities, alternatives,
fixed interest.

 MiFID MiFID is the European Union (EU) legislation that regulates firms who provide
services to clients linked to ‘financial instruments’ (shares, bonds, units in
collective investment schemes and derivatives), and the venues where
those instruments are traded. MiFID applied in the UK from November 2007,
and was revised by MiFID II, which took effect in January 2018. MiFID II is
made up of MiFID (2014/65/EU) and the Markets in Financial Instruments
Regulation (MiFIR - 600/2014/EU).

 Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II

The return on a fund compared to the return on index or benchmark. This is
defined as: Return on Fund minus Return on index or Benchmark.

 Relative return

Measures the impact of performance at asset class or manager level in
relation to the overall fund.

 Selection

 Regulations 2016 (Investment Regulations)  (Management and
 Investment of Funds)
 Regulations 2016

(MiFID II)

 (LGPS)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 55 of 60

P
age 171



Glossary of Terms

 Term  Previously referred as  Meaning

 Time-weighted rate of return

 Yield (Gross Redemption Yield) The return expected from a board if held to maturity. It is calculated by
finding the rate of return that equates the current market price to the value
of future cashflows.

The rate of return on an investment removing the effect of the amount and
timing of cashflows..

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 56 of 60

P
age 172



Disclaimer

This material is for information only and for the sole use of the recipient, it is not to be reproduced, copied or shared. The report was prepared
utilising agreed scenarios, assumptions and formats.

Brunel accepts no liability for loss arising for the use of this material and any opinions expressed are current (at time of publication) only. This
report is not meant as a guide to investing or as a source of specific investment recommendations and does not constitute investment research.

Certain information included in this report may have been sourced from third parties. While Brunel believes that such third party information is
reliable, Brunel does not guarantee its accuracy, timeliness or completeness and it is subject to change without notice.

Nothing in this report should be interpreted to state or imply that past performance is an indicator of future performance. References to
benchmark or indices are provided for information only and do not imply that your portfolio will achieve similar results.

Brunel provides products and services to professional, institutional investors and its services are not directed at, or open to, retail clients.

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168.

The Industry Classification Benchmark is a joint product of FTSE International Limited and Dow Jones & Company, Inc. and has been licensed for
use.‘FTSE’ is a trade and service mark of London Stock Exchange and The Financial Times Limited. “Dow Jones” and “DJ” are trade and service
marks of Dow Jones & Company Inc. FTSE and Dow Jones do not accept any liability to any person for any loss or damage arising out of any error
or omission in the ICB.

The Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS®) was developed by and is the exclusive property of Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc.
and Standard & Poor’s. GICS is a service mark of MSCI and S&P and has been licensed for use by State Street Bank and Trust Company.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2021

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 59 of 60

P
age 173



Information Classification: Public Page 60 of 60

P
age 174



 

 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 

  

Quarterly Report 30 June 2021 

For professional clients only, not suitable for retail investors 
 

 

Page 175



 

CONTENTS 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2021 2 │ PAGE 
 

Contents  

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 3 
 

 

 

Page 176



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2021 3 │ PAGE 
 

RLPPC Over 5 Year C orporate Bond Fund 

Reported yields reflect RLAM's current perception of market conventions around timing of bond cash flows. Heightened uncertainty due to the 

COVID 19 crisis may impact these timings for bonds with callable feature. 

Performance 

 Fund (%) Benchmark¹ (%) Relative (%) 

Q2 2021 3.28 2.35 0.93 

Year-to-date -1.28 -3.73 2.45 

Rolling 12 months 5.28 1.54 3.74 

3 years p.a. 7.12 5.86 1.27 

5 years p.a. 6.37 4.89 1.48 

Since inception p.a. 02.07.2007² 7.88 6.51 1.37 

Past performance is not necessarily a reliable indicator of future performance. The value of investments and the income from them is 
not guaranteed and may go down as well as up and investors may not get back the amount originally invested. 

All performance figures stated gross of fees and tax unless otherwise stated. 

Source: RLAM, ¹Benchmark: iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index. 

² The fund launched 02.07.2007 but its benchmark and objective changed on 30.06.2012.Performance prior to 30.06.2012 has therefore been 
omitted. If you require performance prior to this change, please contact your client account manager.  

Asset split 

 Fund 
(%) 

Benchmark¹ 
(%) 

Conventional credit bonds² 99.7 99.0 

Index linked credit bonds 0.0 0.0 

Sterling conventional gilts 0.0 0.0 

Sterling index linked gilts 0.0 0.0 

Foreign conventional sovereign 0.3 1.0 

Foreign index linked sovereign 0.0 0.0 

Derivatives 0.0 0.0 

Other 0.0 0.0 
 

Fund data 

 Fund Benchmark¹ 

Duration³ 10.5 years 10.4 years 

Gross redemption yield⁴ 2.51% 1.84% 

No. of stocks 207 756 

Fund size  £199.7m  - 

Source: RLAM, Launch date: 20.07.2007. 

¹Benchmark:  iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt Over 5 Year Index. 

²Conventional credit bond allocation includes exposure to non-sterling 
credit bonds and CDs, where applicable. 

³Excluding cash 

⁴The gross redemption yield is calculated on a weighted average basis 

Page 177



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2021 4 │ PAGE 
 

Sector breakdown 

 

Source: RLAM. Figures in relation to your portfolio exclude the impact of cash held, although they do include the impact of CDs if held within 

your portfolio 

Maturity profile 

 

Credit breakdown 

 

Ten Largest Holdings 

 Weighting (%) 

HSBC Bank 5.375% 2033 2.4 

Électricité De France 6% 2114 1.6 

M&G Plc 5.7% 2063 1.6 

E On International Finance 6.125% 2039 1.5 

Thames Water Utilities 2 7.738% 2058 1.5 

Finance for Residential Social Housing 8.369% 2058 1.4 

Barclays Plc 3.25% 2033 1.4 

Dali Capital 4.79924% 2037 1.3 

Exchequer Partnership 5.396% 2036 1.3 

Annes Gate Property 5.661% 2031 1.3 

Total 15.4 

Source: RLAM. Figures in the table above exclude derivatives where held, subject to rounding. 

Page 178



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2021 5 │ PAGE 
 

Market overview 

• The quarter began with further progress being made in reducing the spread of Covid-19, with the number of new cases 

falling and vaccine rollout programmes accelerating in most parts of the world, particularly in the US and Europe. However, 

as lockdown restrictions started to ease, a sharp rise in deaths in India and fears over new viral strains, particularly the 

‘Delta’ variant, became a significant cause for concern. In the UK, while hospitalisations remained low, new cases rose 

sharply. 

• In the US, the Biden administration followed up the $1.9tn economic relief bill of the first quarter with proposals for a 

$579bn infrastructure package promising investment in roads, water, clean transportation, and the electric grid. While the 

spending package, to be funded through stronger tax collection enforcement rather than formal tax increases, appeared to 

have bipartisan backing, it remained to be seen whether it would gain enough support in the Senate.  

• Inflation discussions were increasingly prevalent, with opinion divided as to whether rising prices were an indicator of 

nothing more than ‘transitory’ inflation, particularly given the lack of higher wage inflation, or a sign of more deep-rooted 

issues. US Federal Reserve (Fed) Chair Jerome Powell was keen to reiterate that price pressures were indeed transitory, but 

cautioned that effects on inflation “have been larger than we expected and they may turn out to be more persistent than we 

expected”. However, central banks appeared firmly committed to maintaining accommodative monetary policies.  

• In the UK, after a first quarter focused on rising inflation expectations and a corresponding increase in government bond 

yields, the benchmark 10-year gilt yield fell from 0.85% to 0.72% over the quarter: the gilt market returned 1.70% on an all 

maturities basis (FTSE Actuaries). In sterling investment grade credit, the market returned 1.71%. The average sterling 

investment grade credit spread (the average extra yield available from a corporate bond compared with government debt of 

equal maturity) tightened from 0.96% to 0.91%. 

• All sterling credit sectors produced positive returns during the quarter. Lower risk areas such as supranationals and covered 

bonds lagged the wider market, while sectors such as real estate and telecoms performed relatively well. Financials 

performed broadly in line with the market, but subordinated debt again outperformed. With gilt yields falling slightly, 

longer maturity bonds outperformed shorter dated, while BBB and A rated bonds outperformed AAA and AA issues.  

Portfolio commentary 

• The fund performed strongly in the second quarter, producing positive absolute returns, and outperforming its benchmark. 

Our allocation and stock selection in financials, particularly subordinated bank and insurance bonds, was a major driver of 

performance, as was our underweight in supranationals. 

• Our exposure to structured bonds was also positive. The sector outperformed, but we also benefited from holdings such as 

Thames Water. We particularly like the longest dated Thames bond which is often overlooked by investors. Our view 

remains that the bond’s yield premium relative to shorter-dated Thames bonds, and senior position in the capital structure, 

offer our clients attractive exposure to longer cash utility cashflows. Finance For Residential Social Housing was 

another strong performer over the quarter. The bond, while not easily modelled on Bloomberg and relatively illiquid, offers 

strong collateral and an attractive yield - above that of many unsecured BBB bonds despite its AA rating. 

• A takeover offer for Morrisons illustrates why we like strong covenants and security. It is not just at times of economic 

distress that security is beneficial. When financing costs are low and private equity businesses are awash with cash we can 

expect to see balance sheets being utilised to increase leverage. This will eventually lead to higher default risk in those more 

leveraged business models.  

• Activity reflected new issue opportunities and secondary market availability. Issuance was slightly lower in the second 

quarter than Q1 but remains on track to comfortably exceed overall issuance in 2020. Increasingly, spreads on new issues 

are too low to interest us and a number of deals that looked attractive initially have been tightened, during the book building 

phase, to levels where we passed.  

• In the financial sectors we added to senior issues from JP Morgan and Goldman Sachs, as well as subordinated bonds 

from Lloyds. Social housing remains a key area of interest for us. During the quarter we added a new issue from Beyond, 

which provides 15,000 homes, predominantly in the Tees Valley and North Yorkshire, and Blend, a social housing debt 

aggregator that enables smaller housing associations to access capital markets. The Blend deal size was not large but was 

attractively priced and is a reminder that a small issue size does not imply poor quality. 

• There was further issuance of Green and Sustainability bonds in the quarter. Whilst we welcome the greater recognition of 

the climate challenge and the higher focus on ESG we do not believe that all Green or Sustainability bonds offer value or 

clarity of objective. We will continue to focus on integrating ESG risk and to add incremental value in overlooked areas of 

the market.   

Page 179



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2021 6 │ PAGE 
 

Outlook 

• There remain three key questions that will determine the path of global economic activity: the efficacy of a global 

vaccination programme, the reaction of businesses and consumers to news flow and the response of governments and 

central banks. Our view remains that the current inflation spike will not become embedded in consumers’ expectations. 

• For markets, government and central bank support has been a major factor; this has helped keep yields low across yields 

curves. We know that this support will be reduced over time and believe that it will eventually feed through into higher 

yields. While we are not expecting to see this imminently, as fixed income investors, this will present a headwind and is why 

we prefer to keep portfolio duration somewhat lower than the broader market.  

• For credit specifically, we do feel that the additional yield available more than compensates for the risk of default and hence 

believe that credit will outperform government bonds over the medium term. However, we recognise that idiosyncratic risk 

– such as increased merger and acquisition activity – cannot be ignored.  

• Our portfolios have a material exposure to BBB bonds, reflecting our sector and security preferences. We continue to believe 

that at current valuations we are compensated for risk: on a longer term perspective investors require less than 50 bps of 

excess return to compensate for BBB risk, compared with a current spread of 130 bps. Credit risk is not something that 

should be taken unthinkingly but it is our view that we can harvest a spread premium and mitigate risk through a focus on 

covenants, security and diversification.  

• You can find more of our thoughts on the opportunities and risks in the sterling credit sector at rlam.co.uk. 

 

Page 180



 

RLPPC OVER 5 YEAR CORPORATE BOND FUND 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT 30 JUNE 2021 7 │ PAGE 
 

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

For professional clients only, not suitable for retail investors. The views expressed are the author’s own and do not constitute investment advice. 

This document is a financial promotion. It does not provide, and should not be relied on for, accounting, legal or tax advice, or investment 
recommendations. For more information on the fund or the risks of investing, please refer to the fund factsheet, Prospectus or Key Investor 
Information Document (KIID), available via the Fund Information page on www.rlam.co.uk. 

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future results. The value of investments and the income from them is not guaranteed and may go 
down as well as up and investors may not get back the amount originally invested.  

Portfolio characteristics and holdings are subject to change without notice. This does not constitute an investment recommendation. For 
information purposes only, methodology available on request. Information derived from sources other than Royal London Asset Management is 
believed to be reliable; however, we do not independently verify or guarantee its accuracy or validity. 

All rights in the FTSE All Stocks Gilt Index, FTSE Over 15 Year Gilts Index, FTSE A Index Linked Over 5 Years Gilt Index and FTSE A 
Maturities Gilt Index (the “Index”) vest in FTSE International Limited (“FTSE”). All rights in the FTSE 350, FTSE All Share, FTSE 100, FTSE 
250, FTSE 350 Higher Yield and FTSE Small Cap (the “Index”) vest in FTSE International Limited (“FTSE”).  “FTSE®” is a trade mark of the 
London Stock Exchange Group companies and is used by FTSE under licence. The Royal London Funds (the "funds") have been developed 
solely by Royal London Asset Management. The Index is calculated by FTSE or its agent. FTSE and its licensors are not connected to and do 
not sponsor, advise, recommend, endorse or promote the fund and do not accept any liability whatsoever to any person arising out of (a) the 
use of, reliance on or any error in the Index or (b) investment in or operation of the fund. FTSE makes no claim, prediction, warranty or 
representation either as to the results to be obtained from the Funds or the suitability of the Index for the purpose to which it is being put by 
Royal London Asset Management. 

All confidential information relating to any Royal London Group company must be treated by you in the strictest confidence. It may only be used 
for the purposes of assessing the proposal to engage Royal London Asset Management Limited (RLAM). Confidential information should not be 
disclosed to any third party and should only be disclosed to those of your employees and professional advisers who are required to see such 
information for the purpose set out above. You should ensure that these persons are made aware of the confidential nature of such information 
and treat it accordingly. You agree to return and/ or destroy all confidential information on receipt of our written request to do so. 

Issued by Royal London Asset Management Limited, Firm Registration Number: 141665, registered in England and Wales number 2244297; 
Royal London Unit Trust Managers Limited, Firm Registration Number: 144037, registered in England and Wales number 2372439; RLUM 
Limited, Firm Registration Number: 144032, registered in England and Wales number 2369965. All of these companies are authorised and 
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Royal London Asset Management Bond Funds Plc, an umbrella company with segregated liability 
between sub-funds, authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland, registered in Ireland number 364259. Registered office: 70 Sir 
John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland. 

All of these companies are subsidiaries of The Royal London Mutual Insurance Society Limited, registered in England and Wales number 
99064. Registered Office: 55 Gracechurch Street, London, EC3V 0RL. The Royal London Mutual Insurance Society Limited is authorised by the 
Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority. The Royal London 
Mutual Insurance Society Limited is on the Financial Services Register, registration number 117672. Registered in England and Wales number 
99064. FQR RLAM EM 1100.  

       

 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 1

Dorset County (‘DC’) property fund provides diversified exposure to good quality real estate located throughout the UK, across a range
of sectors including offices, industrial, retail and other. The allocation to property reflects 9% of DC’s total assets, which represents
approximately £300m. The strategy is to transition the portfolio gradually to a 50/50 split between Secure Long Income (“SLI”) and
Conventional properties, with SLI properties within the Conventional portfolio counting towards the total. Sales of £11.6m were made
from the Conventional portfolio during the quarter.

CONVENTIONAL SLI

Mandate Commenced 1993 Commenced 2017

Performance objective MSCI Quarterly over 5 years LPI +2% p.a.

Capital Value (Q2 2021) £246.3m (86%) £38.5m (14%)

Number of assets 25 9

Target portfolio size £175m* £125m

Value of purchases during quarter - -

Value of sales during quarter £11.6m -

Net initial yield (p.a.) 4.3% 3.8%

Average unexpired lease term (to break) 8.7 years (7.5 years) 66.4 years (17.8 years)

COMBINED VALUATION
Direct Property (Q2 2021 values)** £258.8m

Indirect Assets (Q2 2021 values)*** £26.0m

Total Portfolio Valuation £284.8m

PERFORMANCE CONVENTIONAL SLI** COMBINED MSCI QUARTERLY UNIVERSE

Q2 2021 3.8% 0.8% 3.7% 3.4%      

12 months 6.8% 1.4% 6.6% 6.5%

3 yrs p.a. 2.7% 2.3% 2.9% 2.3%

5 yrs p.a. 4.7% - 4.8% 4.3%

(Combined Dorset Portfolios)

£284.8M 34
AssetsCapital Value 

** Conventional & Combined are Nominal returns and SLI are Real returns.  SLI’s Nominal returns for Q2 3.2%, 12 months to June 
2021 5.3% and 3 years 4.9% with RPI Q2 2.4%, 12 months 3.9% and 3 years 2.6%. 

QUARTERLY REPORT
Q2 2021

DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND

* The Conventional portfolio includes SLI assets (c.15%), therefore the total SLI allocation will be 50%. 

Page 183



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 2

STRATEGY

Bow Lane, London

Coney Street, York   

ECONOMIC AND PROPERTY UPDATE 

• Economic activity rebounded strongly as Covid restrictions lifted and businesses reopened during Q2.
Assuming no further restrictions are required and the strong consumer-led recovery continues, Oxford
Economics now expect GDP to grow by 7.7% in 2021.

• Demand for labour already appears to be recovering strongly and the risk of a large pick-up in joblessness
when the furlough scheme ends in September looks low.

• Strong base effects and higher energy prices have driven inflation higher in recent months, with CPI
reaching 2.5% in June. It is likely to remain above the Bank of England’s 2% target through H2 2021 and
into 2022.

• All Property capital values have returned to growth more quickly than expected and the total return of 3.1%,
pencilled in for 2021 now looks likely to be exceeded. This has been driven by the rapid vaccine rollout and
the economy reopening. Despite performance being pulled forward, we do not expect a significant change
to the five-year All Property total return forecast of 5.4% p.a.

Size

▪ Target size £300m – current size £284.8m.  DC’s allocation to property is 9% of total 
assets, which represents approximately £300m.    

▪ The longer term intention is to transition the portfolio gradually to a 50/50 split between 
Conventional property and SLI, the SLI property held within the Conventional portfolio is to 
be included in the 50:50 allocation.    

Performance objectives 

▪ Conventional and SLI portfolios’ have had distinct benchmarks since 1st April 2018. 
▪ Conventional portfolio:  “To achieve a return on Assets at least equal to the average MSCI 

(formerly IPD) Quarterly Universe Portfolio Return including Transactions and Developments 
for a rolling five year period commencing 1 January 2006.”

▪ Secure Long Income Portfolio:  “To achieve a total return greater than, or equal to, Limited 
Price Inflation (“LPI”) plus 2.0% p.a. measured over the long run (7-10 years) commencing 
1 April 2018.”  

Income yield

▪ Target is for the Conventional portfolio income return to exceed the MSCI benchmark 
income return.

▪ Continue to focus on reducing the vacancy rate and maintaining a resilient income yield.
▪ Ensure SLI held properties / new acquisitions have strong rental growth prospects, long 

leases and an element of indexation.  

ALLOCATION

Property type

▪ Conventional portfolio:  Remain well diversified as the portfolio transitions to a 50/50 split 
to SLI, with holdings in good locations with a proportion of exposure to properties that will 
allow active management to generate outperformance.

▪ We anticipate maintaining a total of between 15-20 assets with an average lot size of 
between £8m and £11m.

▪ SLI portfolio:  target lot sizes between £3m and £25m with an average lease length in 
excess of 15 years at purchase with at least 70% of the portfolio having index linked rent 
reviews once fully invested.   

Geographic allocation ▪ Diversified by location but with a bias towards London and the South East.

Sector allocation

▪ Diversified by sector with a maximum of 50% in any single sector.
▪ Target a lower than average weighting to Offices and Retail and a higher than average

weighting to Industrial and Other Commercial.
▪ Source suitable SLI investments that could be available in any sector.

Page 184



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 3

CONVENTIONAL PORTFOLIO INFORMATION 

TRANSACTIONS

Purchases £0m

Disposals £11.6m

Target portfolio size £175m

Union House, Southwark, London

CONVENTIONAL PORTFOLIO INFORMATION

Q2 2021

Direct market value £220.3m

Indirect market value £26.0m

Total Conventional Portfolio market value £246.3m

No. of assets (direct avg. value) 25 (£10.0m)

No. of lettable units (direct avg. value) 68 (£3.2m)

Vacancy rate (% direct ERV) 3.2% (15.5%)*

Avg. unexpired direct lease term (to break) 8.6 years (7.5 years)

Direct net initial yield (p.a.) 4.3%

% of income direct RPI / index linked 10.6%

Rent with +10 years remaining (% of direct rent) 13.8%

Rent with +15 years remaining (% of direct rent) 5.2%

Largest Tenant WorldPay Limited
£1.2m p.a.

(10.6% of direct income)

Euroway Industrial Estate, Swindon

*Vacancy rate plus active development projects, which represent 12.3% of ERV

Page 185



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 4

57.2%

18.1%

9.4%

6.4%

3.2%

5.9%

London / South East Eastern South West North Midlands Scotland

CONVENTIONAL PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS

SECTOR BREAKDOWN INCLUDING INDIRECT HOLDINGS  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

DC Conventional Portfolio MSCI Quarterly Universe

GEOGRAPHICAL BREAKDOWN EXCLUDING INDIRECT HOLDINGS 

Cambridge Science Park 

Page 186



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 5

SLI PORTFOLIO INFORMATION

TRANSACTIONS

Purchases £0m

Disposals £0m

Target Portfolio Size £125m

Union House, Southwark, London

SLI PORTFOLIO INFORMATION

Red Lion, London SW1

Q2 2021

Direct market value £38.5m

Indirect market value £0m 

Total SLI Portfolio market value £38.5m

No. of assets (avg. value) 9 (£4.3m)

No. of lettable units (direct avg. value)* 13 (£3.0m)

Vacancy rate (% ERV) 0%

Avg. unexpired direct lease term (to break) 66.4 years (17.8 years)

Net initial yield (p.a.) 3.8%

% of income index linked 72.0%

Rent with 15+ years remaining (% of rent) 65.7% 

Largest Tenant Mears Plc
£0.4m p.a.

(27.7% of contracted income)

*Assumes each residential portfolio is treated as a single lettable unit.

Page 187



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 6

Union House, Southwark, London

SLI PORTFOLIO ANALYSIS 

33.2%

23.9%

42.9%

London / South East Eastern

South West Midlands

North Rest of UK

33%

67%

SECTOR BREAKDOWN (% OF TOTAL VALUE)

Supermarkets Pubs Ret. W'house Offices

Industrial Hotel Other Residential

GEOGRAPHICAL BREAKDOWN (% OF TOTAL VALUE) 

Elgin Bar & Grill, London W9  

Ingersley Building, Macclesfield 

Page 188



PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 7

25%9%0%

40%39%14%99%100%

Responsible ESG practices are fundamental to Dorset County Pension Fund’s strategy, and we are

targeting a Gold ambition level. We focus on three key pillars and the targets to 2022 are set out in

each of these below.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, GOVERNANCE

CBRE GLOBAL INVESTORS SUSTAINABILITY VISION

Our Sustainability Vision has been published. It sets out ambitious targets for the next two decades, including a corporate

commitment to achieve many of our aspirations by 2040. This work is the product of extensive engagement with our stakeholders,

including many of our clients and employees who are deeply passionate about sustainability. As a guiding principle, we are using

recognised industry measures whenever possible.

The ESG programme for this portfolio will be updated in line with our Sustainability Vision before the end of the year. Our aim is

for all portfolios to fully integrate ESG considerations by a date appropriate to the investors ESG strategy. Key performance

indicators and targets will be updated to support this aim.

KEY FUND ACTIONS COMPLETED IN Q2 2021

ACTION OUTCOME

Tenant Data Collection
This year’s tenant data collection process has been completed. The portfolio 
achieved 39% tenant energy data coverage by floor area.

x x

Third Party Data 
Assurance

The Energy, Greenhouse Gas (GHG, aka. Carbon) and Water data for this 
portfolio has been assured to the  AA1000AS standard.

x x

GRESB
The portfolio submitted to the GRESB 2021 assessment. GRESB are expected to 
issue the results in October and we will provide analysis of the findings. 

x x

COMPLIANCE
• Energy ratings
• Policies
• TCFD

• Compliance 
Risk

• Green Leases

TRANSPARENCY
• Building 

certifications
• Reporting

• Stakeholder 
engagement

• Data coverage

CARBON

• Energy 
• Water
• Waste 

• Tenant 
Workshops

All Environmental Compliance Risks GRESB Outperformance 18% Carbon Intensity Reduction

% of units with EPC rating lodged A-E

2020 
Performance

100%

2021 
Performance

2022 
Target

GRESB score in the Standing Investments Assessment 

% of floor area for which tenant energy data has been collected

2020 
Performance

2021 
Performance

2022 
Target

2020 
Performance

2021 
Performance

2022 
Target

% Portfolio Covered by Workshops by Asset Value

0

100

60

100

2019 
Score

64

100

2020 
Score

2022 
Target Score

Page 189

https://www.cbreglobalinvestors.com/sustainability-vision/


PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL | Dorset County Pension Fund | 8

IMPORTANT NOTICE

The information contained herein must be treated in a confidential manner and may not be reproduced, used or disclosed, in whole or in part,
without the prior written consent of CBRE Global Investors.

The indirect property portion of this portfolio is managed by CBRE Global Investment Partners Limited which is authorised and regulated by the
Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom. In accordance with the restrictions on the promotion of non-mainstream pooled investments,
the communication of this document in the United Kingdom is only made to persons defined as professional client or eligible counterparties, as
permitted by COBS 4.12.5R (Exemption 7) and the Collective Investment Scheme (Exemptions) Order 2001.

Acceptance and/or use of any of the information contained in this document indicate the recipient’s agreement not to disclose any of the
information contained herein. This document does not constitute any form of representation or warranty on the part of CBRE Global Investors,
investment advice, a recommendation, or an offer or solicitation, and it is not the basis for any contract to purchase or sell any security, property
or other instrument, or for CBRE Global Investors to enter or arrange any type of transaction. CBRE Global Investors expressly disclaims any
liability or responsibility therefore.

This document should not be regarded as a substitute for the exercise by the recipient of its, his or her own judgement. The figures in this
document have not been audited by an external auditor. This document does not purport to be a complete description of the markets,
developments or securities referred to in this report. The value of an investment can go down as well as up and an investor may not get back the
amount invested. Past performance is not a guide to future performance. Forecasts of future performance are not an indicator of future
performance. All target or projected “gross” internal rates of return (“IRRs”) do not reflect any management fees, incentive distributions, taxes,
transaction costs and other expenses to be borne by certain and/or all investors, which will reduce returns. “Gross IRR” or “Gross Return” shall
mean an aggregate, compound, annual, gross internal rate of return on investments. “Net IRR” or “Net Returns” are shown after deducting fees,
expenses and incentive distributions. There can be no assurance that the mandate will achieve comparable results, that targeted returns,
diversification or asset allocations will be met or that the investment strategy and investment approach will be able to be implemented or that the
mandate will achieve its investment objective. Actual returns on unrealized investments will depend on, among other factors, future operating
results, the value of the underlying assets and market conditions at the time of disposition, foreign exchange gains or losses which may have a
separate and uncorrelated effect, legal and contractual restrictions on transfer that may limit liquidity, any related transaction costs and the timing
and manner of sale, all of which may differ from the assumptions and circumstances on which the valuations used in the prior performance data
contained herein are based. Accordingly, actual returns may differ materially from the returns indicated herein. The value of any tax benefits
described herein depends on your individual circumstances. Tax rules may change in the future.

CBRE Global Investors and its affiliates accept no liability whatsoever for any direct, consequential or indirect loss of any kind arising out of the
use of this document or any part of its contents.

Where funds are invested in property, investors may not be able to realise their investment when they want. Whilst property valuation is conducted
by an independent expert, any such opinion is a matter of the valuer’s opinion. Property is a specialist sector which may be less liquid and
produce more volatile performance than an investment in broader investment sectors. CBRE Global Investors Limited is regulated by the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). CBRE Global Investors (UK Funds) Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA).

Page 190



������������
��	
	�������
���	��������
��������	�

�����������
���
��������
������������
��������	

������������
����������� 
���!������"
�#� ����"��
�� !$�%�

Page 191



Page 192



&

'()*++
Page 193



,

'()*++

- ./- 0

12 3456789 :5;7<<= :>>? ;@A :B CD E<? B:< 7F?<AG ;E? @A< 6:H 64H :<? 3;E IJ 6< 4:5? :HH? :K?H?< L> :< ::E:<MN2 7O< 7BK 75PNQR IJ 6< 4:5? :HH? :K?H?< LGDNQ? EE6:H 7>K :E7> 3;<A 7

O57E7;< S:H 473T<A 7:6< 4:5? :HH? :K?H?<? 7E57H :<? S7< 3<A 7B:;> :< 76:EATH 3FS:H 47U E77:OO7;>? VT 35T 35B4H :W

11X 7S75:@7Y7VO3
E457S:H 473T? ;TH :<? 3;H? ;Z 7>H? :K?H?<? 7EA 7> @7>[ O35<T 3H? 3:EE7< S:H 47 I111\A? E? E:O53VLT 35<A 7O53O3E7> ;3<?T? 6:<? 3;H 7S7H 3T] 4;> S:H 47[GDNQ ^QP_ I

` abcde f g/ hijk g` hijkf g jcc .l hijkf g jcc .mn coi n coipdn bc g jcc .

q rstu rvw rx yz{|z y}x{ y~z|z y|z� yz�

� ���� ��s�{ y�}|z yz�{ y�|� y~�~ yzx

� i� jdn �i� .��� .l�� .��- .-�/ .�-
/̀ �� jk �-/ ���̀� �� �c �-/ ���

q rstu rvw r��z|
| ��z� y~

| ��}� �z

� ���� ��s���z|
| ��|� y|

| ��}x �}

� �t ��sw �vvw ��wvwt  ��z|¡
� �|~~ y{
� �|~� y�

¢ bkd£ b�n bn c£� jdn bce i¤ ¥ikjdn b¦-
� ./g
�̀ ./g

§ icoe ajk�n c£� jdn bce i¤ ¥ikjdn b¦-� ./g
�̀ .-g

©̈ª« ¬ ®̄°±²± ³±² ´µ± ¯¶² ®·̧°¹² º»¼ ½¼¾¿µÀ »°± °Áº± ¯²¹± Â̄·®»°®± ¯± ¯ÃÄ »²± º̄ ½

ÅÆ± °² »ÀÄ ®°Æ ºÇ°»̄®°²± »̧² ®ºÃ²Æ ®Á·ºÁº·²± º̄ºÃ²Æ ®È É̄ÊË °»Â² É»·± »Ä

Ä± »À±Ä±²± ®°²Æ »² »·®Æ ®Ê Ì®ÊÀ ´²Æ ®Áº·²Ã ºÄ± º ½ÅÆ± °»Ä °º°Æ ºÇ°²Æ ®Áº·²Ã ºÄ± º± °

³®·́ÂÄ º°®² º²Æ ®À ®̄ÂÆ »̧·Í± ¯² ®·̧°ºÃ±² °² º² »Ä± ¯ÃÄ »²± º̄°®̄°±²± ³±² ´ ½
ÅÆ ®»À º³®² »ÀÄ ®°Æ ºÇ°°² ·®°°² ®°² °Ã º·Ä º̄Ì Î² ®·̧± ¯ÃÄ »²± º̄·»² ®° ½ÅÆ ®È É̄Ê

Â»̄°ÉÁÁº·² »ÏÐ ½Ñ¿Ã »ÄÄ± ¯Ä º̄Ì Î² ®·̧± ¯ÃÄ »²± º̄®ÒÁ®Â² »²± º̄°Á·± º·² º·É̄̄± Ì̄

ºÉ² ºÃ ÂºÄÄ »² ®·»Ä² º°ÉÁÁº·²²Æ ®Æ ®Ê Ì® ½

ÅÆ ®®ÒÁº°É·®³
»Ä É®ºÃ± ¯ÃÄ »²± º̄ ÎÄ± ¯Í ®ÊÄ± »À±Ä±²± ®°Æ ®Ê Ì®Ê Ç»°¶ÓÔÕ ½Ö »̧²Ô¼

× É̄®Ð¼Ð¾ ½ Ø Â ½¾ ½Ù¿Ã »ÄÄ± ¯± ¯ÃÄ »²± º̄ÇºÉÄÊ² »Í ®²Æ ®È É̄Ê² ºÂ ½Ô ½Ñ ÒÄ ®³®·»Ì®

Úe jc¥in c� bc¥ �d ikan c£� jdn bci0piod jdn bcf

z yzÛ Üz y�Û Ü| yzÛ Ü| y�Û Ü� yzÛ Ü� y�Û

� ÝÞ��t �ß à�v ��ru
�rvv �t �s�váâ �ã{�x y}{�| yx��� y{�zz y�|�| y�|z� y{

ä �à�s�å���vtw Þv �� y|�� y{~� y��{ y�|{ y�x� y|�
æ çèéêë èçìèíîëî ïðíî èì

ñ òóòñôôô õö ÷ø é

ù úùû úùü úù& úù, úùý úùþ úù ÿ �� �ûü� �� �û&� �� �û,� 	
 �ûþ� �� �û� 	� �û�� �� �û�� 	� �üù� �
 �üû

Page 194



ý

'()*++

� ����� � � �� � ! "##$ #

%& "'&(&  )! $* +$� ��, -�.� �

� ��/.� � 0 $* +$"##$ # 12 �(( " $�"(3
%& "'&(&  )! $* +$� ��4.. � � ����� � � �� � ! "##$ #

� ��5.. � 0 $* +$"##$ # 12 �(( " $�"(3

Page 195



þ

'()*++67�, 8�! "9+$& 9:�$#$9 ;"( <$�$# <(  & 9+= ���"� ��,> <: �"�* #!&=  & 9( �9+ ? $��& 9 $�$# �" $#

@A�, 8�! "9+$& 9:�$#$9 ;"( <$�$# <(  & 9+= ���"� ��,> <: �"�* #!&=  & 9( �9+ ? $��& 9=( " & �9$ B:$� " & �9#

% $ ;$�"+$ C$ B:�# <�$ ;"( <$�=& 9=( " & �9(& 9D $*(& "'&(&  & $#! $* +$*E :�� = �(& �"##$ ;"( <$

FG! $ ;"( <$�=  ! $(& "'&(&  )' $9�! �"�D �$=( $� # ! $H $ I ##$ 7 "( <$�=  ! $:�� = �(& ��= +&(  #"9* # �":# ! " "�$ <#$* "# ! $' $9�! �"�D= �� ! $(& "'&(&  )

! $* +& 9+:�� = �(& � �!& �! �"#( "# <:* " $* �9/J "��!5�5� �
K j� �i
L cd ikifd kjd ificfndn �nd hM¢K�/N
L c£� jdn bcficfndn �nd hMLO�/N

� a
��
g b£�n jPn�ndn if
��
g b£�n jPn�ndn if

Q r�à��tw r��v åwvt R

Üx y{
Ü�} y}

x y|Û
z yz
z yzÛ

� �ß �Ý Üvw �� �ß åwvt R

��� y~
Ü| �{zx y}

|�~ y�Û
| ���� y|
~| y�Û

Q rsÞrs�t �� r�ß R

� yz
Ü|| y~

| y~Û
|| y�
z y�Û

S �Þ�s�� �R��ås�����t R
Ü||| y�

| yz
Üz y|Û

z yz
z yzÛ

Sq�T U�ÞR

Ü{ y{
Ü� y�

| yxÛ
��� yx
|� y}Û

� �t �s�Rt s�t �RU�ÞR
Ü�z y{

}�~ y{
Ü|z{ yxÛ

z yz
z yzÛ

äw V�wßwt  

�z yz
z yz
z yzÛ
z yz
z yzÛ

W �t �s�R

Üz y�
|} y{

Ü� y�Û
z yz
z yzÛ

Xw å�Y s�ß ���TW ��ß
|| y{
z yz
z yzÛ
z yz
z yzÛ

Z rt �v s�t �s�RU�Þ
z yz
z yz
z yzÛ
z yz
z yzÛ

[ bd j� jffid f

�̀� .l
�\l\ .�

/�� ./g
/ �l\- .�
�� .�g

]n jPn�nd hP icoe ajk�
�̀̀ .-

�\ll .�
/�� .�g
/ �l\� .\
/�� .�g

]n jPn�nd hP icoe ajk�n c£� jdn bcbc� h
�̀\ .�

�
�

/ �l\� .\
/�� .�g

] i�ikj¥i

- ./ 0

Page 196



Page 197



�

'()*++
_̂ àb c defgh i

j klmn
c klmni
o klmni
pq frlq frlsgq ef

t
t
t s um u
t s um u
t s um u

v wxyz w_{ w

| }~�
�~ }�|
� }�~
�~ }�~
� }~�

� �a�� �̀xb

� }��
�~ }~�
� }��
� }��
� }~|

� l� mgq �l

� u��
� uo�
� u��
� u��
j u��

_̂ àb c defgh i
j klmn
c klmni
o klmni
pq frlq frlsgq ef

�
�

r�d�� mgq �l� r�d�� mgq �l� r�d�� mgq �l�

v wxyz w_{ w

�� ��~� ����
�� ���� ��||
�� ���� ����
��� ��~� ����
��� ��|~ ����

� �a�� �̀xb

�� �~�� �~�|
�� ���| ���~
�� ���� ����
�� ��~~ ����
�|~ ���� ����

� l� mgq �l

�j� ����
j ���� ����
j ��j� ��j�
�o ���j �jco
�j �o�� ���c

Page 198



�

'()*++�� ûýù úù ��� ûùù úù ��� ýù úù �� ù úù �� ýù úù �� ûùù úù �� ûýù úù �� üùù úù �� üýù úù � üùûü �üùû,üùûý
üùûþüùû
üùû�
üùû�� ûüùüù� üüùüù� &üùüù� ,üùüù� ûüùüû� üüùüû� �� 	�

� 
� ��� � �	� � 

� 
¡ � 	�¢ �


ÿ ���
¢ £¤�¢ 
¥ �¦ §	������

¨ ¢��  ���	¥� � §	�

© �
¥  ���¢¡ ¢ ��¢  ª

« 	���

ÿ �¤ ��

¨ ¢��¢ 
¡ � 	�¢ �
 ���	¥� � §	�
� �� 	� ����� 	�¢ �����¡ ���	
��

Page 199



ûù

'()*++¬ 

®̄°® ±®̄°²®̄°³®̄°́
®̄°µ®̄°
¶®̄°·

°̧ ®̄®̄®̧ ®̄®̄¹̧ ®̄®̄²̧ ®̄®̄°̧ ®̄®°®̧ ®̄®°º »¼ ½¾

¿ À¼ ÁÂÁÃ¼ Â½¼ ÁÃ
ÄÅ ÆÅÇÈ ÆÉÅÊ ÆÅË ÆÊ ÌË ÆÇÈÇ ÆÅÅÊ ÆËÉ ÆË ÌË ÆÍÇ ÆÊ ÌÅÈ ÆÎÇÍ ÆË°́² Ï´

¿ ÀÐ¾ ½¼Ñ »À
Î ÆÇ ÌÄ ÆÎËË ÆÒ ÌÇÊ ÆÊ ÌÍ ÆÒ ÌÒÎ ÆÍ ÌÄÒ ÆÅÊÎ ÆÈË ÆËÇ ÆÉËÊ ÆÈÇ ÆË ±°̄ Ïµ

Ó ÔÁÂÀÑ ÕÖ¼Ñ À× Á ØÃ Ù½ÚÛ ÜÂ ÔÁÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÉ ÌÍ ÆËÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍ¯ Ï¹

ÝÑ¾¼ ÃÚÂÁ½×¼ »Ã Ù½Ú
ÌË ÆÇ ÌÇÍ ÆÇÒ ÆÄÄ ÆÄ ÌÍ ÆÇÇÍ ÆÅ ÌÎ ÆÉÇ ÆÎ ÌÇ ÆÒË ÆÒÍ ÆÄÍ ÆÒ´ Ï³

ÝÑ¾¼Ñ ÀÐ¾ ½¼Ñ »ÀÃÚÂÁ½×¼ »Ã Ù½Ú ÌÊ ÆÅÇ ÆÎ ÌÍ ÆËÍ ÆÒ ÌÍ ÆÉÒ ÆÉ ÌÎ ÆÎÇË ÆÇ ÌÍ ÆÊ ÌÍ ÆÉ ÌÊ ÆÇÇ ÆÊ°̄ Ï°

Þ »À× ÃÚÁÛÑÐÑ ÛÂÑ Ãß
ÌÍ ÆÅÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍÍ ÆÍ ÌÍ ÆÇÍ ÆÇ ÌÍ ÆÇÍ ÆÊ ÌÍ ÆÊÍ ÆÍ ±¯ Ï¹

à ½ÂÂ á

È ÆÄÍ ÆÎÍ ÆËÍ ÆËÇ ÆËÊ ÆÅÍ ÆÅÍ ÆÍ ÌÍ ÆÇ ÌÍ ÆÇ ÌÍ ÆÇÍ ÆÍ°̄ Ï®

Ó¼Ö ÁÂ
ÌË ÆÅ ÌÎ ÆÍ ÌÇÍ ÆÍ ÌÈ ÆÅ ÌÊ ÆÉ ÌÅ ÆËÍ ÆÉ ÌÇ ÆÉ ÌÍ ÆÉ ÌÇ ÆÊ ÌÇ ÆÈ ÌÍ ÆÒ ±²̄ Ï°

º »¼ ½¾

²́ Ï° ±¶ Ï²¶³ Ï² ±¹ Ï³ ±µ Ï® ±®° Ï² ±³¹ Ï³³¹ Ï¹ ±® Ï¹́ Ï¶°² Ï®°¹ Ï°°²̄ Ï´

º »¼ ½¾ Û Ü Ü¾ ½¼Ñ ÔÁÚÁÂÐ »Â½ÀÛÁ
ÄÈ ÆÇËË ÆÄÇÈÇ ÆÍÇÅÒ ÆËÇÅÍ ÆÈÇÍÎ ÆÍËË ÆËÇÍÉ ÆÉÇÍÄ ÆËÇÇÅ ÆÊÇÊÒ ÆËÇÈÍ ÆÄ ±

Page 200



ûû

'()*++�� ûý úù ��� ûù úù ��� ý úù �� ù úù �� ý úù �� ûù úù �� ûý úù �� üù úù �� üý úù �� &ù úù � üùûü �üùû,üùûý
üùûþüùû
üùû�
üùû�� ûüùüù� üüùüù� &üùüù� ,üùüù� ûüùüû� üüùüû� �� 	�

� 
� ��� � �	� � 
� 
¡ � 	�¢ �


ÿ ���
¢ £¤�¢ 
¥ �¦ §	������
¨ ¢��  ���	¥� � §	�

« ��¥¢�

© �
¥  ���¢¡ ¢ ��¢  ª
« 	���

â¢ £¤¨ �	¥ ��©ã � �
¥

ÿ �¤ ��

¨ ¢��¢ 
¡ � 	�¢ �
 ���	¥� � §	�
� �� 	� ����� 	�¢ �����¡ ���	
��

Page 201



ûü

'()*++ä å

æçèæ éæçèêæçèëæçè
ìæçèí
æçèîæçè
ïðè æçæçðæ æçæçðñ æçæçðê æçæçðè æçæèðæ æçæèò óô õö

÷ øô ùúùûô úõô ùû
üý þý üÿ þ�� þý� þ�ý þýý þ�ÿ þÿÿ þÿ üÿ þ� üÿ þý üÿ þ�ÿ þ�ê �ï

÷ ø�ö õô� óø
ÿ þ�ÿ þýÿ þ�ý þ� üÿ þ� üý þ� üÿ þ�ÿ þý üÿ þ�ÿ þ� üÿ þýÿ þý éç �ì

	 
ùúø� ��ô� ø ù�û�õ���ú
ù
ÿ þ�ÿ þ� üý þý� þý� þ�ÿ þ� üÿ þýÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿ üÿ þýÿ þÿê �î

��öô û�úùõô óû�õ�
üý þ� ü� þ�� þ�� þ�� þ�ÿ þ� üÿ þýÿ þýÿ þ�ÿ þ�ÿ þ� üÿ þ�èç �ç

��öô� ø�ö õô� óøû�úùõô óû�õ�
ÿ þÿ üÿ þýý þ� üÿ þ� üÿ þýÿ þ� üÿ þ�ÿ þ� üÿ þ�ÿ þ� üÿ þ�ÿ þÿè �ï

� úù�ô
ÿ þ�ÿ þýÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿç �ê

� óø û�ù���� �ú� û�
üÿ þ� üÿ þýÿ þÿÿ þýÿ þ�ÿ þýÿ þýÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þýÿ þý üÿ þýç �ç

� õúú�
üÿ þ� üÿ þ� üý þÿ üÿ þ� üÿ þýÿ þý üÿ þýÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿÿ þÿ éñ �æ

�� ��� úõ ù���� �ø
ý þ�ÿ þýÿ þ�ÿ þ�ÿ þÿÿ þ� üÿ þ�ÿ þ�ÿ þýÿ þýÿ þýÿ þýæ �ë

	ô� ùú
� þ� üÿ þ� üý þ�ÿ þý üý þÿÿ þÿÿ þ�ÿ þýÿ þ� üÿ þ�ÿ þ�ÿ þ�ç �î

ò óô õö

è �ë éî �êï �íï �ìë �êæ �è éè �ïè �ìç �çè �æç �êç �ææè �ì

ò óô õö ��å�ö õô� 
ù�ùú� óúåõø�ù
ý þ� ü� þ�� þ�ý� þ�ý� þ��ÿ þÿý� þýý� þ�ý� þ��ý þÿ�ý þ��ý þ� é

�� !""
Page 202



Pension Fund Committee 
Wednesday, 8 September 2021 
Pension Fund External Auditor's Report 
2019/20 
 
For Decision 

Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development  
    
Report Author:  David Wilkes 
Title:    Service Manager (Treasury and Investments) 
Tel:    01305 224119 
Email:    david.wilkes@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

Recommendation: 
 
That the Committee review and comment on the report of the independent 
auditor for 2019/20. 
 
Reason for Recommendation: 
 
When the pension fund’s annual report for 2019/20 was approved for publication 
by the Committee at its meeting 26 November 2020 it was noted that the report 
of the independent auditor regarding the financial statements included in the 
annual report had not been received, although no major findings were 
anticipated. 
 
It was resolved (1) that the auditor’s report be circulated to all Committee 
members when received, and (2) that the annual report is published as is, with a 
delegation to the Chairman and Vice-Chairman to approve the final version if no 
substantive matters are raised in the auditor’s report. 
 
The draft final report of the independent auditor has now been received, which 
states that they will be issuing an unqualified audit opinion on the financial 
statements of the pension fund for 2019/20 and does not identify any substantive 
matters. 
 
 
 

Page 203

Agenda Item 10



1. Executive Summary  
 

The draft final report of the independent auditor for 2019/20 is attached as 

Appendix 1 to this report and, for information, the pension fund’s final accounts 

for 2019/20 are also attached as Appendix 2. 

 

The auditor has not identified any substantive matters and intends to issue an 

unqualified audit opinion but has identified three findings and recommendations 

as set out on page 16 of the report.  Officers have responded to each of these 

findings and recommendations as follows: 

 

Membership reconciliations 

The Fund runs a movements analysis report each year which shows the number 

of members moving from one status to another e.g. those retiring, transferring 

out etc.  Running this report later in the closedown period, rather than on or as 

close to 31 March as recommended, gives a better reflection of the membership 

data as at 31 March each year.  Employer end of year returns are submitted and 

processed after the year end so changes to retrospective membership would be 

picked up as part of this process. 

 

The Fund’s policy for accounting for undecided members within the year end 

accounts is to show them as a separate line in the analysis of membership 

numbers in the disclosure notes.  The Fund always has a large number of 

undecided leavers, usually because of the large numbers of aggregation.  These 

can be identified so that the members are accounted for by the actuary. 

 

Non-compliance with SIP* 

The Pension Fund Committee meet on a quarterly basis to discuss asset 

allocations and any re-balancing transactions that may be required.  Advice is 

also provided by the Fund’s independent investment adviser. 

 

(*Local Government Pension Scheme funds are required to have an Investment 

Strategy Statement (ISS) not a Statement of Investment Principles (SIP) as is the 

case for most private sector schemes.) 

 

McCloud disclosure 

Although unlikely to be material, a provision for McCloud will be recorded once 

the exposure can be quantified to a reasonable degree of accuracy.  The 

recommendation has been noted and the Fund will work with the actuary to 

provide an enhanced disclosure as and when further advice is published and 

additional steps to implement the remedy have taken place. 

Page 204



2. Financial Implications 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension scheme 
administered locally.  Dorset Council is the administering authority for the LGPS 
in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits for employees of the 
Council, other councils and a range of other organisations within the county. 
 
Administering authorities are required to maintain a pension fund for the payment 
of benefits to scheme members funded by contributions from scheme members 
and their employers, and from returns on contributions invested prior to benefits 
becoming payable.  Administering authorities are required to produce annual 
financial statements for their pension fund, and those financial statements must 
be subject to external review by independent auditors. 
 
3. Wellbeing and Health Implications 
 
No wellbeing and health implications arising from this report have been identified. 
 
4. Climate implications 
 
No climate implications arising from this report have been identified. 
 
5. Other Implications 
 
No other implications arising from this report have been identified. 
 
6. Risk Assessment 
 
The report of the independent auditor identifies and responds to the significant 
audit risks faced by the pension fund. 
 
7. Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 
 
8. Appendices 

Appendix 1: Independent Auditor’s Report 2019/20 

Appendix 2: Pension Fund Final Accounts 2019/20 

 
9. Background Papers 

Pension Fund Annual Report 2019-20 (November 2020) 
 

Footnote: 
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report. 

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



Dorset County Pension Fund
DRAFT Final report to the Audit Committee on the 2020 audit

XX August 2020

Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

P
age 207

David.Wilkes
Highlight
References to Audit Committee should be replaced with Pension Fund Committee

David.Wilkes_1
Highlight
Should read Dorset Council not Dorset County Council



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
2

Contents

01 Final Report 02 Appendices

Partner introduction 3 Corrected audit adjustments 23

Materiality 7 Uncorrected audit adjustments 24

Scoping 8 Uncorrected disclosure deficiencies 25

Significant audit risks 9 Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud 26

Audit focus areas 12 Fraud responsibilities and representations 27

Maintaining audit quality 19 Independence and fees 29

Purpose of our report and responsibility statement 21 Topical Matters 30

P
age 208



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

Partner Introduction
The key messages in this report:
We have pleasure in presenting our Audit Findings Report to the Audit Committee for the 2020 audit of the Dorset County Pension Fund (the “Fund”). As we
planned our audit upon receiving the draft accounts in August 2020, the extent and impact of COVID-19 was well known.

We would like to extend our thanks to Fund management for their assistance during the audit, especially given the logistical challenges of remote working. The
regular communication we have had with management and the use of technology allowed us to continue to deliver the audit. This report serves as our final report
upon signing the Fund accounts.

We would like to draw your attention to the key messages of this report:

Audit scope

Our reporting responsibilities as auditor of the Fund are to:

• Form an opinion on the financial statements of the Fund as included in the Statement of Accounts of Dorset County Council, which are prepared under the
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2019/20 (“the Code”) issued by CIPFA;

• Form an opinion on the consistency of those financial statements of the Fund, included within the Authority’s Statement of Accounts, with those included in
the Pension Fund’s Annual Report; and

• Report to “those charged with governance” on certain additional matters, including any unadjusted errors over our reporting threshold (“RT”), our
independence and any other issues we consider should be brought to their attention.

Audit status and findings to date

As all open matters have now been cleared, we will be issuing an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements of the Fund.

The significant findings in the 2020 audit relate to directly held property and pooled property fund disclosures. Within our planning report, we identified that 

there were material uncertainties applied to underlying property valuations issued by valuers at 31 March 2020. Through our audit work it has been noted that all 

four of the Fund’s pooled property managers issued such material uncertainty clauses. Further, all four funds had suspended trading as of 31 March 2020. 

The impact of this is that additional disclosures were required in the accounts regarding the material uncertainty valuation issues, and in addition the lack of fund 

trading has meant that the pooled property funds are classified as level 3 assets within the Fund’s fair value hierarchy analysis. This has required further 

disclosures regarding level 3 assets to be included in the draft accounts as a consequence. These amendments are further discussed on page 13.

Given that the pooled property funds with material uncertainties represent only 10% of the total Fund assets, we consider that this is not a fundamental asset 

class within the accounts, and therefore have concluded that an emphasis of matter paragraph in our audit report, drawing the reader’s attention to this fact, is 

not required. 

P
age 209

David.Wilkes_2
Highlight



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

Partner Introduction
The key messages in this report (continued):

Significant audit risk

Our significant audit risks are unchanged from that identified in our planning report. 

Please refer to pages 9 and 10 for further details in respect of our testing of the significant risks.

Brexit

The UK left the European Union on 31 December 2020. Businesses and indeed their pension schemes should continue to plan for disruption and change
across its operations, for example through resourcing restrictions; contract management; withholding taxes and other investment transactions such as foreign
exchange volatility. As part of the audit, we considered:

• What operational plans the Audit Committee may have made and how this impacts the financial statements;
• Fair value of assets as at the Fund’s year end; and
• The impact on the strength of the employer covenant and any going concern implications.

No issues arose from our consideration of the impact of Brexit with regards to the Fund.

Significant issues identified last year

The impact of COVID-19 has meant that we have had to undertake the audit entirely remotely for 2020. Throughout our audit work, we have been able to 

continue to audit remotely, and management have been fully operational, working remotely. We have not identified any significant operational issues arising 

from our review of how management have addressed the challenges from COVID-19; we have reflected on the valuation challenge posed over the Fund’s 

property holdings on page 11, where material uncertainty clauses have been made by the underlying valuers. We have also reviewed the investment portfolio 

valuation changes post year end and have not noted any significant changes to the overall portfolio value. We have also seen that employer contributions 

have continued to be made post year end in line with statutory requirements and the funding agreements. No other issues have been noted in our audit 

work.

P
age 210



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

Partner Introduction
The key messages in this report (continued):

Audit Quality

We have committed to delivering a robust challenge of the key judgements taken in the preparation of the financial statements; to gain a strong
understanding of your internal control environment; and to deliver a well-planned audit that raises findings early with those charged with governance.

We have supplemented our core pension audit team with the following specialists:

1. Real estate specialists, who have assisted in designing appropriate audit procedures to audit the pooled property funds valuations; and
2. IT specialists who reviewed the general access and change management controls associated with the administration system.

Going Concern

We are required to comment on the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements in our audit report. As part of this process, details of the
work we perform around the going concern assessment are detailed below:

• considered the statutory basis of the Fund;
• considered the results of the 2019 triennial valuation; and
• assessed the risk to the Fund of non-receipt of contributions from its admitted bodies.

We have no issues to raise in this regard.

Our Conclusion

In reaching our conclusions we considered the control observations and the results from our testing on pages 10 to 14. In addition, we noted:

• the significant accounting judgements and estimates appear reasonable; and

• As set out in appendix 2, we have identified two uncorrected misstatements and two disclosure deficiencies to report to you, for which we will obtain a
representation for the non-adjustment of this item on the basis that it is not material.

As all open matters have now been cleared, we will be issuing an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements of the Fund.

P
age 211



6
Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

Materiality 
Our Approach to Materiality

Basis of our materiality benchmark

• The audit partner has estimated financial statement materiality as
£27.1m (PY: £30.3m), based on professional judgement, the
requirement of auditing standards and the net assets of the Fund. This
figure is based on the draft 2020 financial statements.

• We have used 1% of Fund net assets as the benchmark for
determining our materiality levels.

The basis for our materiality calculation is the same as the previous year.

Reporting to those charged with governance

• We report to you all misstatements found in excess of 2% of financial
statement materiality. We report to you misstatements below this
threshold if we consider them to be material by nature.

• As set out in the appendices, we have identified two uncorrected
misstatements and two disclosure deficiencies to report to you, for
which we will obtain a representation for the non-adjustment of.

Materiality Calculation

Although materiality is the judgement of the audit partner, the AC members must be satisfied
the level of materiality chosen is appropriate for the scope of the audit.

Net Assets
(2019/20) 1%

2 %    Reporting threshold

Fi
n

an
ci

al
 S

ta
te

m
e

n
t

M
at

e
ri

al
it

y

£2.7bn

£540k

£27.1m

£xx

£xx

P
age 212



77
Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

Significant risks and areas of focus dashboard

Scoping

Risk Identified Material 
Balance

Management 
Judgement

Proposed 
Approach 

Fraud 
Risk 

Further Details

Significant Risk 
Management override of controls D&I Pg. 10

Significant Risk
Valuation of direct property investments

D&I Pg. 11

Other Focus Area
Completeness and valuation of investments D&I

Pg. 13

Other Focus Area
Completeness and accuracy of contributions

D&I Pg. 15

Other Focus Area
Accuracy of retirement benefits and transfers out values D&I

Pg. 16

Low levels of management judgement/complexity

Medium levels of management judgement/complexity

High degree of management judgement/complexity

D&ISignificant risk

Other area of audit focus

Design and Implementation

Operating EffectivenessOE

P
age 213



8

Significant 
audit risk

Significant 
audit risk

Significant 
audit risks

P
age 214



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
9

Significant risk
Management override of controls

Risk identified

In accordance with ISA 240 (UK), management override is always a significant risk for financial statement audits. The primary risk areas surrounding the management override
of internal controls are over the processing of journal entries and the key assumptions and estimates made by management.

Response of those charged with
governance

Deloitte response to significant risk identified

The Audit Committee does not have access
to the Fund accounting system and does not
process any journals in respect of the Fund
and.

The financial reporting process in place has
an adequate level of segregation of duties.

In order to address the significant risk, our audit procedures consisted of the following:

• Used Spotlight, our data analytics software, in our journals testing to interrogate 100% of journals posted across the Fund. 
This uses intelligent algorithms that identify higher risk and unusual items;

• Performed a walkthrough of the financial reporting process to identify the controls over journal entries and other 
adjustments posted in the preparation of the financial statements;

• Made inquiries of individuals involved in the financial reporting process about inappropriate or unusual activity relating to the 
processing of journal entries and other adjustments; 

• Reviewed the accounting estimates for bias, such as year-end creditor and debtor postings and the valuation of unlisted 
investments, that could result in material misstatement due to fraud, including whether any differences between estimates 
best supported by evidence and those in the financial statements, even if individually reasonable, indicate a possible bias on 
the part of management;

• Agreed that there is an appropriate level of segregation of duties over processing journal entries to the financial statements 
throughout the year;

• Tested the design and implementation of controls around the journals process and investment and disinvestment of cash 
during the year; and

• Reviewed related party transactions and balances to identify if any inappropriate transactions had taken place.

Deloitte comment

We have no matters to bring to the attention of 
the AC from our work performed.

P
age 215



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
10

Significant risk
Valuation of direct property investments
Risk identified

The Fund has a significant holding in directly held UK properties, both freehold and leasehold. As noted on page 4, due to the uncertainty created by the COVID-19 crisis and the
material uncertainty clause included in the report of external property valuers, we have identified the valuation of these investment balances as a significant risk. The valuation of
direct properties is based on assumptions, geographical location and market trends. Due to the specialist nature of this investment type, the valuation is more challenging for us to
assess as auditor and we therefore consult with internal specialists to inform our audit response.

Response of those charged with governance Deloitte response to significant risk identified

The Fund has engaged BNP Paribas and, for a particular portion 
or the portfolio, Allsop LLP) to assist in the valuation of the 
direct property holdings. There are regular valuation meetings 
held between Fund management and the valuers to monitor 
Fund property.  CBRE are also engaged as the investment 
manager responsible for the indirect property holdings.

In order to address the significant risk, our audit procedures consisted of the following:

• Assessed the design and implementation of controls around the valuation of direct properties and of key
controls over the completeness and valuation of indirect property investments by obtaining the investment
manager internal control report (where applicable) and evaluating the implications for our audit of any
exceptions noted;

• Assessed the reliability, competence and capabilities of CBRE in their role as valuer of direct property holdings;

• Vouched the Fund financial statements to the direct third party confirmation provided by BNP Paribas,
including an assessment of post balance sheet events and the impact on the valuation of direct property;

• Consulted with property specialists within Deloitte Real Estate (DRE) to review the property portfolio and to
discuss individual properties as required based on the outcome of our expectation analysis; and

• Prepared an expectation of the year end valuation for properties held directly by the Fund using comparable
market indices and compared the expectation to the valuation provided by BNP Paribas. This included a
review of the geographical location and nature of the properties in the portfolio, along with consultation
with Deloitte Real Estate to support our understanding of "MSCI Property Indexes Methodology, September
2020“;

Deloitte comment

As a result of the COVID-19 outbreak, which has caused
extensive disruption to businesses and economic activities on a
global level in all sectors, the property valuers have reported
their valuation on the basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’.
The declaration does not mean that the valuation cannot be
relied upon but it does mean that less certainty, and a higher
degree of caution, should be attached to the valuation of the
properties than would normally be the case. As a result of this,
and following discussion with DRE, we have recommended
enhanced disclosures in the Fund financial statements in
respect of estimation uncertainty and recommended
disclosure of the sensitivity of the property valuations to a +/-
15% change.

Given that total property investments (direct and indirect)
represent 10.7% of total Fund net assets, we have not included
an emphasis of matter within our audit report.

P
age 216



11

Audit focus 
areas

Significant 
audit risk

Audit focus 
areas

P
age 217



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
12

Areas of audit focus 
Completeness and valuation of investments - property pooled investment vehicles 
(‘PIVs’)

Risk identified

The Fund holds property PIVs within its investment portfolio. Just prior to the Fund year end, the impact of COVID-19 resulted in surveyors including a ‘material uncertainty’
clause in their valuations due to the impact of COVID-19 on the property sector. As a result of COVID-19, there have been fewer market transactions resulting in less
transparency and more judgement being involved in the preparation of property valuations.

This has meant we have had to perform additional procedures and testing in this area.

Response of those charged with governance Deloitte response to focus area identified

The Fund obtains monthly valuation statements from the property managers to substantiate the carrying
value of each manager’s holding of property.

We have enhanced our testing of property PIVs in the current
year and have drawn upon internal experience with our
colleagues in Deloitte Real Estate in relation to our testing
approach.

We have obtained independent confirmations from each of
the four property managers, and also reconciled the year end
valuation with the latest audited accounts Net Assets Value
available, rolled forward to the year end using appropriate
market benchmarks specific to the UK property market.

We also confirmed with each manager whether the Fund
holding as at 31 March 2020 had material uncertainty clauses
included, and whether the Fund had suspended trading. We
also requested updates for these as of December 2020.

In addition, we have reviewed the disclosures in the draft
financial statements around property fund valuations.

Deloitte comment

All property PIVs managers confirmed that a material uncertainty around their valuation existed as at the year end,
and that all holdings had suspended trading at the year end date.

Disclosures were enhanced with regards to the existence of the material uncertainty clauses affecting the valuations
and, additionally, the fair value hierarchy was amended for these assets from level 2, to level 3, to reflect the trading
suspension in place at the year end.

Further, all four funds confirmed they released their material uncertainties in September 2020, however one Fund
remains gated at present. The draft accounts note all funds released gating and material uncertainty clauses,
therefore an amendment is required to accurately report this position in the accounts still.

The four pooled property funds of £36.3m accounted for 1.4% of the Fund net assets at the year-end. Total property
investments (direct and indirect) represent 10.7% of total Fund net assets In our judgement, this is not significant
enough for an emphasis of matter to be added to our audit report.

Additionally, the sensitivities of pooled property valuations have been added to the fair value level 3 reconciliation
and sensitivity disclosure notes.

No other matters have arisen with our testing over the valuation of property PIVs.

P
age 218



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
13

Audit focus areas
Completeness and valuation of investments other than property funds

Risk identified

The Fund holds a large and highly material portfolio of investments. Within this portfolio, there are a number of alternative investments, including investments in infrastructure
fund totalling £186.3m. These funds do not have publicly available prices and are infrequently priced, increasing the risk of stale pricing.

Given the significance of investments to the Scheme, the accurate valuation of these investment balances was identified as an area of focus.

Response of those charged with
governance

Deloitte response to risk identified

The Fund appoints various
investment managers and State
Street as custodian for these
investments.

In order to address this focus area, our audit procedures consisted of the following:

• Tested the design and implementation, and the operating effectiveness where applicable, of key controls over the completeness and
valuation of investments by obtaining the investment manager internal control report (where applicable) and evaluating the
implications for our audit of any exceptions noted;

• Agreed the year-end valuations and sales and purchases totals in the accounts to the reports received directly from the investment
managers and State Street as custodian, and reconciled these to the individual confirmations received from the investment managers;

• Agreed registered funds and directly held investments to publicly available prices, including expanding our corporate bonds sample to
reprice the whole portfolio as a response to the valuation risk arising from COVID;

• Performed independent valuation testing for a sample of year-end alternative investment holdings by rolling forward the valuation as
per the latest audited accounts using cash flows and an appropriate index as a benchmark;

• Ensured appropriate stale price adjustments have been posted to the financial statements;

• Performed a unit reconciliation in which the opening investment balances and unit quantities are reconciled to the closing investment
balances and unit quantities by taking into account the movement that occurred during the year (i.e. purchases, sales, change in
market value); and

• Reviewed the classifications of investments throughout the investment notes to ensure these were accurately presented and in line
with the 2019 final position.

Deloitte Comment

Due to differences in the reporting by BNYM and the sales and purchases initially disclosed in the draft accounts, we identified a misstatement in the classification of purchases
and sales within the ‘Equities – Quoted’ and ‘Pooled Investment Vehicles’ lines in the reconciliation disclosure. An adjustment was proposed and corrected in the accounts.
Further details are available on page 23.

We have also identified one uncorrected disclosure deficiency. In note 15 of the draft accounts, the investment reconciliation includes the cash and cash equivalents, other investment assets and
other investment liabilities. These balances are reported 'below-the-line' and should not disclose purchases, sales of a change in market value. A change in market value balance has been
disclosed in the draft accounts for the 'Cash & cash equivalents' balance.

P
age 219

David.Wilkes_3
Highlight
Should this be State Street?



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
14

Audit focus areas
Completeness and accuracy of contributions

Risk identified

There is some complexity surrounding the accuracy and completeness of employee and employer contributions received by the Fund. The employer primary and secondary 
contribution rates are dictated by the actuarial valuation and these vary between the contributing employers. Employee contributions are based on varying percentages of 
employee pensionable pay – this can vary month to month and the Fund has no oversight of the individual employer payrolls.

As a result of this, we have made the accuracy and completeness of contributions an area of audit focus.

Response of those charged with governance Deloitte response to risk identified

The administration team monitors the due 
dates of contributions and that the correct 
amounts are received into the Fund bank 
account to ensure that payments are in 
accordance with the actuarial valuation. 

Employers must also complete a contributions 
return confirming that the contributions paid 
during the year are accurate and complete.

In order to address this area of audit focus, our audit procedures consisted of the following:

• Reviewed the design and implementation of key controls over the contribution process;

• Performed an analytical review of the employer and employee normal contributions received in the year, basing our 
expectation on the prior year audited balance, adjusted for the movement in active member numbers, contribution rate 
changes and any average pay rise awarded in the year;

• Tested the reconciliation of the total number of active members between the membership records and the employer 
payroll records; 

• For a sample of monthly contributions paid, checked that they have been paid within the due dates per the LGPS 
Regulations; and

• Performed the reconciliation of the total number of active members between the membership records and the employer 
payroll records. 

Deloitte comment

From performing the procedures described,
we have no matters to bring to the attention
of the Audit Committee.

P
age 220



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
15

Audit focus areas
Accuracy of retirement benefits and transfer out values 

Risk identified

The risk principally relates to the inaccurate application of the LGPS regulations and rules to the calculation of retirement benefits and transfers out during the Fund year. 

The administration team calculate retirement benefits. Incorrect benefits calculations and/or making payments to the wrong members, or people who are not eligible for 
benefits, can lead to misstatement of the financial statements, financial loss, pensioners being wrongly paid, reputational damage and breaches of the Pensions Acts. 

Response of those charged with governance Deloitte response to risk identified

Benefits are calculated and paid by 
the Scheme’s in-house administration team

In order to address this area of audit focus, our audit procedures consisted of the following:

• Tested the design and implementation of key controls operating within the Altair infrastructure and reviewed the process 
that Fund management have put in place to ensure benefits are paid in accordance with the LSPS Regulations  & Rules;

• Agreed a sample of benefits paid to the calculations and payment including both lump sum and monthly pension;

• Agreed a sample of benefits paid through to a signed option form to ensure that it was in line with members wishes; 

• Reviewed the member file for a sample of benefits paid to ensure adequate sign off of all internal processes; and

• For a sample of transfers out, confirmed that the receiving Scheme was an HMRC registered Scheme and the Independent 
Financial Advisor was Financial Conduct Authority registered.

Deloitte comment

From performing the procedures described,
we have no matters to bring to the attention
of the Audit Committee.

P
age 221



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
16

Other audit findings

Finding Recommendation

Membership Reconciliations
We identified that the Pension Manager could not supply a membership number 
reconciliation between 2018-19 and 2019-20. The reconciliation should show 
movements of members in the financial year and retrospective changes that revised any 
prior-year figures. This reconciliation would allow us to audit the movement of member 
numbers, which we have not been able to do.

It is recommended that the Pension Manager develops an Altair report that can count 
the total (and identify individual) retrospective changes to membership data.
In addition, it is recommended that the Pension Database Administrator runs a data 
extract of Membership data on, or as close to 31 March as possible.
It is also recommended that the Pension Fund Manager performs a reconciliation 
between prior-year reported membership numbers and revised membership numbers.
We also recommend that you create a policy over how you account for those 
undecided members within the year-end accounts.

Non-compliance with SIP
The 2018 SIP which was in place during the Fund year details the planned asset 
allocation of the Fund's investment holdings. We have tested the actual holdings 
allocation and compared these to the SIP allocation. We noted per the SIP that the Fund 
is allowed a of +/-% difference depending on the relevant fund. Per the testing 
performed, we noted that the following funds were outside threshold;
Global equities, Emerging Markets, Bonds, diversified growth, private equity and 
infrastructure

Management should complete regular reviews and should take steps to ensure that the 
investment allocation is in line with the allocation outlined in the Statement of 
Investment Principles. 

McCloud disclosure
It is noted that the McCloud exposure within the Fund notes relates to the expected 
cost of full rectification for the Fund, relating to all accrued liabilities. As pension 
schemes do not account for the future liabilities of the Fund, the Fund’s exposure to 
McCloud at 31 March 2020 is technically only that element relating to settled pensions 
in payment at that date. While this reduced element is currently not able to be 
quantified, it does represent a contingent liability, but upon assessing a reasonable 
estimate, this amount should be recorded as a provision in the Fund accounts. We note 
that the adjustment is not expected to be material.

We recommend that the disclosure for McCloud is enhanced in future years with 
reference to the Fund’s exposure to past benefit payments, in addition to the Fund as a 
whole exposure, and that a provision is recorded when the settled benefits element of 
the exposure is quantified to a reasonable degree of accuracy.

P
age 222

David.Wilkes_4
Highlight

David.Wilkes_5
Highlight

David.Wilkes_6
Highlight

David.Wilkes_7
Highlight
For LGPS funds references to SIP should be replaced with Investment Strategy Statement (ISS)



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
17

IT audit findings

Finding Recommendation

To be updated.

P
age 223



18

Maintaining 
audit 
quality

Maintaining 
audit 
quality

Maintaining 
audit quality

P
age 224



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
19

Our approach to quality

AQR team report and findings

Audit quality remains our number one priority and we have a relentless 
commitment to it. We continue to invest in and enhance our Audit Quality 
Monitoring and Measuring programme. 

In July 2020, the Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”) issued individual reports 
on each of the seven largest firms, including Deloitte, on Audit Quality 
Inspections, providing a summary of the findings of its Audit Quality Review 
(“AQR”) team for the 2019/20 cycle of reviews.

We greatly value the FRC reviews of our audit engagements and firm-wide 
quality control systems, a key aspect of evaluating our audit quality. 

We are pleased with our results for the inspections of FTSE 350 entities 
achieving 90% assessed as good or needing limited improvement, which 
included some of our highest risk audits. Our objective is for 100% of our audits 
to be assessed as good or needing limited improvement and we know we still 
have work to do in order to meet this standard. We are however, extremely 
disappointed one engagement received a rating of significant improvements 
required during the period. This is viewed very seriously within Deloitte and we 
have worked with the AQR to agree a comprehensive set of swift and 
significant firm-wide actions.  

We are also pleased to see the impact of our previous actions on prior year 
adjustments is reflected in the results of current year inspections with no 
findings in this areas. In addition the FRC identified good practice examples 
including in: risk assessment, group oversight, our comprehensive IFRS9 
expected credit loss audit programme and our audit committee reporting.

Embedding a culture of challenge in our audit practice underpins the key pillars 
of our audit strategy. We invest continually in our firm-wide processes and 
controls, which we seek to develop globally, to underpin consistency in 
delivering high quality audits whilst ensuring engagement teams exercise 
professional scepticism through robust challenge. 

All the AQR public reports are available on its website.
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditors/audit-quality-review/audit-firm-specific-
reports

P
age 225

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditors/audit-quality-review/audit-firm-specific-reports


Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
20

Purpose of our report and responsibility statement 
Our report is designed to help you meet your governance duties

What we report

Our report is designed to help the Audit Committee and the Treasurer discharge 
their governance duties. It also represents one way in which we fulfil our 
obligations under ISA 260 (UK) to communicate with you regarding your oversight 
of the financial reporting process and your governance requirements. Our report 
includes:

• Results of our work on key audit judgements and our observations.

• Our internal control observations.

• Other insights we have identified from our audit.

What we don’t report

• As you will be aware, our audit is not designed to identify all matters that may be
relevant to the Audit Committee.

• Also, there will be further information you need to discharge your governance
responsibilities, such as matters reported on by management or by other
specialist advisers.

• Finally, the views on internal controls and Fund risk assessment in our final report
should not be taken as comprehensive or as an opinion on effectiveness since
they will be based solely on the audit procedures performed in the audit of the
Fund financial statements and the other procedures performed in fulfilling our
audit plan.

Scope of our work

Our observations are developed in the context of our audit of the Fund financial 
statements.

We described the scope of our work in our proposed audit plan, which has been 
shared with you.

The audit insights and other control findings of this report provide details of 
additional work we have performed alongside the audit of the Fund financial 
statements.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss our report with you and receive your
feedback.

Deloitte LLP

Cardiff| XX August 2021

This report has been prepared for the Audit Committee, as a body, and we therefore
accept responsibility to you alone for its contents. We accept no duty, responsibility
or liability to any other parties, since this report has not been prepared, and is not
intended, for any other purpose. Except where required by law or regulation, it
should not be made available to any other parties without our prior written consent.

P
age 226



21
Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

Appendices
Key audit matters
Appendices
Key audit matters

P
age 227



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

Appendix 1: Corrected audit adjustments

Corrected audit adjustments 

Detail
Debit/ (credit)
Fund Account

£m

Debit/ (credit)
Net Asset Statement

£m

Corrected misstatements identified in current year - -

Classification of Purchases and Sales [1]

Purchases: Equities – Quoted 0.384

Sales: Equities – Quoted (0.179)

Change in Market Value: Equities – Quoted (0.205)

Purchases: Pooled Investment Vehicles (0.384)

Sales: Pooled Investment Vehicles 0.179

Change in Market Value: Pooled Investment Vehicles 0.205

- -

Total

Corrected disclosure deficiencies

[1]: It was identified through the testing of purchases and sales that there were purchases/sales related to certain items that had been incorrectly classified within the 'Equities -
Quoted' line in the investments reconciliation in the draft accounts. The year-end balance for these items had been correctly included within the ‘Pooled Investment Vehicles’ 
balance, whilst sales and purchases were incorrectly classified in the 'Equities - Quoted' line of the investment reconciliation.

This required reclassifications of £384 million (purchases) and £179 million (sales) from the 'Equities - Quoted' to the 'Pooled Investment Vehicles' lines in note 15 of the accounts. 
This in turn had an impact on the change in market value of both investment classes, with the Change in Market Value balance for 'Equities - Quoted' requiring adjustment by -£205 
million and the Change in Market Value balance for 'Pooled Investment Vehicles' requiring adjustment by £205 million. This results in a net difference of zero to the total Change in 
Market Value balance, but does impact the disclosure of purchases and sales within the two asset classes detailed above.

P
age 228



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

Appendix 2: Uncorrected audit adjustments

Uncorrected audit adjustments 

Detail
Debit/ (credit)
Fund Account

£m

Debit/ (credit)
Net Asset Statement

£m

Uncorrected misstatements identified in current year - -

Stale Pricing: Overstatement of Property Pooled Investment Vehicles [1]

Pooled Investment Vehicles - Property (1.4)

Change in Market Value: Pooled Investment Vehicles – Property 1.4

Stale Pricing: Understatement of Private Equity valuation [2]

Private Equity 2.3

Change in Market Value: Pooled Investment Vehicles – Private Equity (2.3)

Total (0.9) 0.9

Uncorrected audit adjustments

[1]: Based on correspondence with the Investment Manager, CBRE, and our testing of the valuation statements provided by CBRE, it was confirmed that the valuations presented in 
the financial statements were based on February 2020 net asset values. These therefore represent stale prices used in the year-end reporting. We obtained an updated valuation 
statement from CBRE that detailed the valuation as at 31 March 2020. The valuations as at 31 March 2020 were found to be £1.4 million higher than the balances used in the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

[2]: State Street reporting has been used in the preparation of the financial statements. For the value of a number of funds managed by HarbourVest, differences were identified in 
the local currency (USD) value reported by State Street and the local currency value reported to Deloitte by HarbourVest. It was confirmed by HarbourVest that the differences are as 
a result of a 'stale price' being used by State Street in their reporting. As confirmed to us by HarbourVest, State Street have relied on estimated information, which was originally 
provided by HarbourVest to State Street. However, since then, final quarter end valuations were prepared by HarbourVest. These final valuations were provided to Deloitte. This 
resulted in differences in comparison to the valuations reported by State Street.  We have converted the final quarter end valuations from the local currency amount to the reporting 
currency amount (GBP) to confirm the total differences. 

P
age 229



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

Appendix 3: Uncorrected disclosure deficiencies

Uncorrected disclosure deficiencies 

Detail

Uncorrected disclosure identified in current year

A change in market value balance is disclosed for the ‘Cash & cash equivalents’ balance in the investments reconciliation table in the financial statements [1] 

The Pension Fund has not recognised a liability or provision relating to the past service cost element pertaining to settled benefits in respect of the McCloud ruling 
[2]

Uncorrected disclosure deficiencies

[1]: In note 15 of the draft accounts, the investment reconciliation includes the cash and cash equivalents, other investment assets and other investment liabilities balances. These 
balances are reported 'below-the-line' and should not disclose purchases, sales or a change in market value. A change in market value for the 'Cash & cash equivalents' balance has 
been disclosed in this note. 

[2]: The Pension Fund has not recognised a liability or provision relating to the past service cost element pertaining to settled benefits in respect of the McCloud ruling.  The Pension 
Fund does not consider it practicable to determine the exact quantity of this amount, but consider that the amount would be immaterial. However, the Pension Fund has disclosed 
within the contingent liability note at Notes 23 Fund financial statements, an indication of the estimated impact on liabilities for the main employers in the Fund. 

P
age 230



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
25

Appendix 4: ISA 240 – The Auditor's Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an 
Audit of Financial Statements 
The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the Scheme and management. It is important that 
management, with the oversight of those charged with governance, places a strong emphasis on fraud prevention, which may reduce opportunities for fraud to take place, and 
fraud deterrence, which could persuade individuals not to commit fraud because of the likelihood of detection and punishment. This involves a commitment to creating a culture of 
honesty and ethical behaviour which can be reinforced by an active oversight by those charged with governance. Oversight by those charged with governance includes considering 
the potential for override of controls or other inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibility

An auditor conducting an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK) is responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements of the financial 
statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs.

As part of our partner-led planning process, as an audit team we have considered the possible avenues of fraud within the Scheme and have outlined our approach to each 
consideration below.

Consideration Approach

Fraudulent posting of journal entries – the purposeful 
misstatement of the financial statements

We have outlined our approach to the mitigation of this risk on page 10.

Fraudulent valuation of investment assets - incentive to 
overstate asset values

We have outlined our approach to the mitigation of this risk on pages 11 and 14.

Misappropriation of cash - disinvestments not processed 
in accordance with the investment mandate

In response to this risk, we performed a walkthrough of the disinvestment process and assessed the design and 
implementation of the identified controls. We inspected the investment mandate in place and the signed disinvestment 
instruction to ensure it has been processed appropriately. We then tracked the disinvestment proceeds to the Fund bank 
account.

Creation of fictional pensioner records and payments to 
non Scheme members

In response to this risk, we performed a walkthrough of the process and assessed the design and implementation of 
controls around pensioner set up and amendments to existing UPM records to ensure there are appropriate controls and 
enforced segregation of duties. In addition, we performed design and implementation testing of controls associated with 
payments made from the Fund bank account to ensure they are authorised in accordance with payment limits.

Circumvention of the review process within UPM In response to this risk, we performed a walkthrough of the process and assessed the design and implementation of 
controls around the processing of retirement and transfers out cases to ensure there is segregation of duties. We also 
evaluated the controls around user access level reviews to ensure there is appropriate segregation between those 
performing a process and those reviewing the process and ensured that the same process cannot be performed and 
reviewed by the same person.

Pensioner existence – payment of pensions to deceased 
members 

In response to this risk, we performed a walkthrough of the process and assessed the design and implementation of 
controls around the existence of pensioners to ensure the timely suspension of pensions to deceased members.

P
age 231



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
26

Appendix 5: Fraud responsibilities and representations
Responsibilities explained

Your Responsibilities:

The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with
management and the AC, including establishing and maintaining internal controls over the
reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations, and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Our Responsibilities:

• We are required to obtain representations from your management regarding internal
controls, assessment of risk and any known or suspected fraud or misstatement.

• As auditors, we obtain reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud
or error.

• As set out in the significant risks section of this document, we have identified 
management override of control and the valuation of directly held property as key 
audit risks within the Fund.

Fraud Characteristics:

• Misstatements in the financial statements can arise from either fraud or error. The
distinguishing factor between fraud and error is whether the underlying action that
results in the misstatement of the financial statements is intentional or unintentional.

• Two types of intentional misstatements are relevant to us as auditors – misstatements
resulting from fraudulent financial reporting and misstatements resulting from
misappropriation of assets.

We will request the following to be stated in the
representation letter signed on behalf of the AC:

• We acknowledge our responsibilities for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control
to prevent and detect fraud and error.

• We have disclosed to you the results of our
assessment of the risk that the financial statements
may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

• We are not aware of any fraud or suspected fraud
OR We have disclosed to you all information in
relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are
aware of and that affects the Fund and involves:
(i) management;

(ii) employees who have significant roles in
internal control; or

(iii) others where the fraud could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

• We have disclosed to you all information in
relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud,
affecting the Fund’s financial statements
communicated by employees, former employees,
analysts, regulators or others.

P
age 232



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
27

Appendix 5: Fraud responsibilities and representations (continued)
Inquiries

Management:

• Management’s assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated due to fraud, including the nature, extent and frequency of
such assessments.

• Management’s process for identifying and responding to the risks of fraud in the Fund.

• Management’s communication, if any, to the AC regarding its processes for identifying and responding to the risks of fraud in the Fund.

• Management’s communication, if any, to employees regarding its views on business practices and ethical behaviour.

• Whether management has knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the Fund.

• We plan to involve management from outside the finance function in our inquiries.

Internal audit

• Whether internal audit has knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the Fund, and to obtain its views about the risks of fraud.

The Audit Committee

• How the Audit Committee exercises oversight of management’s processes for identifying and responding to the risks of fraud in the Fund and the internal
control that management has established to mitigate these risks.

• Whether the Audit Committee has knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the Fund.

• The views of the Audit Committee on the most significant fraud risk factors affecting the Fund.

Cyber Breaches

• How the Audit Committee exercises oversight of the management’s processes to prevent and identify any cyber breaches.

• Whether the Audit Committee has knowledge of any cyber breaches that have resulted in more than inconsequential unauthorised access of data, 
applications, services, networks or devices.

We will make the following inquiries regarding fraud:

P
age 233



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only
28

Appendix 6: Independence and fees 
A Fair and Transparent Fee

Independence 

confirmation

We confirm the audit engagement team and others in the firm (as appropriate), Deloitte LLP and, where applicable, all Deloitte network firms are 
independent of the Fund.

Fees Our audit fee for the year ending 31 March 2020 is £19,362 for the Fund. The fee reflected here is the scale fee. In line with recent PSAA 
correspondence that scale fees should be negotiated by individual s151 officers, we will be looking to discuss with the Authority the current level of 
fee which we deem to be too low given the size and complexity of the body.

The above fee also excludes the cost of providing IAS 19 letters to other local authorities that will be recharged by the Fund to the other local 
authorities. It also excludes the fee for the additional audit work we have had to do in relation to COVID-19 assurance. These fees are in the process 
of being quantified and will be discussed with management.

The above fees exclude VAT.

Non audit services In our opinion, there are no inconsistencies between the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the Fund’s policy for the supply of non-audit services or any
apparent breach of that policy.

We continue to review our independence and ensure that appropriate safeguards are in place including, but not limited to, the rotation of senior
partners and professional staff and the involvement of additional partners and professional staff to carry out reviews of the work performed and to
otherwise advise as necessary.

Ethical Standard 2019 The FRC has released the Ethical Standard 2019. The standard classes pension schemes as 'other entities of public interest ' where assets are
greater than £1bn and there are 10,000 members. As a result, non audit services will be limited primarily to reporting accountant work, audit
related and other regulatory and assurance services. All other advisory services to these entities, their UK parents and world-wide subs will be
prohibited.

As part of our obligations under International Standards on Auditing (UK), we are required to report to you on the matters listed below:

P
age 234



Deloitte Confidential: Government and Public Services – For Approved External Use Only

The National Audit Office has issued the new Code of Audit Practice applicable for 
2020/21 audits onwards

Appendix 7: Topical matters

Next steps

• We will update the Authority as the requirements develop.
• We will agree with the Authority as soon as practicable how to implement changes from the new Code in our audit approach for 2020/21 onwards.

Issue

The National Audit Office issued the new Code of Audit Practice for 2020/21 onwards. The Code is applicable to NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts, CCGs, and Local Authorities.

The Code remains aligned (where relevant) with generally accepted auditing standards, with the intention that this will allow the Code to adapt to any changes arising as a result of 
the wider debate within the audit profession (such as the Brydon Review and the Redmond Review).

The most significant changes are around Value for Money (the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in the use of resources), which:

• Change the approach away from the auditor performing a risk assessment, and then only performing further work if a significant risk were identified, to specifying procedures 
that will need to be undertaken in each of three areas.  This will require a minimum level of work at every local public body, with additional risk based work where relevant.

• Moving the focus of reporting to providing public narrative commentary on each of criteria considered for all bodies. This will be included in a separate “Annual Auditor’s 
Report”, which will be a public narrative report, which for NHS bodies will be issued alongside the audit opinion.

• The audit opinion will continue to include reporting by exception where the auditor is not satisfied in respect of arrangements in place (which is a change from the initial 
proposals consulted upon).

The three criteria that would be considered in Value for Money work would be:

• Financial sustainability: How the body plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to deliver its services.

• Governance: How the body ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks and finances.

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: How the body uses information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

Where the auditor identifies significant weaknesses in VfM arrangements, the Code includes an expectation that the auditor will issue recommendations to the audited body, and 
considers whether to do so when identified.

Other proposed changes include:

• Giving the NAO the ability to specify whether auditors should issue ‘enhanced’ auditor reports (as is already done for NHS Foundation Trusts);

• Clarifying expectations on reporting by introducing key principles for effective reporting, so that auditors ensure that any reporting is as effective and transparent as possible and 
promotes local improvement.

We note that the changes are likely to increase the scope of work required for audits, both in required procedures on Value for Money and in the need for an additional public report 
each year.

The NAO will now move forward in developing supporting guidance on the detail of what will be required

P
age 235



Deloitte LLP does not accept any liability for use of or reliance on the contents of this document by any person save by
the intended recipient(s) to the extent agreed in a Deloitte LLP engagement contract.

If this document contains details of an arrangement that could result in a tax or National Insurance saving, no such
conditions of confidentiality apply to the details of that arrangement (for example, for the purpose of discussion with
tax authorities).

Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 and its
registered office at 1 New Street Square, London, EC4A 3HQ, United Kingdom.

Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom affiliate of Deloitte NSE LLP, a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a
UK private company limited by guarantee (“DTTL”). DTTL and each of its member firms are legally separate and
independent entities. DTTL and Deloitte NSE LLP do not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about
to learn more about our global network of member firms.

© 2020 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved.

P
age 236



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

2018/19 2019/20

£'000 £'000 Note £'000 £'000

122,212   Contributions 7 136,769   

94,290   Employer contributions 108,553   

27,922   Member contributions 28,216   

5,938   Transfers in from other pension funds 8 10,793   

128,150   Total additions from dealing with members etc. 147,562   

(120,112)  Benefits 9 (127,919)  

(98,737)  Pensions (104,933)  

(17,771)  Commutations and retirement grants (19,875)  

(3,604)  Death benefits (3,111)  

(5,700)  Payments to and on account of leavers 10 (35,202)  

(296)  Refunds of contributions (347)  

(5,404)  Transfers to other pension funds (34,855)  

2,338   (15,559)  

(14,345)  Management expenses 11 (14,009)  

(12,007)  (29,568)  

30,533   Investment Income 12 24,531   

18,693   Dividends from equities 10,799   

10,439   Rents from properties 12,025   

1,109   Income from property funds 1,176   

481   Interest on cash deposits 565   

71   Other investment income 101   

(260)  Taxes on income (135)  

143,208   (311,314)  

173,741   Net return on investments (286,783)  

161,734   (316,351)  

2,868,218   Opening net assets of the fund 1 April 3,029,952   

3,029,952   Closing net assets of the fund 31 March 2,713,601   

FUND ACCOUNT

Dealings with members, employers and others 

directly involved in the Fund

Net increase/(decrease) in assets available for 

benefits during the year

Profit/(loss) on disposal of investments and changes 

in the  value of investments

Net additions/(withdrawals) from dealings with 

members and others

Net additions/(withdrawals) including Fund 

management expenses

1

Page 237



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

31 March 2019 31 March 2020

£'000 £'000 Note £'000 £'000

395 Long term investments 13 427  

395   Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd 427   

3,025,386  Investment assets 14 2,698,426  

29,469   UK equities (quoted) 11,251  

421,913   Overseas equities (quoted) 160,536  

2,104,713   Pooled investment vehicles 2,115,368  

80,275   Private equity 98,085  

281,480   Property 264,665  

103,022   Cash & cash equivalents 54,925  

733   Derivative contracts (9,757) 

3,781   Other investment assets 3,353  

(1,686)  Investment liabilities 15 (2,316) 

(1,686)  Other investment liabilities (2,316) 

3,024,095 Total net investments 16 2,696,537  

1,930   Long term debtors 965  

1,930   Other long term debtors 965  

12,911  Current assets 22,803  

8,689  Contributions due from employers 17,612

4,222   Other current assets 5,191  

(8,984) Current liabilities (6,704) 

(534)  Unpaid benefits (787) 

(8,330)  Other current liabilities (5,917)  

(120)  Deferred income -     

3,029,952 Net assets available to fund benefits 2,713,601

NET ASSETS STATEMENT

2

Page 238



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

-

-

-

-

-

31 March 2019 31 March 2020

309  Total Employers 317  

Employees

7,544   Administering Authority 6,492  

18,323   Other Scheduled Bodies 17,660  

502   Admitted Bodies 396  

26,369   Total Employees 24,548  

 Pensioners

8,701   Administering Authority 8,986  

12,322   Other Scheduled Bodies 12,967  

1,347   Admitted Bodies 1,377  

22,370   Total Pensioners 23,330  

 Deferred Pensioners

8,989   Administering Authority 8,629  

14,345   Other Scheduled Bodies 14,541  

1,238   Admitted Bodies 1,220  

24,572   Total Deferred Pensioners 24,390  

418  'Undecided' members 1,129  

73,729  Total Members 73,397  

c) Funding

Benefits are funded by contributions and investment earnings. Contributions are made by active members of the Fund in 

accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and ranged from 5.5% to 12.5% of 

pensionable pay for the financial year ending 31 March 2020. Employers’ contributions are set based on triennial 

actuarial funding valuations. The last such valuation was at 31 March 2019 although contributions for 2019/20 were 

based on the valuation as at 31 March 2016. Currently, employer contribution rates range from 9.5% to 26.6% of 

pensionable pay.

NOTE 1. DESCRIPTION OF THE FUND

The Dorset County Pension Fund ("the Fund") is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and is 

administered by Dorset Council ("the Council").

Membership details are set out below:

a) General

b) Membership

Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and employees are free to choose whether to join the scheme, remain in the 

scheme or make their own personal arrangements outside the scheme.

Organisations participating in the Fund include the following: 

Scheduled bodies, which are automatically entitled to be members of the Fund.

Admitted bodies, which participate in the Fund under the terms of an admission agreement between the Fund and 

the employer. Admitted bodies include voluntary, charitable and similar not-for-profit organisations, or private 

contractors undertaking a local authority function following outsourcing to the private sector. 

The scheme is governed by the Public Service Pensions Act 2013. The fund is administered in accordance with the 

following secondary legislation: 

the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2013 (as amended) 

the LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as amended) 

the LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.

It is a contributory defined benefit pension scheme administered by the Council to provide pensions and other benefits 

for pensionable employees of the Council, other councils and a range of other scheduled and admitted bodies within 

the county area. Teachers, police officers and firefighters are not included as they come within other national pension 

schemes. The fund is overseen by the Dorset County Pension Fund Committee, which is a committee of the Council.

d) Benefits

Prior to 1 April 2014, pension benefits under the LGPS were based on final pensionable pay and length of pensionable 

service. From 1 April 2014, the scheme became a career average scheme, whereby members accrue benefits based 

on their pensionable pay in that year at an accrual rate of 1/49th. Accrued pension is uprated annually in line with the 

Consumer Prices Index. A range of other benefits are also provided including early retirement, disability pensions and 

death benefits.

1

Page 239



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Taxation

Contribution income

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The statement of accounts summarise the Fund's transactions for the 2019/20 financial year and its financial position at 

31 March 2020. The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19 ("the Code"), which is based upon International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), as amended for the UK public sector.

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fund Account:

Transfers to and from other schemes

Property-related income consists primarily of rental income. Rental income from operating leases on properties 

owned by the Fund is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Any lease incentives granted are 

recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term of the lease. Contingent rents based on the 

future amount of a factor that changes other than with the passage of time, such as turnover rents, are only 

recognised when contractually due. 

Changes in the value of investments (including investment properties) are recognised as income and comprise all 

realised and unrealised profits/losses during the year.

Employee contribution rates are set in accordance with LGPS regulations, using common percentage rates for all 

schemes which rise according to pensionable pay.

Paragraph 3.3.1.2 of the Code requires disclosure of any accounting standards issued but not yet adopted. No such 

accounting standards have been identified for 2019/20.

The accounts report on the net assets available to pay pension benefits. They do not take account of obligations to pay 

pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the financial year nor do they take into account the actuarial 

present value of promised retirement benefits. The Code gives administering authorities the option to disclose this 

information in the net assets statement, in the notes to the accounts or by appending an actuarial report prepared for 

this purpose. The Fund has opted to disclose this information by appending an actuarial report.

Normal contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis as follows: 

Interest income is recognised in the Fund account as it accrues, using the effective interest rate of the financial 

instrument as at the date of acquisition or origination. 

Dividend income is recognised on the date the shares are quoted ex-dividend. Any amount not received by the end of 

the reporting period is disclosed in the net assets statement as a current financial asset. 

Distributions from pooled funds are recognised at the date of issue. Any amount not received by the end of the 

reporting period is disclosed in the net assets statement as a current financial asset. 

Employer contributions are set at the percentage rate recommended by the Fund actuary for the period to which they 

relate. 

The Fund is a registered public service scheme under Section 1(1) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004 and as 

such is exempt from UK income tax on interest received and from capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments 

sold. Income from overseas investments suffers withholding tax in the country of origin, unless exemption is 

permitted. Irrecoverable tax is accounted for as a fund expense as it arises.

Employer deficit funding contributions are accounted for on the basis advised by the Fund actuary in the rates and 

adjustment certificate issued to the relevant employing body. Additional employers’ contributions in respect of ill-

health and early retirements are accounted for in the year the event arose. Any amount due in the year but unpaid will 

be classed as a current financial asset. Amounts not due until future years are classed as long term financial assets.

Investment income

Transfers in and out relate to members who have either joined or left the Fund. 

Individual transfers in/out are accounted for when received or paid. Transfers in from members wishing to use the 

proceeds of their additional voluntary contributions (see below) to purchase scheme benefits are accounted for on a 

receipts basis and are included in Transfers In (Note 8).

Bulk (group) transfers are accounted for in accordance with the terms of the transfer agreement. 

Benefits payable

Pensions and lump-sum benefits payable include all amounts known to be due as at the end of the financial year. 

Any amounts due but unpaid are disclosed in the net assets statement as current liabilities, providing that payment 

has been approved.

2

Page 240



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Net Assets Statement:

Freehold and leasehold properties

All investment assets are included in the financial statements on a fair value basis as at the reporting date. A financial 

asset is recognised in the net assets statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the contractual acquisition of 

the asset. From this date any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the asset are recognised in the 

fund account. 

The values of investments as shown in the net assets statement have been determined at fair value in accordance 

with the requirements of the Code and IFRS 13 (see Note 17). For the purposes of disclosing levels of fair value 

hierarchy, the Fund has adopted the classification guidelines recommended in Practical Guidance on Investment 

Disclosures (PRAG/Investment Association, 2016). 

Properties are valued annually as at the year-end date by independent external valuers on a fair value basis and in 

accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors’ (RICS) Valuation Standards.  See Note 17 for more 

details.

Foreign currency transactions 

Financial assets classed as amortised cost are carried in the net asset statement at amortised cost, i.e. the 

outstanding principal receivable as at the year-end date plus accrued interest.

Financial assets

Dividends, interest and purchases and sales of investments in foreign currencies have been accounted for at the spot 

market rates at the date of transaction. End-of-year spot market exchange rates are used to value cash balances 

held in foreign currency bank accounts, overseas investments and purchases and sales outstanding at the end of the 

reporting period.

The Fund uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to specific risks arising from its investment 

activities. The Fund does not hold derivatives for speculative purposes.

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits and includes amounts held by the Fund’s external managers. 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 

that are subject to minimal risk of changes in value.

Loans and receivables 

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is recognised in the net assets statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the liability. The 

Fund recognises financial liabilities relating to investment trading at fair value as at the reporting date, and any gains 

or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the liability between contract date, the year-end date and the 

eventual settlement date are recognised in the fund account as part of the change in value of investments. 

Other financial liabilities classed as amortised cost are carried at amortised cost ie the amount carried in the net 

asset statement is the outstanding principal repayable plus accrued interest. Any interest charged is accounted for on 

an accruals basis and included in administration costs.

Derivatives

Cash and cash equivalents 

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits 

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place prior to the year-end giving rise to a possible financial 

obligation whose existence will only be confirmed or otherwise by the occurrence of future events. Contingent 

liabilities can also arise in circumstances where a provision would be made, except that it is not possible at the 

balance sheet date to measure the value of the financial obligation reliably. 

The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is assessed on a triennial basis by the scheme actuary in 

accordance with the requirements of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 and relevant actuarial standards. As 

permitted under the Code, the Fund has opted to disclose the actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits 

by way of an actuarial report appended to the accounts. 

Management expenses

The Fund discloses its pension fund management expenses in accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for 

Local Government Pension Scheme Management Expenses (2016). All items of expenditure are charged to the Fund 

on an accruals basis.

Additional voluntary contributions 

The Fund provides an additional voluntary contribution (AVC) scheme for its members, the assets of which are 

invested separately from those of the Fund. AVCs are not included in the accounts in accordance with Section 4(1)(b) 

of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of funds) Regulations 2016 but are 

disclosed for information in Note 21.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place giving rise to a possible asset whose existence will only be 

confirmed or otherwise by the occurrence of future events. 

3

Page 241



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

The ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has created uncertainty on the valuation of the Fund’s assets at the 

reporting date, particularly its illiquid assets, such as the property and infrastructure investments. 

Property fund valuations (£36.4m) at the reporting date have been issued with a material uncertainty clause to reflect 

the market uncertainty as a result of COVID-19. Additionally, all four pooled property funds had suspended trading as 

at 31 March 2020. Each of these funds have been classed within fair value hierarchy level 3 as at 31 March 2020. In 

September 2020, the Fund managers of these funds confirmed they had released their material uncertainty.

In respect of the Fund's directly held property portfolio, our property valuers BNP Paribas have reported their 

valuation on the basis of a ‘material valuation uncertainty’ due to the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact in causing 

extensive disruption to businesses and economic activities on a global level in all sectors. This does not mean that 

the valuation cannot be relied upon, but it does mean that less certainty, and a higher degree of caution, should be 

attached to the valuation of the property than would normally be the case.

In order to give a clearer picture of the impact on the Fund’s results or financial position of potential changes in 

significant estimates and assumptions, a sensitivity to assess the impact of a change of 10% in the value of directly 

held properties determined that the valuation could change by £26.5 million. This sensitivity is based on assumptions 

and conditions prevailing at the year-end and should be used with caution. The effects provided are not necessarily 

indicative of the actual effects that would be experienced because the Fund’s actual exposures are constantly 

changing.

The independent valuation of the Fund's investment property assets as at 31 March 2020 include a ‘material 

valuation uncertainty’ clause due to the potential impacts of COVID-19 on property values. 

NOTE 4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

NOTE 5. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES OF UNCERTAINTY

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the net asset statement but are disclosed by way of narrative in 

the notes (see Note 23).

Pension fund liability 

The net Fund liability is re-calculated every three years by the appointed actuary, with annual updates in the 

intervening years. The methodology used is in line with accepted guidelines. 

This estimate is subject to significant variances based on changes to the underlying assumptions which are agreed 

with the actuary and have been summarised in Note 19. Actuarial re-valuations are used to set future contribution 

rates and underpin the Fund’s most significant investment management policies, for example in terms of the balance 

struck between longer term investment growth and short-term yield/return.

Private equity investments (Note 17)

Private equity investments are valued at fair value in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture Capital 

Valuation Guidelines (2012). Investments are not publicly listed and as such there is a degree of estimation involved 

in the valuation.

Freehold, leasehold property and pooled property funds (Note 17)

Valuation techniques are used to determine the carrying amount of pooled property funds and directly held freehold 

and leasehold property. Where possible these valuation techniques are based on observable data but where this is 

not possible management uses the best available data. 

The items in the net asset statement for which there is a significant risk of material adjustment the following year are as 

follows:

Actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits (Note 20)

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to the discount 

rate used, salary increases, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and returns on Fund assets. A firm of 

consulting actuaries is engaged to provide the Fund with expert advice about the assumptions to be applied.

The Fund’s property portfolio includes a number of directly owned properties which are leased commercially to various 

tenants. The Fund has determined that these contracts all constitute operating lease arrangements under the 

classifications permitted by IAS 7 and the Code, therefore the properties are retained on the net asset statement at fair 

value. 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts. Estimates and assumptions take account of historical experience, current trends and 

future expectations, however actual outcomes could be different from the assumptions and estimates made. 

Directly held property 

Quarterly valuation statements for private equity investments are produced a significant length of time after the 

quarter end, and consequently 'lagged' valuations are included in the accounts.  This had lead to particular 

uncertainty in valuations this year following the market falls experienced in March 2020.

4

Page 242



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Brexit

COVID-19

Whilst the United Kingdom has now officially left the European Union (EU), there is a transition period during which 

further work and negotiation is required on how the parties will transact business and interact after that.  The terms of 

future trading agreements are still to be agreed, but it is expected that these will have short and long term implications 

for the Fund's assets and liabilities.

Since 31 December 2019, the spread of COVID-19 has severely impacted many economies around the world.  In 

many countries, organisations are being forced to cease or limit operations for long or indefinite periods of time.  

Governments and central banks have responded with fiscal and monetary interventions to support economic 

conditions, and global financial markets have experienced significant volatility.  The duration and impact of the COVID-

19 pandemic remains unclear at this time, and it is not possible to reliably estimate the impact on the financial position 

or performance of the Fund.

NOTE 6. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are events, both favourable and unfavourable, that can occur between the end of the reporting period and the date 

when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  There are events that provide additional information about 

conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting events), and events that occur after the reporting 

period (non-adjusting events). 

These are deemed to be non-adjusting events as it is not possible to reliably estimate the consequences on the financial 

position and/or performance of the Fund.  Accordingly the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 have 

not been adjusted.

5

Page 243



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

2018/19 2019/20

£'000 Employer contributions £'000

68,282 Contributions re future service costs 71,672

22,325 Contributions re past service costs (deficit recovery) 26,648

101 Voluntary additional contributions 1,138

3,575 Augmentation cost of early retirements 9,095

-        Exit payments from employers -        

7 Exit credits to employers -        

94,290 Total employer contributions 108,553

27,922 Member contributions 28,216

122,212 Total contributions receivable 136,769

2018/19 2019/20

£'000 £'000

35,391  Administering authority 45,023

83,016  Other scheduled bodies 87,271

3,805  Admitted bodies 4,475

122,212 Total contributions receivable 136,769

2018/19 2019/20

£'000 £'000

40,151  Administering authority 44,791

72,131  Other scheduled bodies 75,227

7,830  Admitted bodies 7,901

120,112 Total benefits payable 127,919

NOTE 11. MANAGEMENT EXPENSES

2018/19 2019/20
£'000 £'000 

1,745 Administrative expenses 1,538

609 Oversight and governance costs 502

11,991 Investment management expenses 11,969

14,345 Total management expenses 14,009

Investment management expenses consisted of:

2018/19 2019/20

£'000 £'000 

10,002 Investment management fees 9,525

282 Performance related fees 429

123 Custody fees 144

385 Transaction costs 245

386 Transition costs 677

813 Other fees and costs 949

11,991 Total investment management expenses 11,969

NOTE 8. TRANSFERS IN FROM OTHER PENSION FUNDS

The table below shows a breakdown of the management expenses incurred during the year.

By category:

NOTE 9. BENEFITS PAYABLE

NOTE 7. CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE

By type of employer:

By type of employer:

All transfers in from other pension funds were individual transfers, there were no group transfers to the Fund in 2019-20.

NOTE 10. PAYMENTS TO AND ON ACCOUNT OF LEAVERS

Transfers to other pension funds in 2019-20 included a group transfer of £25M to fund the liabilities for all LGPS 

members of the Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Authority that have now transferred to the Wiltshire Pension Fund. 

All other transfers out to other pension funds were individual transfers.

6

Page 244



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

NOTE 12. INVESTMENT INCOME

31 March 2019 31 March 2020

Description

% £'000 £'000 %

0.00%   395   Long Term Investments 427   0.00%   

395     Brunel Pensions Partnership 427   

1.00%   29,469   UK Equities - Quoted 11,251   0.40%   

14,932     Investec -     

14,537     Wellington 11,251   

14.00%   421,913   Overseas Equities - Quoted 160,536   6.00%   

200,402     Investec 39   

221,511     Wellington 160,497   

2.70%   80,275   Private Equity 98,085   3.60%   

46,925     HarbourVest 55,016   

32,091     Aberdeen Standard 34,001   

1,259     Capital Dynamics Global Secondary Fund V 4,509   

-       Neuberger Berman Private Equity Impact Fund 2,851   

-       Neuberger Berman SCIOP IV 420   

-       Ardian LBO Fund 1,288   

9.30%   281,480   Property (directly owned) 264,665   9.80%   

281,480     CBRE Global Investors 264,665   

Pooled Investment Vehicles:

7.10%   214,353   Bonds 220,608   8.20%   

214,353     RLAM Corporate Bond Fund 220,608   

20.20%   613,642   UK Equities - Quoted 477,121   17.70%   

52,033     Schroder UK Smaller Companies Equity Fund 41,864   

374,013     LGIM UK Equity Index (passive) 304,674   

187,596     Brunel UK Equities 130,583   

12.50%   379,228   Global Equities - Quoted 606,013   22.50%   

98,177     JP Morgan Emerging Markets Diversified Equity -     

281,051     LGIM Smart Beta Fund (passive) 241,856   

-       LGIM World Developed Equities (passive) 168,225   

-       Brunel Global High Alpha Equities 112,158   

-       Brunel Emerging Markets Equities 83,774   

4.60%   139,717   Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 120,399   4.50%   

139,717     CQS Credit Multi Asset Fund 120,399   

The following table summarises details of the market valuation of the Fund's investments as at the reporting date.

Each of the ten funds own an equal share of Brunel, with share capital invested by each fund at a cost of £840k.  The 

value of each fund's shareholding based on Brunel's most recently audited accounts was £427k (£395k at 31 March 

2019). 

In response to the requirements of the investment regulations for LGPS funds to pool investment assets, Brunel Pension 

Partnership Ltd (Brunel) has been formed to oversee the investment assets for the Avon, Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, 

Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Somerset, and Wiltshire LGPS funds.  

Other investment income includes income from lending UK and overseas equity stock held by the Fund. All benefits as a 

stockholder are retained except for the voting rights. The income from stock lending was £39k (£71k in 2018/19) and 

there was no stock on loan as at 31 March 2020.

The absence of fixed interest income is a result of all of the Fund's holdings in this category of investment being held in 

Pooled Investment Vehicles. These vehicles retain income within their structure and consequently are not separately 

identified in the financial statements but are reflected in the valuation of the units in that pooled investment. 

Transaction costs associated with pooled investment vehicles are taken into account in calculating the bid/offer spread of 

these investments and are therefore embedded within the purchase and sales costs and not separately identifiable.  All 

other transaction costs have been charged to the fund account.

NOTE 13. LONG TERM INVESTMENTS

NOTE 14. INVESTMENTS

Market Value Market Value

Rents from properties are shown net of operating expenses of £1,019k in 2019-20 (£1,152k in 2018-19).

7

Page 245



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

31 March 2019 31 March 2020

Description

% £'000 £'000 %

1.40%   41,792   Property 36,350   1.30%   

8,255     Lend Lease Retail Partnership 6,655   

13,415     Standard Life UK Shopping Centre Trust 10,333   

17,183     CBRE UK Long Income Property Fund 16,265   

2,939     Aberdeen Standard Long Lease Property Fund 3,097   

0.00%   -     Secured Income Funds 8,966   0.30%   

-       Greencoats Secured Income Fund 8,966   

5.80%   176,110   Diversified Growth Funds 152,783   5.70%   

176,110     Barings Dynamic Asset Allocation Fund 152,783   

4.60%   138,742   Infrastructure 186,305   6.90%   

51,897     Hermes GPE Infrastructure Funds 81,835   

86,845     IFM Global Infrastucture Fund 104,470   

13.30%   401,129   Liability Driven Investment 306,823   11.50%   

401,129     Insight LDI Fund 306,823   

69.50%   2,104,713   Total - Pooled Investments 2,115,368   78.60%   

3.40%   103,022   Cash & Cash Equivalents 54,925   2.00%   

0.00%   733   Derivatives (9,757)  -0.40%   

0.10%   2,095   Investment Receivables/(Payables) 1,037   0.00%   

100.00% 3,024,095   Total Investments 2,696,537   100.00%

Value

1 April

Purch's & 

Derivative

Sales &

Derivative

Change in

market

Value

31 March

2019 payments receipts value 2020

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Equities - Unquoted 395 -      -      32  427

Equities - Quoted 451,382 229,848 (527,731) 18,288  171,787

Pooled Investment Vehicles 2,104,713 961,051 (622,210) (328,186) 2,115,368

Private Equity 80,275 19,309 (21,249) 19,750  98,085

Property 281,480 2,716 (8,823) (10,708) 264,665

Total Securities 2,918,245 1,212,924 (1,180,013) (300,824) 2,650,332

Forward Foreign Exchange 733 -        -        (10,490) (9,757)

Total Securities and Derivatives 2,918,978 1,212,924 (1,180,013) (311,314) 2,640,575

Other Investment Balances:

Cash & cash equivalents 103,022 -        -        (792) 54,925

Other investment assets 3,781 -        -        -        3,353

Other investment liabilities (1,686) -        -        -        (2,316)

Net Investment Assets 3,024,095 1,212,924 (1,180,013) (312,106) 2,696,537

NOTE 16. ANALYSIS OF DERIVATIVES

Market Value Market Value

The following table summarises details of purchases, sales and changes in the market valuation of investments in the 

fund during the financial year.

NOTE 15. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS AND DERIVATIVES

Any single investments exceeding 5% of total net assets are in pooled investment vehicles made up of underlying 

investments each of which represent substantially less than 5% of total net assets.

The Fund's holdings in derivatives are to hedge liabilities or exposures to reduce risk. To maintain appropriate 

diversification a significanct proportion of the Fund's equity portfolio is in overseas stock. To reduce the volatility 

associated with fluctuating currency rates, the Fund hedges 50% of the US Dollar, Euro and Japanese Yen exposure 

within the portfolios managed by the Fund's global equties managers. As at 31 March 2020, the Fund held the following 

open forward currency contracts.

Investment assets under the management of Brunel Pension Partnership are valued at £1,062M at 31 March 2020 

(£847M at 31 March 2019).

8

Page 246



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Settlement Currency 

Bought

Local 

Value

Currency 

Sold

Local 

Value

Asset 

Value

Liability 

Value

000s 000s £'000 £'000

1-6 months GBP 163,770 USD 215,085 -     (9,458)  

GBP 28,150 EUR 32,222 -     (409)  

GBP 19,868 JPY 2,661,433 -     (52)  

USD 86,900 GBP 69,829 160   0 

JPY 947,427 GBP 7,093 -     (1)  

EUR 10,921 GBP 9,676 4   0 

Open Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2020 164   (9,920)  

Net Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2020 (9,757)

NOTE 17. FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

Level 1 

£'000

Level 2 

£'000

Level 3 

£'000

Total

£'000

UK Equities - Quoted 11,251  -        -        11,251  

Overseas equities - Quoted 160,536  -        -        160,536  

Pooled Investment Vehicles -        1,883,747  231,621  2,115,368  

Private Equity -        -        98,085  98,085  

Property -        -        264,665  264,665  

Cash & Cash Equivalents 46,027  8,898  -        54,925  

Derivatives -        (9,757) -        (9,757) 

Other investment assets 3,353  -        -        3,353  

Total 221,167  1,882,888  594,371  2,698,426  

Level 1 

£'000

Level 2 

£'000

Level 3 

£'000

Total

£'000

UK Equities - Quoted 29,469  -        -        29,469  

Overseas equities - Quoted 421,913  -        -        421,913  

Pooled Investment Vehicles -        1,927,120  177,593  2,104,713  

Private Equity -        -        80,275  80,275  

Property -        -        281,480  281,480  

Cash & Cash Equivalents 90,674  12,348  -        103,022  

Derivatives -        733  -        733  

Other investment assets 3,781  -        -        3,781  

Total 545,837  1,940,201  539,348  3,025,386  

The following tables summarise the Fund's investment assets by class at 31 March 2020 and at 31 March 2019 

measured at fair value according to the above fair value hierarchy.

31 March 2020

31 March 2019

where fair values are derived form unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;

where market prices are not available, for example, where an asset is traded in a market that is not 

considered to be active, but where valuation techniques are based significantly on observable market 

data;

where at least one input that could have a significant effect on the valuation of the asset is not based on 

observable market data.

During the year ended 31 March 2020 there were no transfers between levels 1, 2 or 3 of the fair value hierarchy .

All investment assets have been valued using fair value techniques which represent the highest and best price available 

at the reporting date.  Asset valuations have been classified into three levels, according to the quality and reliability of 

information used to determine fair values, as follows:

9

Page 247



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Description of Asset Basis of Valuation Key Inputs Key Sensitivities

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

Sensitivity of assets valued at Level 3

(+/-) £'000 £'000 £'000

15.00% 231,621  266,364  196,878  

15.00% 98,085  112,798  83,372  

15.00% 264,665  304,365  224,965  

Total 594,371  683,527  505,215  

Value at 31 

March 2020

Value on 

Increase 

£'000

Value on 

Decrease 

£'000

Valuation 

range

% 

Pooled investments - unit 

trusts etc.

Closing bid price where bid 

and offer prices are published, 

or closing single price where 

single price only is published.

Net Asset Value (NAV) 

based pricing set on a 

forward pricing basis.

Not required.

Not required.

Exchange traded pooled 

investments

Published exchange prices at 

the reporting date.

Valuations could be affected 

by material events occurring 

between the date of the 

financial statements 

provided and the Fund's 

reporting date, changes to 

expected cashflows, 

differences between audited 

and unaudited accounts.

Significant changes in rental 

growth, vacancy levels or the 

discount rate could affect 

valuations, as could more 

general changes to market 

prices.

Property funds

The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is summarised below.

Market quoted investments Published bid market price 

ruling on the final day of the 

accounting period.

Freehold and leasehold 

properties

Existing lease terms and 

rentals, independent 

market research, nature of 

tenancies, covenant 

strength for existing 

tenants, assumed vacancy 

levels, estimated rental 

growth, discount rate.

Unquoted equity Comparable valuation of 

similar companies in 

accordance with International 

Private Equity and Venture 

Capital Valuation Guidelines 

(2012).

Earnings (EBITDA) and 

revenue multiples, 

discount for lack of 

marketability, control 

premium.

Having analysed historical data and current market trends, and consulted with independent investment advisors, the 

Fund has deternined that the valuation methods described above are likely to be accurate within the following ranges, 

and has set out below the consequent potential impact on the closing values of investments held at 31 March 2020.

Pooled Investment Vehicles

Private Equity

Valued at fair value at the 

reporting date by Peter Sudell 

FRICS of BNP Paribas Real 

Estate and Andrew Wells 

FRICS (the Derwent portfolio) 

of Allsop LLP, both acting as 

independent valuers and in 

accordance with current RICS 

Valuation Standards.

Property

Not required.

Not required. Not required.

Underlying assets valued at 

fair value at the reporting date 

by each fund's valuers in 

accordance with current RICS 

Valuation Standards, taking 

account of other financial 

assets and liabilities within the 

fund structure.

Existing lease terms and 

rentals, independent 

market research, nature of 

tenancies, covenant 

strength for existing 

tenants, assumed vacancy 

levels, estimated rental 

growth, discount rate.

Significant changes in rental 

growth, vacancy levels or the 

discount rate could affect 

valuations, as could more 

general changes to market 

prices.

10

Page 248



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

(a) Market Risk

As at 31 March 2020 Value            

£'000

Change

% 

Increase 

£'000

Decrease 

£'000

11,251  15.00% 1,688  (1,688) 

160,536  15.00% 24,080  (24,080) 

2,115,368  15.00% 317,305  (317,305) 

98,085  15.00% 14,713  (14,713) 

264,665  15.00% 39,700  (39,700) 

54,925  0.00% -        -        

(9,757) 15.00% (1,464) 1,464  

3,353  0.00% -        -        

Total 2,698,426  14.68% 396,022  (396,022) 

As at 31 March 2019 Value            

£'000

Change

% 

Increase 

£'000

Decrease 

£'000

29,469  15.00% 4,420  (4,420) 

421,913  15.00% 63,287  (63,287) 

2,104,713  15.00% 315,707  (315,707) 

80,275  15.00% 12,041  (12,041) 

281,480  15.00% 42,222  (42,222) 

103,022  0.00% -        -        

733  15.00% 110  (110) 

3,781  0.00% -        -        

Total 3,025,386  14.47% 437,787  (437,787) 

Other investment assets

The Fund's primary long-term risk is that its assets will fall short of its liabilities (i.e. promised benefits payable to 

members). Therefore the aim of investment risk management is to minimise the risk of an overall reduction in the value 

of the Fund and to maximise the opportunities for gains across the whole Fund portfolio. The Fund achieves this through 

asset diversification to reduce exposure to market risk (price risk, interest rate risk and currency risk) and credit risk to an 

acceptable level. In addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet its forecast 

cash flows.

Market risk is the risk of loss resulting from general market fluctuations in equity and commodity prices, interest and 

foreign exchange rates and credit spreads. The Fund is exposed to market risk from its investment activities, 

particularly through its equity holdings. In general, excessive volatility in market risk is managed through the 

diversification of the portfolio in terms of geographical and industry sectors and individual securities, and by gaining 

exposure to different markets through different investment managers. Exposure to specific markets and asset classes 

is limited by applying strategic targets to asset allocation, which are agreed and monitored by the Committee.

Responsibility for the Fund's risk management strategy rests with the Committee. The Committee receives regular 

reports from each investment manager and from its Independent Adviser on the nature of the investments made and 

their associated risks.

Private Equity

UK equities - quoted

NOTE 18. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table demonstrates the change in the net assets available to pay benefits if the market price for each 

class of investment had increased or decreased by 15%, excluding temporary investments and cash deposits.

Derivatives

Private Equity

Overseas equities - quoted

Pooled Investment Vehicles

The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary purpose of obtaining a return on investments on behalf of scheme 

members. These investments are subject to interest rate risks, which represent the risk that the fair value of future 

cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Fund's exposure to 

interest rate movements on those investments at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are provided below, based on underlying 

financial assets at fair value. 

Cash & cash equivalents

Cash & cash equivalents

Property

Property

UK equities - Quoted

(a) (ii) Interest Rate Risk

An increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis points) in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or 

decreased the change for the year in net assets available to pay benefits by the amount shown below. 

Derivatives

Other investment assets

Other price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 

market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk), whether those changes are 

caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all such instruments in the 

market. The Fund's investment managers mitigate this risk through diversification in line with their own investment 

strategies.

(a) (i) Other Price Risk

Pooled Investment Vehicles

Overseas equities - Quoted

Interest rates vary and can impact the value of the net assets available to pay benefits to scheme members. This 

analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is 

performed on the same basis for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

11

Page 249



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

As at 31 March 2020 Market

Value +1% -1%

£'000 £'000 £'000

54,925  549  (549) 

220,608 2,206  (2,206) 

  Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 120,399 1,204  (1,204) 

  Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 306,823 3,068  (3,068) 

Total 702,755  7,028  (7,028) 

As at 31 March 2019 Market

Value +1% -1%

£'000 £'000 £'000

103,022  1,030  (1,030) 

214,353 2,144  (2,144) 

  Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 139,717 1,397  (1,397) 

  Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 401,129 4,011  (4,011) 

Total 858,221  8,582  (8,582) 

As at 31 March 2020 Total 

Exposure

Unhedged 

Exposure

Potential 

Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000

160,536  80,268  8,027  

983,665  722,546  72,255  

98,085  98,085  9,809  

Total 1,242,286  900,899  90,090  

As at 31 March 2019 Total 

Exposure

Unhedged 

Exposure

Potential 

Movement£'000 £'000 £'000

421,913  210,957  21,096  

781,900  641,375  64,137  

80,275  80,275  8,028  

Total 1,284,088  932,606  93,261  

(b) Credit Risk

Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions unless they are rated independently and meet the  Fund's 

credit criteria. The Fund also sets limits as to the maximum percentage of deposits placed with any one individual 

institution. In addition, to enable diversification, the Fund is able to invest in Money Market Funds, all of which have a 

AAA rating from the leading credit rating agencies.

Change in net assets 

Following analysis of historical data, the Fund considers the likely volatility associated with foreign exhange rates to be 

+/- 10% in total. The following summarises the Fund's exposure to currency exchange rate movements on its 

investments net of these hedges. 

Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:

(a) (iii) Currency Risk

Currency risk represents the risk that future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 

foreign exchange rates. The Fund is exposed to currency risk on any cash balances and investment assets that are 

not denominated in UK sterling. 

Overseas equities - quoted

Pooled Investment Vehicles

Private Equity

The selection of high quality counterparties, brokers and financial institutions minimises credit risk that may occur 

though the failure to settle transactions in a timely manner. The Fund's exposure to concentrations of credit risk to 

individual counterparties comprises of temporary investments and bonds held in pooled investment vehicles. The 

contractual credit risk is represented by the net payment or receipt that remains outstanding.

Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:

Cash & cash equivalents

  Bonds

Overseas equities - quoted

Pooled Investment Vehicles

Private Equity

To mitigate the effect of movements in foreign exchange rates against its overseas equities investments, the Fund 

has in place a 50% passive currency hedge against the three major currencies, the US Dollar, the Euro and the 

Japanese Yen, and 50% of its holdings in the LGIM Smart Beta fund are in hedged units.

Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to the financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 

cause the Pension Fund to incur a financial loss. The market values of investments generally reflect an assessment 

of credit in their pricing and consequently the risk of loss is implicitly provided for in the carrying value of the Fund's 

financial assets and liabilities. 

  Bonds

Change in net assets 

Cash & cash equivalents

12

Page 250



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

31 March 2020 31 March 2019

Investment £'000 £'000

Bank Account Deposits 35,225 44,572

Money Market Funds 19,700 58,450

Assets held in pooled investment vehicles:

  Bonds 220,608 214,353

  Multi Asset Credit (MAC) 120,399 139,717  

  Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 306,823 401,129

Total 702,755 858,221

(c) Liquidity Risk

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Future service contributions 15.60% 15.60% 15.60%

Deficit recovery contributions 4.40% 5.10% 5.80%

Total employer contributions 20.00% 20.70% 21.40%

Valuation Valuation

2019 2016

Annual rate of return on investments 5.00% 5.40%

Annual rate of increases in pay (long term) 3.60% 3.90%

Annual rate of inflation (CPI) 2.60% 2.40%

The contribution rates paid by each employer, in addition to those paid by members of the scheme, are set to be 

sufficient to meet the liabilities that build up each year within the Fund in respect of the benefits earned by each 

employer's active members of the Fund during the year plus an amount to reflect each participating employer's share of 

the value of the Fund's assets compared with the liabilities that have already accrued at the valuation date. Each 

employer pays an individual rate of contributions to reflect its own particular circumstances and funding position within 

the Fund. The contribution rates were calculated using the projected unit method taking account of market conditions at 

the valuation date.

The Fund's exposure to credit risk at 31 March 2020 is the carrying amount of the financial assets. 

The Fund has immediate access to its cash holdings and defines liquid assets as assets that can be converted to 

cash within three months notice, subject to normal market conditions.  As at 31 March 2020, liquid assets were 

£2,173M representing 80% of total net assets (£2,486m at 31 March 2019 representing 82% of total net assets at that 

date).

This valuation as at 31 March 2020 is set out in Appendix D Pension Fund - IAS 26 Disclosures to these financial 

statements 2019/20.

Contribution rates for the year ending 31 March 2020 were set at the valuation calculated as at 31 March 2016. The 

common contribution rates set at the 2016 valuation for the three year period ending 31 March 2020 are as follows.

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Such 

risks are mitigated by maintaining a detailed cashflow model and taking appropriate steps to ensure that there is 

adequate cash available to meet liabilities as they fall due.

NOTE 19. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

In accordance with the LGPS Regulations, the Fund's actuary, Barnett Waddingham, undertakes a funding valuation 

every three years for the purpose of setting employer contribution rates for the forthcoming triennial period. The most 

recent such valuation took place as at 31 March 2019, setting employer contribution rates for the period 1 April 2020 to 

31 March 2023. 

At the 2019 valuation, the Fund was assessed as 92% funded (83% at the 2016 valuation) with a deficit recovery period 

of no more than 19 years (22 years at the 2016 valuation). The key assumptions applied by the actuary for the 2019 and 

2016 valuations are summarised below. To be consistent with the market value of assets, the liabilities were valued 

allowing for expected future investment returns and increases to benefits as determined by market levels at the valuation 

date.

NOTE 20. ACTUARIAL PRESENT VALUE OF PROMISED RETIREMENT BENEFITS

In addition to the triennial funding valuation, the Fund's actuary, Barnett Waddingham, also undertakes a valuation of the 

Fund's liabilities, on an IAS 19 basis, using the same base data as the funding valuation rolled forward to the current 

financial year, taking account of membership numbers and updating assumptions to the current year. This annual 

valuation is not carried out on the same basis as that used for setting employer contribution rates and the Fund accounts 

do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits in the future.

13

Page 251



DORSET COUNTY PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

NOTE 21. ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS (AVC)

The Council administers an in-house AVC Scheme with two designated providers, Prudential and Utmost Life and 

Pensions Limited (formerly Equitable Life). The amounts contributed to AVC plans by employees who are members of 

the pension scheme do not form any part of, and are not included in, the Fund accounts.

Recovery of withholding tax

Impact of the McCloud and Sargeant judgements

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) introduced a new Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) benefit 

structure with effect from 1 April 2014.  For members who were 10 years or less from Normal Retirement Age on 1 April 

2012, an ‘underpin’ was provided based on the existing final salary scheme to provide transitional protection to those 

members.

In December 2018, the Court of Appeal found that transitional protections in the pension schemes for firefighters 

("McCloud") and the judiciary ("Sargeant") resulted in unlawful age discrimination.  The implications of the ruling are 

expected to apply to all public sector schemes including the LGPS. The Government sought permission to appeal this 

decision to the Supreme Court but that permission was denied on 27 June 2019.  There remains considerable 

uncertainty about the eventual remedy that may be put in place for the LGPS.

The Government Actuary's Department’s (GAD) estimated the potential impact to be between 0.1% and 3.2% of total 

LGPS active member liabilities, depending on a number of assumptions.  Whilst this looks at the national picture, the 

impact on any given fund and its scheme employers could be significantly different.  The Fund’s actuary have 

calculated the estimated impact on liabilities for the main employers in the Fund based on the assumptions used by 

GAD.  These results range from 0.4% to 0.8% of total liabilities for each employer.

Each employer in the Fund is responsible for collecting from their own employees and paying to the AVC provider those 

contributions due on AVC plans. Dorset Council, in its capacity as a scheme employer, deducted and paid to the AVC 

providers a total of £418k in 2019/20 (£352k in 2018/19).

The Council remits monthly contributions to the Fund in arrears, and March 2020 contributions of £2.4M were accrued as 

at 31 March 2020. Management and administration costs of £1.7M were incurred by the Council and recharged to the 

Fund in 2019/20. In addition at any given time there may be amounts which have been paid or received by both the 

Council or the Fund where indebtedness arises between the two. These can arise due to operational necessity or where 

single transactions have elements relating to both the Council and the Fund and are settled on a regular basis.

Senior officers of the Council are members of the Fund as employee contributors. As at 31 March 2020, one member of 

the Committee was a contributing member of the Fund and one member of the Committee was a deferred member of the 

Fund. The key management personnel of the Fund are the members of the Committee, the Council's Chief Financial 

Officer (who is the Fund Administrator) and the Deputy Chief Financial Officer. The £1.7M recharge from the Council 

includes a charge of £19,000 for the Deputy Chief Financial Officer's time spent working for the Fund.

NOTE 22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party issues arise primarily from the fact that the Council is the administering authority for the Fund. The Council 

also has various operational, contractual and financial dealings with a number of scheduled and admitted bodies of the 

Fund, however, these activities do not relate to the Council's role as administering authority for the Fund.

The Fund is continuing the process required to recover withholding tax from various EU investments following rulings 

requiring equal treatment for all EU investors. These claims will be retrospective and will cover a varying number of years 

depending on the domicile. Neither the amount nor the expected time of settlement are known so consequently the 

financial statements as at 31 March 2020 do not reflect any potential recovery of tax.

NOTE 23. CONTINGENT ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

14

Page 252



Document is Restricted

Page 253

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Pensions Administration
	Sep 21 7 Appendix 1
	Sep 21 7 Appendix 2

	8 Independent Adviser's Report
	9 Fund Administrator's Report
	Sep 21 9 Appendix 1
	Sep 21 9 Appendix 2
	Sep 21 9 Appendix 3
	Sep 21 9 Appendix 4

	10 External Auditor's Report 2019/20
	Sep 21 10 Appendix 1
	Sep 21 10 Appendix 2

	13 Property Investment Report



